ELICITORS AND PHYTOTOXINS FROM THE BLACKLEG FUNGUS: STRUCTURE, BIOACTIVITY AND BIOSYNTHESIS

A thesis submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Chemistry University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon

By

Yang Yu

©Copyright Yang Yu, December, 2008. All rights reserved.

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, the author has agreed that the libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. The author further agrees that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor who supervised the thesis work or, in her absence, by the Head of the Department of Chemistry, or the Dean of the College of Graduate Studies and Research. It is understood that copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without the author's written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to the author and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

The Head Department of Chemistry University Of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada S7N 5C9

ABSTRACT

The phytopathogenic fungus *Leptosphaeria maculans* can cause blackleg disease on crucifers, which results in significant yield losses. Fungal diseases involve interactions between pathogenic fungi and host plants. One aspect of these interactions is mediated by secondary metabolites produced by both fungi and host plants. Phytotoxins and elicitors as well as phytoanticipins and phytoalexins are metabolites produced by fungi and plants, respectively. This thesis describes and discusses the isolation, structure, biological activity and biosynthesis of the secondary metabolites produced by *L. maculans*.

The elicitor-toxin activity bioassay guided isolation of elicitors and phytotoxins produced by *L. maculans* in a chemically defined medium lead to the isolation of general elicitors, sirodesmin PL (**165**) and deacetylsirodesmin PL (**166**), and specific elicitors, cerebrosides C (**14**) and D (**31**) from minimum medium (MM) culture under standard conditions. The known phytotoxins sirodesmin PL (**165**) and deacetylsirodesmin PL (**166**) induced the production of phytoalexin spirobrassinin (**122**) in both resistant plant species (brown mustard, *Brassica juncea* cv. Cutlass) and susceptible plant species (canola, *B. napus* cv. Westar). A mixture of cerebrosides C (**14**) and D (**31**) induced the production of the phytoalexin rutalexin (**127**) in resistant plant species (brown mustard, *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass) but not in susceptible plant species (canola, *B. napus* cv. Westar). New metabolites leptomaculins A-E (**267-269**, **272** and **274**) and deacetylleptomaculins C-E (**270**, **273** and **275**) were isolated from elicitor-phytotoxin active fractions but did not display detectable elicitor activity or phytotoxicity after purification.

New metabolites maculansins A (299) and B (300), which were not detected in cultures of *L. maculans* incubated in MM, were isolated from cultures of *L. maculans* incubated in potato dextrose broth (PDB). Maculansins A (299) and B (300) displayed higher phytotoxicity on brown mustard than on canola and white mustard (*Sinapis alba* cv. Ochre) but did not elicit detectable production of phytoalexins in either brown mustard or canola. Metabolite 2,4-dihydroxy-3,6-dimethylbenzaldehyde (212) was produced in higher amount in cultures of *L. maculans* incubated in PDB than in MM and displayed strong inhibition effect on the root growth of brown mustard and canola.

L. maculans incubated in MM amended with high concentration of NaCl produced a new metabolite, 8-hydroxynaphthalene-1-sulfate (**293**), and a known metabolite, bulgarein (**294**), which are likely involved in the self-protection.

The potential intermediates involved in the biosynthesis of sirodesmin PL (165) were investigated using deuterium labeled precursors: $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]$ -L-tyrosine (251a), $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]$ -L-tyrosine (²H₂]*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312a**), *E*-[3,3,5',5',5',²H₅]*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312b**), [5,5- $^{2}H_{2}$]phomamide (171a), [2,3,3- $^{2}H_{3}$]-L-serine (233d) and [5,5- $^{2}H_{2}$]cyclo-L-tyr-L-ser (252a). Intact incorporation of $[5,5-^{2}H_{2}]$ phomamide (171a) into sirodesmin PL (165) suggested that leptomaculin D (272) and E (274), and deacetylleptomaculin D (273) and E (275) are not intermediates in the biosynthesis of sirodesmin PL (165). They are more likely the catabolic metabolites of sirodesmin PL (165). Phomamide (171), the intermediate in the biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL (165), is likely biosynthesized by coupling of prenyl tyrosine (312) with serine (233) rather than prenylation of cyclo-L-tyr-L-ser (252). When $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]$ -L-tyrosine (251a), $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]O$ prenyl-L-tyrosine (312a), and E-[3,3,5',5',5',5',-2H₅]O-prenyl-L-tyrosine (312b) were fed into cultures of L. maculans, a β proton exchange was detected by ¹H NMR through intrinsic steric isotope effect, which occurs before the formation of phomamide (171). The biosynthesis and catabolism of sirodesmin PL (165) were proposed based on the results obtained in this work.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisor, Prof. M. Soledade C. Pedras, Thorvaldson Professor, Department of Chemistry, University of Saskatchewan, for giving me a chance to work in her laboratory. Her excellent supervision, persistent guidance, consistent support and vast knowledge in natural products chemistry has significantly contributed to the successful completion of the present thesis work.

I would like to thank the members of my Advisory Committee: Dr. Ronald E. Verrall and Dr. David R.J. Palmer and Dr. Pierre Fobert for their advice and help during the program. I also thank my external examiner Dr. James McNulty.

I am very grateful to all past and present members of the Pedras group: Dr. A. Adio, Dr. P. B. Chumala, Dr. R. Gadagi, Dr. M. Hossain, Dr. M. Jha, Dr. Z. Minic, Dr. S. Montaut, Dr. O. Okeloa, Dr. D. Okinyo, Dr. M. Suchy, Dr. Q. A. Zheng, Md. G. Sarwar, S. Islam, W. Jin, I. Khalaff, V. K. Sarma-Mamillapalle, R. B. Snitynsky, and E. Yaya. I also greatly acknowledge the support and encouragement from my friends Barry Fribance and L. F. Chen.

I also wish to extend my acknowledgement to K. Thoms, Dr. K. Brown, Dr. G. Schatte and Prof. W. Quail for their technical assistance and crystallographic data collection and analysis. I wish to acknowledge the Department of Chemistry and the College of Graduate Studies and Research, University of Saskatchewan for financial support.

DEDICATION

To my mother,

3hen Liu 刘真

And to my father,

3hi Jie Yu 喻子杰

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF SCHEMES	xii
LIST OF TABLES	XV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvii
CHEMICAL STRUCTURES MENTIONED IN THIS THESIS	XX
COLOR FIGURES	xxxii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 GENERAL OBJECTIVES	1
1.2 CHEMICAL INTERACTIONS BETWEEN FUNGI AND THEIR HOST PLANTS	2
1.2.1 Metabolites produced by fungi	5
1.2.1.1 Elicitors	6
1.2.1.2 Phytotoxins	14
1.2.2 Metabolites produced by plants	
1.2.2.1 Phytoanticipins	
1.2.2.2 Phytoalexins	
1.2.3 Diversity of secondary metabolites produced by one fungal species	
1.2.3.1 Orphan pathways	
1232 Culture conditions	38
1.3 METABOLITES FROM LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULIANS	43
1.3.1 Elicitors	лл
1.3.2 Phytotoxins and other metabolites	++ ДЛ
1.5.2 Thy totoxins and other metabolities	

1.3.2.1 Dioxopiperazines	
1.3.2.2 Depsipeptides	
1.3.2.3 Sesquiterpenes	
1.3.2.4 Polyketides	49
1.3.2.5 Sterols	
1.4 BIOSYNTHESES OF EPIPOLYTHIODIOXOPIPERAZINES	54
1.4.1 Biosynthesis of gliotoxin (225)	55
1.4.2 Biosynthesis of sirodesmin PL (165)	63
1.4.3 Biosynthesis of other EPTs	66
1.5 SUMMARY	69
CHAPTER 2: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	71
2.1 POTENTIAL ELICITORS FROM <i>LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS</i>	71
2.1.1 Metabolites produced in minimal media	73
2.1.1.1 Standard conditions	73
2.1.1.2 High NaCl	
2.1.2 Metabolites produced in potato dextrose media	98
2.1.3 Production of metabolites under other stress conditions	104
2.2 BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITY	107
2.2.1 Elicitor activity	107
2.2.2 Phytotoxicity and growth inhibition	112
2.3 BIOSYNTHESIS OF SIRODESMIN PL (165)	114
2.3.1 Synthesis of potential biosynthetic precursors	115
2.3.2 Incorporation of potential precursors	117
2.4 MACROMOLECULAR ELICITORS AND PHYTOTOXINS PRODUCED BY	
Leptosphaeria maculans	
CHAPTER 3: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK	
CHAPTER 4: EXPERIMENTAL	
4.1 General methods	
4.2 POTENTIAL ELICITORS FROM <i>LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS</i>	140
4.2.1 Metabolites produced in minimal media	140

4.2.1.1 Standard condition	140
4.2.1.2 High NaCl	147
4.2.2 Metabolites produced in potato dextrose medium	150
4.2.3 Production of metabolites in other stress conditions	153
4.2.4 Synthesis and chemical derivatization of metabolites	155
4.3 BIOASSAY OF METABOLITES FROM <i>LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS</i>	163
4.3.1 Elicitor activity bioassay	163
4.3.2 Phytotoxicity bioassay	163
4.3.3 Growth inhibition bioassay	164
4.4 BIOSYNTHESIS OF SIRODESMIN PL (165)	164
4.4.1 Synthesis of potential biosynthetic precursors	164
4.4.1.1 Synthesis of O-prenyl-L-tyrosine (312)	164
4.4.1.2 Synthesis of $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]O$ -prenyl-L-tyrosine (312a)	166
4.4.1.3 Synthesis of $E - [4, 4, 4^{-2}H_3] - 3$ -methyl-2-butenyl bromide (318a)	166
4.4.1.4 Synthesis of Z-[3,3,5',5',5', $^{2}H_{5}$]O-prenyl-L-tyrosine (312b)	168
4.4.1.5 Synthesis of methyl-L-Tyr-t-Boc-L-Ser (321) and methyl $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$	- <i>L</i> -
<i>Tyr-t-Boc-L-Ser</i> (321 <i>a</i>)	168
4.4.1.6 Synthesis of $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ cyclo-L-tyr-L-ser (251a)	169
4.4.1.7 Synthesis of [5,5- ² H ₂]phomamide (171a)	169
4.4.2 Incorporation of potential precursors	170
4.5 MACROMOLECULAR ELICITORS PRODUCED BY <i>Leptosphaeria maculans</i>	171
4.5.1 Preparation of spore germination fluids (SGF)	171
4.5.2 Bioassay of spore germination fluids (SGF)	171
CHAPTER 5: REFERENCES	173

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I. 1. Cultures of <i>Leptosphaeria maculans</i> in minimal medium (MM) and MM
containing high NaCl concentration (0.7 M).
Figure I. 2. A leaf of <i>Brassica juncea</i> cv. Cutlass treated with maculansin A (299) and
sirodesmin PL (165)xxxii
Figure I. 3. A leaf of <i>Brassica juncea</i> cv. Cutlass treated with maculansin A (299) and
controlxxxiii
Figure I. 4. Plants (rows: A, Brassica juncea cv. Cutlass; B, B. napus cv. Westar; C,
Sinapis alba cv. Ochre) treated with maculansin A (299) (from left to right: 1.0
mM (sirodesmin PL (165)), 1.0 mM, 0.2 mM, 0.1 mM, and control)xxxiii
Figure I. 5. A leaf of <i>Brassica juncea</i> cv. Cutlass treated with spore germination fluids
(SGF) produced by Leptosphareia maculans inoculated on the leaves of B.
napus cv. Westar and controlxxxiv
Figure 2.1. HPLC chromatogram of EtOAc extract of broth of Leptosphaeria
maculans incubated in minimal medium (MM)73
Figure 2.2. Selected HMBC correlations of leptomaculin A (267)
Figure 2.3. X-ray ORTEP diagram of leptomaculin A (267)
Figure 2.4. Selected NOESY correlations of leptomaculin B (268)
Figure 2.5. Selected NOESY correlations of compounds 276 , 280b and 280a
Figure 2.6. Structure of cerebroside C (14)
Figure 2.7. Selected HMBC (one arrow curves) and COSY (double arrow curves, N-
$H \leftrightarrow H-2$) correlations of cerebroside C (14)
Figure 2.8. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of cultures of Leptosphaeria maculans
incubated in MM for 7 days. A: Control; B: NaCl (0.68 M) added to 4-day-old
cultures
Figure 2.9. Production of sirodesmin PL (165) in MM containing high NaCl (0.34M
and 0.68M). NaCl added to cultures with different incubation times (day). (A
control; B, 0.34 M, 3 day; C, 0.34 M, 4 day; D, 0.68 M, 3 day; E, 0.68 M, 4 day
; F, 0.68 M, 5 day)94

Figure 2.10. Production of metabolite 293 in MM containing high NaCl (0.34M and
0.68M). NaCl added to cultures with different incubation times (day). (A,
control (no metabolite 293 was detected); B, 0.34 M, 3 day; C, 0.34 M, 4 day;
D, 0.68 M, 3 day; E, 0.68 M, 4 day ; F, 0.68 M, 5 day)95
Figure 2.11. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of cultures of Leptosphaeria maculans
grown in potato dextrose medium (PDB); A: EtOAc extract of culture
incubated at 23 °C for four days; B: EtOAc extract of culture incubated at 27
°C for four days; numbered peaks identified as: 2,4-dihydroxy-3,6-
dimethylbenzaldehyde (212), maculansin A (299), maculansin B (300), peak at
14.7 min identified as mixture of metabolites related to 299. Inserts: UV/Vis
spectra of metabolites 212 and 299
Figure 2.12. Production of maculansin A (299) at different temperatures
Figure 2.13. Production of metabolite 212 at different temperatures
Figure 2.14. Production of sirodesmin PL (165) in different MM. A, control; B,
removal of thiamine but with adding leaves of brown mustard; C,
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O (2.0×10^{-4} M); D, MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O (1.0×10^{-3} M); E, MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O
$(4.0 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M}).$ 105
Figure 2.15. Production of sirodesmin PL (165) in MM in presence of the phytoalexins
camalexin (306) and spirobrassinin (122)106
Figure 2.16. Production of metabolite 212 in PDB media in presence of phytoalexins
camalexin (306) and spirobrassinin (122)106
Figure 2.17. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of leaves of brown mustard (B. juncea
cv. Cutlass resistant to L. maculans) treated with toxins. A, maculansin A (299)
and B, sirodesmin PL (165). Numbered peaks identified as: indole-3-
acetonitrile (122), 1-methoxy-indole-3-acetonitrile (308), 1-methoxy-indole-3-
methanol (309), spirobrassinin (122), cyclobrassinin (119) 110
Figure 2.18. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of leaves of canola (B. napus cv.
Westar, susceptible to <i>L. maculans</i>) treated with toxins. A, maculansin A (299);
B, sirodesmin PL (165). Numbered peaks identified as: indole-3-acetonitrile
(121), 1-methoxy-indole-3-acetonitrile (308), 1-methoxy-indole-3-methanol
(309), spirobrassinin (122)

LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme 1.1. Detoxification of brassinin (17) by Leptosphaeria maculans	5
Scheme 1.2. Detoxification of destruxin B (61) in Brassica napus and Brassica juncea	
i) hydroxylation, ii) glucosylation	9
Scheme 1.3. Hydrolysis of glucosinolates (88)	7
Scheme 1.4. Activation of avenacoside B (94) to 26-desglucoavenacoside B (95) by a	
specific plant glucosyl hydrolyase	0
Scheme 1.5. Incorporation of potential isotopically labeled precursors into gliotoxin	
(225). (X denotes no incorporation of potential precursors into gliotoxin (225)). 50	6
Scheme 1.6. Incorporation of potential isotopically labeled precursors into gliotoxin	
(225). (X denotes no incorporation of potential precursors into gliotoxin (225)). 5'	7
Scheme 1.7. Plausible intermediates 239a and 239b involved in the proposed epoxide	
pathway of formation of gliotoxin (225) (Bűlock and Ryles, 1970)	8
Scheme 1.8. Incorporation results of 232g, 232h and 232i into gliotoxin in culture of	
Trichoderma viride. (X denotes no incorporation of potential precursors into	
gliotoxin (225))	8
Scheme 1.9. Incorporation results of 240a – 240d into gliotoxin (225) in cultures of	
Trichoderma viride. (X denotes no incorporation of potential precursors into	
gliotoxin (225))	0
Scheme 1.10. Biosynthesis and catabolism of gliotoxin (225). (Adapted from	
references: Bűlock and Leigh, 1975; Kirby et al., 1980; Boente et al., 1991;	
Johns and Kirby, 1985)	1
Scheme 1.11. Incorporation of cyclo-(L-phe-L-ala) (247) into analogue of gliotoxin	
(248) by <i>Trichoderma viride</i>	2
Scheme 1. 12. Proposed biosynthesis of metabolites of 246 and 250	3
Scheme 1.13. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL (165) (adapted from	
Férézou et al., 1980)	4
Scheme 1.14. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL (165) by	
Leptosphaeria maculans. (postulated intermediates in brackets) (Pedras et al.,	
1989; Gardiner et al., 2004)	6

Scheme 1.15. Biosynthesis of 258 from 234 by cultures of <i>Pithomycas chartarum</i>	67
Scheme 1.16. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of 260 . (Full line denoted the	
incorporation; dash line denoted the possible biotransformation).	67
Scheme 1. 17. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of aranotin (264).	68
Scheme 2.1. Chemical derivatization of sirodesmin PL (165) and leptomaculins D	
(272) and E (274).	85
Scheme 2.2. Fragmentation pattern of cerebroside C (14) in ESI-MS/MS	87
Scheme 2.3. Methanolysis and acetylation of cerebroside C (14).	88
Scheme 2.4. Preparation of methyl ester of compound 289 from 4-hydroxyl-	
benzeneacetic acid (287)	91
Scheme 2.5. Synthesis of metabolite 292	96
Scheme 2.6. Preparation of the derivatives 295 and 296 from metabolite 294	97
Scheme 2.7. Preparation of the derivative 298 from compound 297 (Eistert et al.,	
1968)	97
Scheme 2.8. Hydrolysis and preparation of acetylated derivative of the sugar backbone	e
of metabolite 299	101
Scheme 2.9. Synthesis of $[3,3^{-2}H_2]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (312a). Reagents and	
conditions: (i) t-Boc-anhydride/NaOH, dioxane, quantitative; (ii) a) NaH/THF,	,
b) 318, rt, 70%; (iii) 155 °C, 60%.	115
Scheme 2.10. Synthesis of (E) -[4,4,4- ² H ₃]-prenylbromide (318a). Reagents and	
conditions: (i) PhSH/NaOH, EtOH, rt, 314 , 68%; 315 , 17%; (ii) CuI/THF,	
CD ₃ MgI/Et ₂ O, -15 °C, 80%; (iii) LAH, Et ₂ O, 80%; (iv) PBr ₃ , Et ₂ O, 80%	116
Scheme 2.11. Synthesis of (<i>E</i>)- $[3,3,5',5',5'-{}^{2}H_{5}]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (312b).	
Reagents and conditions: (i) t-Boc-anhydride/NaOH, dioxane, quantitative; (ii))
a) NaH/THF b) 318a , rt, 70%; (iii) 155 °C, 60%	117
Scheme 2.12. Synthesis of $[5,5-^{2}H_{2}]$ cyclo-(L)-tyr-(L)-ser (252a) and $[5,5-^{2}H_{2}]$ cyclo-(L)-tyr-(L)-ser (252a)	
² H ₂]phomamide (171a). Reagents and conditions: (i) SOCl ₂ , MeOH, reflux,	
quantitative; (ii) t-Boc-anhydride/NaOH, dioxane, rt, quantitative; (iii) TEA /	
EDCI / CH ₂ Cl ₂ -15°C, 96%; (iv) a) formic acid, rt. 60 min, b) sec-butyl-alcoho	ol
/ toluene, 65°C, 90%; (v) a) NaOH b) prenyl bromide, 67%	117

Scheme 2.13. Incorporation of $[3,3^{-2}H_2]L$ -tyrosine (251a), $[3,3^{-2}H_2]O$ -prenyl-L-
tyrosine (312a) and $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ phomamide (171a) into sirodesmin PL(165).
Dideuterated (165a) and monodeuterated (165b) sirodesmin PL were formed
when 251a or 312a was fed to the cultures of Leptosphaeria maculans but
165b is not formed; Only 165a not 165b and 165c formed from intact
incorporation of [5,5- ² H ₂]phomamide (171a) by <i>L. maculans</i>
Scheme 2.14. Incorporation of [3,3,5',5',5'- ² H ₅] <i>O</i> -prenyl-L-tyrosine (312b) into
sirodesmin PL (165). Pentadeuterated (165d) and tetradeuterated (165e) as well
as dideuterated (165a) and monodeuterated (165b) sirodesmin PL were formed.130
Scheme 2.15. Proposed biosynthesis and catabolism of sirodesmin PL (165).
(postulated intermediates in brackets)
Scheme 4.1. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from standard MM culture of
BJ125
Scheme 4.2. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from standard MM culture of
BJ125
Scheme 4.3. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from standard MM cultures of
BJ125144
Scheme 4.4. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from high NaCl MM cultures of
BJ125149
Scheme 4.5. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from PDB cultures of BJ125 151

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. HSTs produced by genera Alternaria and Cochliobolus (Pedras et al., 2002;	
Walton, 1996, 2006; Wolpert et al., 2002)	17
Table 1.2. Examples of glucosinolates based on the types of side chains (Fahey et al.,	
2001)	28
Table 1.3. Selected phytoalexins produced by plants of Gymnospermae (Grayer and	
Harborne, 1994; Harborne, 1999)	33
Table 1.4. Selected phytoalexins produced by plants of Angiospermae (Grayer and	
Harborne, 1994; Harborne, 1999)	34
Table 1.5. Selected phytoalexins produced by cruciferous plants (adapted from Pedras	
et al., 2007b; Pedras et al., 2003).	36
Table 1.6. Production of phytotoxins by Alternaria alternata and A. radicina on rice	
and carrot discs	41
Table 1.7. Secondary metabolites produced by different isolates of <i>Leptosphaeria</i>	
maculans and L. biglobosa.(Pedras, 2001; Pedras et al., 2007a; Pedras et al.,	
2005a; Pedras et al., 2005b)	53
Table 2.1. Culture conditions used to grow Leptosphaeria maculans	72
Table 2.2. ¹ H NMR (500 MHz) and ¹³ C NMR (125 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) and	
multiplicities (<i>J</i> in Hz) of leptomaculins A (267) and B (268).	77
Table 2.3. ¹ H NMR (CDCl ₃ , 500 MHz) and ¹³ C NMR (CDCl ₃ , 125 MHz) chemical	
shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz) of leptomaculin C (269) and ¹ H NMR	
(CDCl ₃ , 500 MHz) of deacetylleptomaculin C (270) and deacetylleptomaculin	
C (271).	79
Table 2.4. ¹ H NMR (CDCl ₃ , 500 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (<i>J</i> in	
Hz) of leptomaculins D (272) and E (274) and deacetylleptomaculins D (273)	
and E (275)	81
Table 2.5. ¹³ C NMR (CDCl ₃ , 125 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) of leptomaculins D	
(272) and E (274) and deacetylleptomaculins D (273) and E (275)	83
Table 2.6. ¹ H NMR (MeOD-d ₄ , 500 MHz, 47 °C) and ¹³ C NMR (MeOD-d ₄ , 125 MHz,	
47 °C) chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz) of cerebroside C (14).	90

Table 2.7. ¹³ C NMR (125 MHz) and ¹ H NMR (500 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) and
multiplicities (J in Hz) of maculansin A (299) (in CDCl ₃)102
Table 2.8. Bioassay results of metabolites isolated from cultures of Leptosphaeria
maculans
Table 2.9. Incorporation ^{a,b,c} of deuterated compounds into phomamide (171) and
sirodesmin PL (165) in cultures of Leptosphaeria maculans
Table 2.10. ¹³ C NMR (CDCl ₃ , 125MHz) and ¹ H NMR (CDCl ₃ , 500MHz) spectral data
of phomamide (171). Chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz) 123
Table 2.11. ¹³ C NMR (CDCl ₃ , 125MHz) and ¹ H NMR (CDCl ₃ , 500MHz) spectral data
of sirodesmin PL (165). Chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz) 124
Table 4.1. Scale for conversion of damaged area to damage index. 164

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

¹ H NMR	proton nuclear magnetic resonance
¹³ C NMR	carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance
A. alternata	Alternaria alternata
ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ABa	AB quartet
Ala	alanine
ag	aqueous
A brassicae	Alternaria brassicae
A. infectoria	Alternaria infectoria
A. radicina	Alternaria radicina
A. fumigatus	Aspergillus fumigatus
A. terreus	Aspergillus terreus
A. hypochondriacus	Amaranthus hypochondriacus
A. thaliana	Arabidopsis thaliana
A. rabiei	Ascochyta rabiei
A. sativa	Avena sativa
Avr	avirulence
B cinerea	Botrytis cinerea
B. campestris	Brassica campestris
B. juncea	Brassica juncea
B. napus	Brassica napus
BI-125	virulent isolate of L maculans
Boc	<i>tert</i> -butoxycarbonyl
hr	broad
caled	calculated
COSY	correlation spectroscopy
CV	cultivar
C arvense	Cirsium arvense
C. carbonum	Cochliobolus carbonum
C heterostrophus	Cochliobolus heterostrophus
C victoriae	Cochliobolus victoriae
DMA	N N-dimethylaniline
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
EDCI	1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide
LDCI	hydrochloride
FI	electron impact
FPTs	epipolythiodioxoniperazines
EI IS FSI_MS/MS	electron spray ionization-mass spectrum/mass spectrum
Ft2O	diethyl ether
Et 20	ethyl acetate
FtOH	ethanol
F orysporum	Eusarium orysporum
F varticillioidas	Fusarium varticillioidas
Freenconordes	flash column chromatography
	mash columni cinomatography

FTIR	fourier transformed infrared
G. graminis var. tritici	Gaeumannomyces graminis var. tritici
G. graminis var. avenae	Gaeumannomyces graminis var. avenae
G. viride	Gliocladium viride
G. deliquescens	Gliocladium deliquescens
GC-MS	gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
h	hours
HMBC	heteronuclear multiple bond correlation
HMQC	heteronuclear multiple quantum correlation
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
HSTs	host selective toxins
HR	hypersensitive response
HRMS	high resolution mass spectrum
Hz	Hertz
IBCN	international blackleg crucifer network
ISDI	intrinsic steric deuterium isotope
J	coupling constant
LAH	lithium aluminum hydride
L. biglobosa	Leptosphaeria biglobosa
LC-MS/DAD	liquid chromatography-mass spectroscopy/diode array
	detector
L. maculans	Leptosphaeria maculans
M. grisea	Magnaporthe grisea
m/z	mass/charge ratio
MAMPs	microbial associated molecular patterns
MeOH	methanol
MHz	megahertz
min	minutes
MM	minimal medium
mmol	millimole
m.p.	melting point
MS	mass spectrum
Nep1	necrosis-eliciting protein 1
NLPs	Nep1-like proteins
NOE	nuclear Overhauser enhancement
NOESY	nuclear Overhauser effect spectroscopy
NPP1	necrosis-inducing phytophthora protein 1
P. lingam	Phoma lingam (blackleg fungus)
PDA	potato dextrose agar
PDB	potato dextrose broth
Phe	phenylalanine
P. oryzae	Pyricularia oryzae
ppm	parts per million
prep. TLC	preparative thin layer chromatography
P. wasabi	Phoma wasabi
P. sojae	Phytophthora sojae
P. infestans	Phytophthora infestans

P. cichorri	Pseudomonas cichorri
P. syringae	Pseudomonas syringae
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RP-FCC	reverse phase flash column chromatography
rpm	revolutions per minute
R. solani	Rhizoctonia solani
rt	room temperature
R _t	retention time
S	seconds
S. alba	Sinapis alba
SGF	spore germination fluids
Ser	serine
T. aestivum	Triticum aestivum
TEA	triethylamine
THF	tetrahydrofuran
TLC	thin layer chromatography
T. viride	Trichoderma viride
Tyr	tyrosine
UV	ultraviolet
UV/Vis	ultraviolet/visible
V	volume

CHEMICAL STRUCTURES MENTIONED IN THIS THESIS











26











0

Ó

-0

O

76

ΗÒ

66

0

ЮH

0.

·ОΗ

ŌН

72























OHC

́н ОН

1 85 ō

75





77





١Ô











xxviii



























N-



ОН





OAc







COLOR FIGURES



Figure I. 1. Cultures of *Leptosphaeria maculans* in minimal medium (MM) and MM containing high NaCl concentration (0.7 M).



Figure I. 2. A leaf of *Brassica juncea* cv. Cutlass treated with maculansin A (**299**) and sirodesmin PL (**165**).



Figure I. 3. A leaf of *Brassica juncea* cv. Cutlass treated with maculansin A (299) and control.



Figure I. 4. Plants (rows: A, *Brassica juncea* cv. Cutlass; B, *B. napus* cv. Westar; C, *Sinapis alba* cv. Ochre) treated with maculansin A (**299**) (from left to right: 1.0 mM (sirodesmin PL (**165**)), 1.0 mM, 0.2 mM, 0.1 mM, and control).



Figure I. 5. A leaf of *Brassica juncea* cv. Cutlass treated with spore germination fluids (SGF) produced by *Leptosphaeria maculans* inoculated on the leaves of *B. napus* cv. Westar and control.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 GENERAL OBJECTIVES

The phytopathogenic fungus *Leptosphaeria maculans* can cause blackleg disease on crucifers, which results in significant yield losses. Fungal diseases involve interactions between pathogenic fungi and host plants. One aspect of these interactions is mediated by secondary metabolites produced by both fungi and host plants. Phytotoxins and elicitors as well as phytoanticipins and phytoalexins are secondary metabolites produced by fungi and plants, respectively. The study of phytotoxins and elicitors produced by *L. maculans* will help to understand the chemical means utilized by this pathogenic fungus to infect its host plants. This thesis describes and discusses the isolation, structure, biological activity and biosynthesis of the secondary metabolites produced by *L. maculans*. This research includes:

- Isolation of secondary metabolites with phytotoxin and/or elicitor activity
- Structural elucidation of metabolites isolated from L. maculans
- Biological assays of metabolites isolated from L. maculans
- Study of sirodesmin PL biosynthetic precursors (a phytotoxin produced by *L. maculans*)
1.2 CHEMICAL INTERACTIONS BETWEEN FUNGI AND THEIR HOST PLANTS

Metabolites synthesized and utilized by all living organisms are called primary metabolites, i.e. metabolites essential for life: carbohydrates, amino acids, common fatty acids, and nucleotides, (Mann, 1994). On the other hand, the metabolites that are synthesized and utilized by a specific group of living organisms are called secondary metabolites and have very diverse chemical structures. Based on the biosynthetic origin, secondary metabolites include polyketides, isoprenoids, shikimates, alkaloids and metabolites of mixed biosynthetic origin (Mann, 1994). Secondary metabolites are produced by living organisms during a particular stage of growth and development or during periods of stress caused by nutritional limitation or microbial attack. Secondary metabolites are not essential for life but are important in fitness and survival and play important roles in the plant-microbe interaction. After hundreds of millions of years of co-evolution, plants evolved sophisticated defense mechanisms to protect them from the attack of pathogens. One of these defense mechanisms involves preformed and induced metabolites. One group of these preformed metabolites is called phytoanticipins, which are low molecular weight, antimicrobial compounds that are present in plants before challenge by microorganisms or are produced after infection solely from preexisting constituents (Grayer and Kokubun, 2001; Osbourn, 1996; Vanetten et al., 1994). The presence of phytoanticipins, acting as the first layer of chemical barriers, can inhibit the growth of fungi. For example, the preformed saponins avenacins (1 to 4) are the first layer of chemical barriers in oats (Avena sativa). Oats are resistant to the wheat (Triticum aestivum) root pathogen Gaeumannomyces graminis var. tritici due to the presence of avenacins in healthy oat plants. Mutants of oats that do not produce avenacins are susceptible to G. graminis var. tritici (Papadopoulou et al., 1999). Therefore, the phytoanticipins avenacins effectively inhibit the growth of the pathogen G. graminis var. tritici. However, successful pathogens can detoxify phytoanticipins, and further infect host plants (Vanetten et al., 2001). The oat root pathogen G. graminis var. avenae produces a glycosidase that removes the sugar residue from avenacins. The resulting metabolites are not antifungal, therefore, oat plants are susceptible to G. graminis var. avenae (Thordal-Christensen, 2003; Vanetten et al., 1995). In another

example, phytoanticipins produced by rice act as the first chemical barriers to inhibit the colonization by rice blast fungus *Pyricularia oryzae*. 5-(8'Z-Heptadecenyl)resorcinol (**5**) and a mixture of its homologues (**6-8** and **9**) were isolated from etiolated rice seedlings and showed antifungal activity against rice blast fungi (Suzuki et al., 1996). These 5alkylresorcinols were newly produced after germination and the concentration reached to 50 μ g/g fresh weight on day 6 (Suzuki et al., 1996). From older rice plants hydroxy and epoxy fatty acids (such as **10** and **11**) showing antifungal activity were isolated (Kato et al., 1993b). However, it seems that *P. oryzue* can avoid these phytoanticipins using a specific ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter, which can take away these antimicrobial metabolites produced by rice (Urban et al., 1999).



Fungi produce a variety of toxic metabolites, phytotoxins, which cause damage on plant tissues and usually play a role in the establishment of infection on plants (Walton, 1996; Walton and Panaccione, 1993; Wolpert et al., 2002). Pyriculol (12) was the first phytotoxin isolated from the rice blast fungus (Iwasaki et al., 1969; Suzuki et al., 1987). Pyriculol (12) was shown to cause dark necrotic spots on rice leaves, similar to the rice blast fungus. Pyriculol (13), a pyriculol related metabolite, was isolated from the same fungus, and caused more serious damage on rice leaves than pyriculol (12) (Kim et al., 1998; Nakamura et al., 2005).



Once fungi overcome preformed barriers to initiate colonization of plants, the recognition of elicitors by plants becomes the key step determining the outcome of the interaction. Elicitors are signal molecules produced by pathogens (exogenous) or plants (endogenous) (Montesano et al., 2003). If elicitors are recognized by plants, defense mechanisms are induced, for example, the production of phytoalexins and reactive oxygen species (ROS), as well as the hypersensitive response (HR, a programmed cell death) at the site of infection. The timely recognition of elicitors and subsequent induction of defense mechanisms most of the time can stop further infection by fungi. For example, the sphingolipid cerebroside C (14), which was isolated from diverse pathogenic fungi (Koga et al., 1998; Umemura et al., 2004), induced the production of the rice phytoalexin momilactone A (15), and further conferred disease resistance of rice plants to the rice blast fungus (Umemura et al., 2004).



Phytoalexins, acting as the second chemical barriers of plant defense mechanisms, are low molecular weight, antimicrobial compounds that are both synthesized de novo by and accumulated in plants after exposure to microorganisms (Bailey and Mansfield, 1982). For example, the flavanone phytoalexin sakuranetin (16) was detected in blast-infected rice leaves and the content in a resistant cultivar after infection with *P. oryzue* was much higher than in a susceptible cultivar, which indicated that sakuranetin (16) contributed to defense in the resistant cultivar (Kodama et al., 1992). Many successful fungi have a way to circumvent phytoalexins. For example, brassinin oxidase, which is produced by *L. maculans*, oxidizes brassinin (17), a phytoalexin produced by crucifers, to indole-3-carboxaldehyde (18). Aldehyde 18 showed no antifungal activity against *L. maculans* (Scheme 1.1, Pedras and Ahiahonu, 2005).



Scheme 1.1. Detoxification of brassinin (17) by *Leptosphaeria maculans*.

The recognition, production, utilization, and detoxification of elicitors, phytotoxins, phytoanticipins and phytoalexins represent aspects of the chemical interactions between fungi and their host plants. The recent progress on the isolation, structure, and biosynthesis of elicitors, phytotoxins, phytoanticipins and phytoalexins as well as their roles in the chemical interactions of fungi and plants are presented.

1.2.1 Metabolites produced by fungi

The secondary metabolites produced by fungi have very diverse structures and different functions, many of which are still not clear. However, two types of metabolites produced by fungi are important and better understood in the plant-microbe interactions: elicitors and phytotoxins.

1.2.1.1 Elicitors

Elicitors induce various plant defense responses. Detection of plant defense responses can be used as an elicitor activity bioassay. The most widely used bioassay method is detection of phytoalexins. This method actually gave the original definition of elicitors, i.e. metabolites capable of inducing the biosynthesis of phytoalexins are called elicitors (Keen, 1975). This definition was extended to include all compounds that can induce any plant defense responses (Montesano et al., 2003). Elicitor bioassay methods include detection of: glycosylhydrolases, reactive oxygen species, callose, hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins, lignin, and measurement of pH of cell cultures (Hahn, 1996; Montesano et al., 2003). Elicitors display a wide range of chemical structures with no particular motifs, but based on the mode of elicitation, two types of elicitors can be considered: general elicitors and race specific elicitors (Ferreira et al., 2006). General elicitors are able to trigger defenses both in host and non-host plants, whereas race specific elicitors induce defense responses only in specific hosts.

General elicitors

General elicitors are also called microbial associated molecular patterns (MAMPs), i.e. indispensable and unique constituents of microbes such as ergosterol, chitin, β -glucan and fungal-specific glycosylated proteins (Jones and Takemoto, 2004; Nurnberger et al., 2004). MAMPs are detected by plant transmembrane pattern recognition receptors and lead to non-host resistance (Jones and Dangl, 2006; Jones and Takemoto, 2004). The presence of MAMPs and their transmembrane pattern recognition receptors explain the observation that not all pathogens can infect all plant species. The attempt of infection from non-host pathogens is most of the time inhibited by plant defense mechanisms induced by MAMPs. For example, the β -glucan fragment **19**, a classic exogenous general elicitor, from the rice blast disease fungus *P. oryzae*, elicits the biosynthesis of the phytoalexins momilactones A (**15**) in rice cell suspension cultures (Yamaguchi et al., 2000). Examples of endogenous general elicitors are plant-cell-wall-derived oligogalacturonides, which are products of cell-wall-degrading enzymes produced by fungi. These oligogalacturonides are known to induce the biosynthesis of

the phytoalexin glycinol (**20**) in cotyledons of soybean (Nothnagel et al., 1983; Shibuya and Minami, 2001; Weinstein et al., 1981).



Unique to microbes, general elicitors are not produced by (potential) host plants, and appear to be indispensable for microbial fitness (Nurnberger et al., 2004). Although termed "general elicitors", the detection and consequent induction of defense response of general elicitors is relative, since some of them are recognized by only a restricted number of plants (Ferreira et al., 2006). For example, soybean and rice cells responded selectively to the glucan oligosaccharide elicitors prepared from *Phytophthora sojae* and *Magnaporthe grisea* that carry different structural features (Shibuya and Minami, 2001). Pep-13, a peptide elicitor isolated from *P. sojae*, was not recognized by host soybean but triggered a defense response in non-host plants such as parsley and potato (Brunner et al., 2002; Jabs et al., 1997; Shibuya and Minami, 2001).

(i). β -Glucan oligosaccharides

Oligosaccharide elicitors are among the first characterized general elicitors derived from the β -glucans by partial acidic hydrolysis or heating cell walls of fungi. A doubly-branched hepta- β -glucoside (**19**) that was generated from *P. sojae* glucan was shown to be a very active elicitor for glyceollin II (**24**) biosynthesis in soybean cotyledon cells (Sharp et al., 1984a; Sharp et al., 1984b; Sharp et al., 1984c). Hepta- β -glucoside elicitors of *P. sojae* showed elicitor activity not only on soybean but also on various plants of plant family Fabaceae (Cosio et al., 1996). To study structure-activity relationships more than 15 oligosaccharides were synthesized and tested for elicitor activity on soybean (Cheong et al., 1991). Synthetic (**21-22**) and naturally obtained (**19**)

oligosaccharides were found to have the highest elicitor activity. All three non-reducing terminal glucosyl residues and two $\beta(1\rightarrow 3)$ branch linkages (compound **23**) are the minimum structural requirement for elicitor activity on soybean cotyledons (Cheong et al., 1991).



Tetraglucosyl glucitols (**25 - 27**) purified from an enzymatic digest of the β glucan from the rice blast fungus induced phytoalexin biosynthesis in rice cell suspension cultures (Yamaguchi et al., 2000). The backbone of the elicitor-active glucopentaose has to be 1,3-linked residue and branched at the 6-position. Whileas in the hepta- β -glucoside elicitor from *P. sojae*, the backbone is a 1,6-linked β glucooligosaccharide with branches at the 3-position (Yamaguchi et al., 2000). Moreover, linear β -1,3-linked glucooligosaccharides but not hepta- β -glucosides showed elicitor activity on tobacco cells. Among tested linear β -1,3-linked glucooligosaccharides, laminaripentaose (**28**) is the smallest polymer found to have elicitor activity (Klarzynski et al., 2000). From these results it seems that recognition of β -glucan oligosaccharide elicitors by different plants is selective, although not race-specific.



(ii) Chitins

Chitins, β -1,4-linked polymers of *N*-acetylglucosamine, are indispensible components of fungal cell walls and not present in plants. For example, in powdery mildews cell wall chitin and β -1,3 glucans are detectable at all stages of haustorial development (Mims et al., 2004; Ramonell et al., 2005) The fragments of chitins (monomer to hexamer) were tested for elicitor activity in induction of lignification in wheat (Barber et al., 1989). Tetramer, pentamer and hexamer all possessed significant elicitor activity, but not other smaller fragments. It was also found that a pre-wounding was necessary to detect elicitor activity of these fragments (Barber et al., 1989). The

fragments of chitins have been shown to have strong elicitor activity in several other plant systems, such as induction of ion flux and protein phosphorylation in cultured tomato cells (Felix et al., 1993), and chitinase activity in melon (Roby et al., 1987). In suspension-cultures of rice cells, chitin fragments were also able to induce the biosynthesis of diterpene phytoalexins (Ren and West, 1992; Yamada et al., 1993) and generated reactive oxygen species (Kuchitsu et al., 1995) and some other defense responses (Shibuya and Minami, 2001).

(iii) Chitosan

Chitosan, a collective term of deacetylated products of cell wall chitins, has also been shown to elicit the biosynthesis of phytoalexin momilactone A (**15**) and sakuranetin (**16**) (Agrawal et al., 2002). Chitosan or its fragments can induce plant defense responses including callose formation in soybean and parsley cells (Conrath et al., 1989), and phytoalexin biosynthesis in pea (Hadwiger and Beckman, 1980). However, the concentration required for these responses is usually much higher than those necessary for activity of chitin fragments. This may be related to the mode of action in which chitosan seemed to interact with negatively charged phospholipids rather than with receptor-like molecules (Kauss et al., 1989).

(iv) Cerebrosides

Cerebrosides, which belong to sphingolipids, are the essential components of fungal cell membranes (Dickson and Lester, 1999, 2002). A recent report indicated that conversion of sphingolipids to glycosphingolipids is essential for spore germination, hyphal growth and cell cycle in *Aspergillus* species (Levery et al., 2002). Cerebrosides A (29), B (30), C (14) and D (31) have been isolated as novel elicitors from *Fusarium oxysporum*, a common soilborne agent of wilt disease affecting a wide range of plant species. Later on, Cerebrosides A (29), B (30), C (14) and D (31), B (30), C (14) and D (31) were found in a wide range of soilborne phytopathogens such as *Pythium graminicola, Botrytis allii, Glomerella cingulata*, and *Sclerotium cepivorum* (Koga et al., 1998; Umemura et al., 2004). Cerebroside elicitors can induce the production of phytoalexins and pathogenesis-

related proteins and also confer disease resistance in rice plants to the rice blast fungus in paddy fields (Umemura et al., 2004).



(v) Fungal proteins

Fungal proteineous elicitors mainly include xylanases and Nep1-like proteins (NLPs). Xylanases are fungal endo- β -1,4-xylanases which aid the invasion of fungi by hydrolyzing plant cell wall cellulose, pectin, and xylan. However, these xylanases induce the plant defense response mechanisms. Application of xylanases on tobacco or tomato leaves induced biosynthesis of ethylene, phytoalexins and pathogenesis-related proteins as well as caused necrosis and hypersensitive cell death (Bailey et al., 1990; Fluhr et al., 1991; Avni et al., 1994). Interestingly, the enzyme activity of xylanases is not essential for their elicitor activity (Enkerli et al., 1999).

Nep1-like proteins (NLPs) were identified as protein elicitors from oomycetes, fungi and bacteria (Gijzen and Nurnberger, 2006). NLPs were able to elicit plant defense responses, but without clear function for pathogens except that maybe related with accelerating disease and pathogen growth in host plants (Gijzen and Nurnberger, 2006). Nep1 (necrosis-eliciting protein 1), a 24-KDa elicitor protein was first isolated from *F. oxysporum* as a necrosis and ethylene-inducing protein (Bailey, 1995). It caused the necrosis and ethylene production only on dicotyledonous plant species tested, but not in monocotyledons (Bailey, 1995). Later on, NPP1 (necrosis-inducing *phytophthora* protein 1) was characterized from cell walls of *Phytophthora* spp. and elicited the HP in parsley and *Arabidopsis* spp. (Fellbrich et al., 2002). The NPP1 domain was found to be present in all NLPs (Fellbrich et al., 2002). Recently, BcNEP1 and BcNEP2, two NPPs

from necrotrophic phytopathogenic fungus *B. cinerea*, were characterized and displayed elicitor activity only on dicotyledonous plant species tested (Schouten et al., 2008).

(vi) Others

Ergosterol (**32**) is another indispensible component in fungal cell walls. It triggers a defense reaction in tobacco and tomato cells such as production of reactive oxygen species (Granado et al., 1995), biosynthesis of the phytoalexin capsidiol in tobacco (Kasparovsky et al., 2003) and biosynthesis of the phytoalexin resveratrol (**33**) in grapevine (Laquitaine et al., 2006).



Tenuazonic acid (**34**), a toxin produced by rice blast fungus *P. oryzae*, can cause small brown necrotic spots on leaves of rice. This effect leads to local disease resistance by most likely inducing the generation of reactive oxygen species in rice leaves (Aver'yanov et al., 2007). Arachidonic acid (**35**) was isolated from the pathogenic fungus *Phytophthora infestans* (Bostock et al., 1981). It elicits phytoalexin production in potato (Bostock et al., 1981) and pepper (Bloch et al., 1984; Hoshino et al., 1994) but not in tobacco, although these three different species belong to the family Solanaceae (Garcia-Pineda and Lozoya-Gloria, 1999).



Specific elicitors

The majority of race-specific elicitors so far identified are proteins. The occurrence of specific elicitors is the result of the co-evolution between plants and microbes. It is assumed that individual phytopathogenic races or strains of a given pathogen species were able to overcome plant non-host resistance through the acquisition of virulence factors, which enable them to either evade or suppress plant immune systems (Nurnberger et al., 2004). Consequently, plants became hosts to these microbes. On the other hand, as a result of co-evolution, individual cultivars of a host plant species have evolved specific mechanisms to recognize virulence factors and initiate defense mechanisms. In such cases, virulence factors became specific signals of pathogens, i.e. race specific elicitors, which are encoded by avirulence (Avr) genes (Nurnberger et al., 2004).

Race-specific elicitors selectively trigger defense response in host plants carrying specific receptors, a nucleotide binding and leucine rich repeat protein encoded by most resistance genes (Jones and Dangl, 2006). The outcome of interaction is determined by complementary pairs of pathogen-encoded avirulence genes and plant resistance genes. Lack of either gene will result in infection on host plants (Flor, 1955; Keen, 1975). Nucleotide binding and leucine rich repeat protein-mediated disease resistance is effective against biotrophic and hemibiotrophic pathogens, but not against necrotrophic pathogens (Glazebrook, 2005).

Although almost all the specific elicitors identified so far are proteins or polypeptides, syringolides (**36** and **37**) are the only exceptions to date (Ji et al., 1998; Midland et al., 1993; Collmer and Gold, 2007). Syringolides (**36** and **37**) are a group of non-proteineous secondary metabolites isolated from bacterial *Pseudomonas* spp.

Syringolides (**36** and **37**) triggered defense responses, such as hypersensitive cell death and a hydrogen peroxide burst in cultivars of soybean carrying the *Rpg4* diseaseresistance gene (Ji et al., 1998; Midland et al., 1993; Collmer and Gold, 2007). To date, syringolides A and B (**36** and **37**) are also the only nonproteinaceous specific elicitors of which the avirulence gene (*avrD*) and resistance gene (*Rpg4*) are identified (Ji et al., 1998; Midland et al., 1993; Collmer and Gold, 2007). Syringolides (**36** and **37**) have not been isolated from fungi.

1.2.1.2 Phytotoxins

Phytotoxins are secondary metabolites produced by fungi that damage the plant tissues and contribute to fungal colonization of plants (Walton, 1996; Wheeler and Luke, 1963). The phytotoxicity of metabolites is determined by phytotoxicity bioassays. The most frequently used bioassays include leaf puncture assays, electrolyte leakage assays, germination assays and root (radicle) growth assays (reviewed in Hoagland and Williams, 2004). By measuring sizes of necrotic or chlorotic lesions caused by test metabolites, the phytotoxicity can be directly compared with controls. This is the most employed method in determination of phytotoxicity of a metabolite. Electrolyte leakage assays measure the conductivity of cellular electrolytes which are caused by disruption of membranes by tested metabolites. Electrolyte leakage assays can be carried out using tissue slices, leaf disks or cell culture suspensions. Germination assays are more frequently used in allelopathy research. Test metabolites are dissolved in various concentrations and seeds are placed in solutions on supporters such as filter or germination blotter paper, or the test solution is solidified by mixing with PDA or other agents. Sometimes the seed germination is not sensitive to the effect of test metabolites. In this case, root (radicle) growth can be further used as a measurement to determine the phytotoxicity of test metabolites.

The dividing line between phytotoxins and elicitors sometimes is not clear. Depending on the type of interaction, some compounds can act as elicitors or phytotoxins. For example, fumonisin B1 (38), isolated from Fusarium verticillioides (Stone et al., 2000), can act as an elicitor inducing hypersensitive responses (HR) in the plant Arabidopsis thaliana. It also acts as a phytotoxin in the interaction of the necrotrophic pathogen F. verticillioides with its host, maize (Desjardins et al., 2000). Coronatine (39) is a phytotoxin produced by certain races of the pathogen *Pseudomonas* syringae (Ichihara et al., 1977). It mimics jasmonic acid, acting as a plant hormone in A. thaliana (Feys et al., 1994; Kloek et al., 2001). Coronatine (39) also elicited the expression of defense genes in A. thaliana (Bohlmann et al., 1998), and biosynthesis of phytoalexins in rice leaves in the same manner as jasmonic acid (Tamogami and Kodama, 2000). Based on the spectrum of toxicity on different plants, phytotoxins are divided in host-selective phytotoxins and nonhost-selective phytotoxins. Host-selective phytotoxins induce the cell death only on host plants, whileas nonhost-selective phytotoxins causes damages or necrosis on both host and non-host plants (Markham and Hille, 2001; Pringle and Scheffer, 1964; Walton, 1996). Reviews about phytotoxins and their applications can be found in recent publications (Hoagland, 2001; Hoagland et al., 2007; Kimura et al., 2001; Strange, 2007; Singh et al., 2003).



Host-selective phytotoxins

HSTs producing fungi are virulent to the plants that are sensitive to HSTs (host plants), but not virulent to plants that are not sensitive to HSTs (non-host plants). Disruption of gene(s) encoding the production of HSTs removes the virulence of these mutants to host plants (Walton, 1996; Wolpert et al., 2002). Therefore, HSTs are necessary for fungi to be virulent on host plants. It seems that only necrotrophic fungi produce HSTs which cause the lysis of plants cells. The non-living plant cells provide

the desired conditions for the colonization of necrotrophic pathogens (Friesen et al., 2008; Markham and Hille, 2001).

A few proteinaceous HSTs were isolated and identified in recent years. For example SnTox1, the first identified HST produced by *Stagonospora nodorum*, was shown to be a 10–30 kDa proteinaceous HST (Friesen et al., 2008). However, the proteinaceous HSTs will not be covered in this introduction. Most HSTs are secondary metabolites from different biosynthetic pathways; for example, polyketides, terpenoids, cyclic peptides and mixed pathways. The isolation, structure, mode of action and role of virulence in the plant-microbe interaction of HSTs has been reviewed in several articles (Walton, 1996, 2006; Wolpert et al., 2002). The HSTs produced by genera *Alternaria* and *Cochliobolus* (Table 1.1) have been extensively studied and provide excellent examples of chemical diversity and host selective phytotoxicity.



Table 1.1. HSTs produced by genera *Alternaria* and *Cochliobolus* (Pedras et al., 2002; Walton, 1996, 2006; Wolpert et al., 2002).

Species	Host plants	HSTs	Chemical types
A. alternata spp.	Japanese pear	AK-toxin I (40) and II (41)	Epoxy-
			decatrienoic
A. alternata spp.	Strawberry	AF-toxin I (42)	Epoxy-
			decatrienoic
A. alternata spp.	Tangerine	ACT-toxin Ib (43) and Ic	Epoxy-
		(44)	decatrienoic
A. alternata spp.	Apple	AM-toxin I (45), II (46)	Cyclic tetrapeptide
		and III (47)	
A. alternata spp.	Tomato	AAL-toxins (48 – 51)	Aminopentol
A. alternata spp.	Rough lemon	ACR(L)-toxin (52-54)	Terpenoid
A. brassicae	Brassica spp.	Destruxin B (61)	Cyclodepsipeptide
C. carbonum	Corn	HC-toxin (55)	Cyclic tetrapeptide
C. heterostrophus	Corn	T-toxins (56 – 59)	Polyketides
C. victoriae	Oats	Victorin C (60)	Chlorinated
			depsipeptide









Each pathotype of A. alternata spp. produces HSTs that cause disease symptoms on its host plant species. Japanese pear pathotype produced epoxydecatrienoides AKtoxins I (40) and II (41), which caused black spot on Japanese pear at very low concentration (10^{-8} M). AF toxins for example AF-toxin I (42), produced by germinating spores of strawberry pathotype of A. alternata spp., caused black spot specifically on strawberry. The other epoxy decatrienoic acid type HSTs ACT-toxin Ib (43) and Ic (44) produced by tangerine pathotype of A. alternata spp displayed high toxicity ($< 10^{-6}$ M) and selectivity (same host range as producing fungal isolates), suggesting the essential role of ACT-toxin Ib (43) and Ic (44) in disease development in susceptible tangerines. AM-toxins I (45), II (46) and III (47) were isolated from Alternaria blotch of apple causing pathotype A. alternaria f. sp. mali and displayed potent toxicity (10⁻⁸M), causing electrolyte loss and necrosis in susceptible apple tissue. AM toxins possess a fourmembered cyclic depsipeptide consisting of a molecule of L- α -hydroxyisovaleric acid, L-alanine, α -amino acrylic acid and derivatives of L- α -amino- δ -phenylvaleric acid. AAL-toxins (48 - 51), produced by Alternaria stem canker causing pathotype A. alternaria f. sp.lycopesici, caused necrotic lesion on tomato leaves similar to that caused by fungal isolate. AAL-toxins, structurally related to fumonisin B1 (38), containing an aminopolyol backbone that is esterified to one (48 - 50) or two tricarboxylic acids (51). ACR(L)-toxins (52 – 54) caused serious damage on cultivars of rough lemon susceptible to pathotype of *A. alternaria* f. sp.*citri*, the ACR(L) toxin producing pathogen (reviewed in Walton, 1996, 2006; Wolpert et al., 2002).

Destruxin B (**61**), a cyclodepsipeptide produced by *A. brassicae*, caused necrotic and chlorotic symptoms in different plant species, of which *Brassica* species was the most sensitive (reviewed in Pedras et al., 2001). Further, the sensitivity to destruxin B (**61**) within the *Brassica* species decreased as the sensitivity of plant species to the fungus *A. brassicae* decreased, suggesting that destruxin B (**61**) is a HSTs. Destruxin B (**61**) was detected in infected *B. napus* and identified in germinating conidia of *A. brassica* at early stages of the infection process, suggesting the important role of destruxin B (**61**) in the plant-pathogen interaction. Further important evidence came from the detoxification of destruxin B (**61**) in susceptible plant *B. napus* and resistant plant *B. juncea*. Destruxin B (**61**) was detoxified through sequential hydroxylation and glucosylation in both susceptible and resistant plants. However, hydroxylation was the rate limiting step in susceptible plant species but not in resistant plant species. Hydroxydestruxin B (**62**) acted as an elicitor to induce the biosynthesis of phytoalexins in resistant plant species but not in the susceptible plant species (Pedras et al., 2001, 2002).



Scheme 1.2. Detoxification of destruxin B (61) in *Brassica napus* and *B. juncea* i) hydroxylation, ii) glucosylation.

HC-toxin (55), a tricyclic peptide, is produced by *C. carbonum* race 1, causal agent of Northern leaf spot of maize. It causes necrosis and inhibited growth of seedlings

of susceptible maize whereas it has no effect on maize resistant to *C. carbonum* race 1. Application of HC-toxin on *C. carbonum* race 1 susceptible maize resulted on colonization by *C. carbonum* which was unable to infect *C. carbonum* race 1 susceptible maize. These results suggested the host selectivity of this toxin and its determinant factor of host-selectivity and pathogenicity of *C. carbonum* race 1 (Pedras et al., 2002; Walton, 1996, 2006; Wolpert et al., 2002).

T-toxins (**56** – **59**) are a group of C_{39} and C_{41} polyketo-polyhydroxy metabolites produced by *C. heterostrophus* race T, the causal agent of Southern corn blight disease of maize. T-toxins (**56** – **59**) displayed high toxicity and selectivity toward Texas male sterile maize (Walton, 1996, 2006; Wolpert et al., 2002).

Victorin C (**60**) is the major component of HSTs isolated from cultures of *C. victoriae*, the causal agent of Victoria blight of oats. The structure of victorin C (**60**) was established (Macko et al., 1985) more than 20 years after its isolation (Scheffer and Pringle, 1963). Victorin C (**60**) is a cyclic peptide consisting a glyoxylic acid and a cyclic combination of five unusual amino acids: 5,5-dichloroleucine, threo- β -hydroxylysine, erythro- β -hydroxyleucine, α -amino- β -chloroacrylic acid, and 2-alanyl-3,5-dihydroxycyclopentenone. Victorin C (**60**) inhibited the root growth of susceptible oat (0.1 ng/mL), suppressed dark CO₂ fixation of oat leaf slices and application of victorin C (**60**) on susceptible oat leaf reproduced disease symptom. Further, mutants that did not produce victorin C (**60**) were not able to infect *C. victoriae* susceptible oat (Walton, 1996, 2006; Wolpert et al., 2002).

Nonhost-selective phytotoxins

This part covers the nonhost-selective phytotoxins identified from 2003-2008. The phytotoxins isolated from *L. maculans* will be discussed separately in section 1.3.2.

(i) Polyketides

The majority of new phytotoxins identified in this period were polyketides. Four phytotoxins, phyllostoxin (64), and phyllostictines A (65), B (66), and D (68) were isolated from *Phyllosticta cirsii*, a fungal pathogen of the perennial weed *Cirsium*

arvense (Evidente et al., 2008a; Evidente et al., 2008b). Phyllostoxin (64) and phyllostictine A (65) were highly phytotoxic to *C. arvense*, causing rapid necrosis on punctured leaves. The phytotoxicity decreased in phyllostictines B (66) and D (68). No phytotoxicity was detected in phyllostin (69) and phyllostictine C (67). Phyllostoxin (64) was elucidated as a new pentasubstituted bicyclo-octatrienyl acetic acid ester, whileas phyllostictines A-D were macrocyclic oxazatricycloalkenones. These metabolites could lead to the discovery of herbicides against *C. arvense* (Evidente et al., 2008b).



Stagonolide (**70**) was isolated from fungus *Stagonospora cirsii*, pathogenic to the weed *C. arvense*, and the structure was determined to be (8*R*,9*R*)-8-hydroxy-7-oxo-9-propyl-5-nonen-9-olide, which is similar to herbarumins (Rivero-Cruz et al., 2003). Stagonolide (**70**) caused large necrotic lesions not only on host plant leaves of *C. arvense* but also on leaves of hollyhock, sunflower, lettuce, sow-thistle, radish, and peppermint. However, leaves of tomato and pepper (both Solanaceae) were less sensitive to stagonolide (**70**) at similar concentration (5×10^{-3} M). Stagonolide (**70**) also displayed selective inhibitory effect on root growth in seedlings of *C. arvense* and some other Asteraceae species but not on cucumber, and weak effect on wheat and radish (Yuzikhin et al., 2007).



From fungal culture of *Malbranchea aurantiaca*, 1-hydroxy-2-oxoeremophil-1(10),7(11),8(9)-trien-12(8)-olide (**71**) was isolated together with penicillic acid (**72**). Both **71** (IC₅₀ = 6.57 μ M) and **72** (IC₅₀ = 3.86 μ M) displayed weaker inhibition of radicle growth of *Amaranthus hypochondriacus* than malbrancheamide (**73**) (Martinez-Luis et al., 2006).



8-O-Methylfusarubin (74) was isolated from *Fusarium acutatum*, the causal pathogen of chickpea plants. The purified 8-O-methylfusarubin (74) caused permanent wilting of chickpea cuttings and the LD_{50} value in a cell bioassay was 327 ng/ml (Gopalakrishnan et al., 2005).

Two new phytotoxins 2-(2",3"-dimethyl-but-1-enyl)-zinniol (**75**), 8-zinniol methyl ether (**76**) were isolated from *Alternaria solani*. These two toxins, structurally related to known phytotoxin zinniol (**77**), caused necrosis on potato leaves (Moreno-Escobar et al., 2005)



From the combined extracts of the fermentation broth and mycelium of the fungus *Phoma herbarum* three nonenolide phytotoxins herbarumins I (**78**), II (**79**) and III (**80**) were isolated. These phytotoxins displayed potent inhibitory effect on radicle growth of seedlings of *Amaranthus hypochondriacus* (Rivero-Cruz et al., 2000). It seemed that the phytotoxicity decreased as the number of hydroxyl groups increased. Herbarumins III (**80**) (IC₅₀ = 2×10^{-5} M) was ten fold more toxic than the positive control commercial herbicide 2,2-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid [2,4-D] (IC₅₀ = 2×10^{-4} M) (Rivero-Cruz et al., 2003). Herbarumin I (**78**) (IC₅₀ = 5×10^{-5} M) was more toxic than II (**79**) (IC₅₀ = 1×10^{-4} M). Metabolites **78** - **80** also displayed inhibitory effect on the calmodulin-dependent enzyme cAMP phosphodiesterase (Rivero-Cruz et al., 2003).

(ii) Terpenoids



Two new ophiobolins, namely ophiobolin E (**81**) and 8-epi-ophiobolin J (**82**), were isolated from both liquid and solid cultures of *Drechslera gigantea*, a fungal pathogen of large crabgrass (*Digitaria sanguinalis*), together with five known metabolites, ophiobolin A (**83**) and B (**84**), 6-epi-ophiobolin A (**85**), 3-anhydro-6-epi-ophiobolin A (**86**) as well as ophiobolin I (**87**) (Evidente et al., 2006a; Evidente et al., 2006b). Among these metabolites, ophiobolin A (**83**) was more phytotoxic, which may

be due to the hydroxy group at C-3, the stereochemistry at C-6, and the aldehyde group at C-7. Dicotyledoneae appeared to be less sensitive than monocotyledoneae when these metabolites (**81** to **87**) were applied on punctured detached leaves (Evidente et al., 2006a; Evidente et al., 2006b).

(iii) Alkaloids

A novel phytotoxic alkaloid malbrancheamide (**73**) was isolated from the fungus *Malbranchea aurantiaca*. Malbrancheamide (**73**) is a member of the brevianamide type of alkaloids (containing bicyclo [2.2.2] diazaoctane ring system). Malbrancheamide (**73**) caused moderate inhibition of radicle growth of *A. hypochondriacus* (IC₅₀=0.37 μ M) (Martinez-Luis et al., 2006).



1.2.2 Metabolites produced by plants

Plants also produce a large variety of secondary metabolites with different biological activities. Phytoanticipins and phytoalexins are two important antifungal metabolites produced by both Monocotyledoneae and Dicotyledoneae and involved in the plant-microbe interaction (Bailey and Mansfield, 1982; Grayer and Harborne, 1994; Harborne, 1999; Kuc, 1992, 1995; Osbourn, 1996). Phytoanticipins are preformed antifungal secondary metabolites present in the healthy plants. For example, glucosinolates are stored in vacuoles. Upon the break down of plant cell wall by fungal hyphae, glucosinolates come into contact with a glycosidase, which is separated from glucosinolates in the intact cell. The products of hydrolysis of glucosinolates are toxic and antifungal (Grubb and Abel, 2006). Although these newly produced metabolites by hydrolysis are not detected in healthy plants and induced by the fungal attack, they are still considered as phytoanticipins, because the glycosidase is present in the healthy plants and stored in other compartments of the cells. Sometimes, an antifungal

metabolite may be a phytoanticipin in one organ but a phytoalexin in another organ within the same plant. For example, momilactone A (15) was induced in rice leaves, but detected as a constitutive metabolite in rice husks and rice stems. In another case, an antifungal metabolite may be a phytoalexin in one plant species but a phytoanticipin in another. For example, the flavanone sakuranetin (16) was isolated from ultraviolet irradiated rice leaves as a phytoalexin, but was released as a phytoanticipin on the surface of leaves of blackcurrant (*Ribes nigra*, Grossulariaceae) from the glands storing it early in the season (Atkinson and Blakeman, 1982).



Both phytoanticipins and phytoalexins are antifungal metabolites. The detection and determination of antifungal activity were carried out using several methods, such as bioautography on thin-layer plates, radial growth, disk diffusion and microdilution bioassays (Engelmeier and Hadacek, 2006). Bioautography on thin-layer plates (TLC) is useful in detection of antifungal metabolites from crude extracts. The crude extracts are separated by TLC and plates are sprayed with fungal spore suspensions followed by incubation; the bands with antifungal metabolites show no fungal growth. Radial growth is used to determine the antifungal activity after a metabolite is purified. The metabolite is mixed with agar to make a solid medium plate, and a fungal mycelia plug is placed on the surface of the agar medium. The mycelial growth will be inhibited if a metabolite has antifungal activity. Microdilution is a highly efficient method to screen the antifungal activity of pure metabolites or crude extracts. Media with the test metabolites prepared by serial dilution are added to microwells. A fixed amount of conidia suspension is added to the test solution and incubated. The morphological deformations such as curling caused by the antifungal activity of test metabolites can be observed using a microscope. Those antifungal bioassays were reviewed recently (Engelmeier and Hadacek, 2006).

1.2.2.1 Phytoanticipins

Phytoanticipins (coined by Mansfield) are defined as "low molecular weight, antimicrobial compounds that are present in plants before challenge by microorganisms or are produced after infection solely from preexisting constituents" (Vanetten et al., 1994). Phytoanticipins are commonly sequestered in vacuoles or organelles in healthy plants but some are concentrated in the outer cell layer of plant organs or secreted to the surface of leaves from trichomes (Grayer and Kokubun, 2001; Kelsey et al., 1984; Osbourn, 1996; Shepherd and Wagner, 2007).

A large number of constitutive plant compounds have been reported to have antifungal activity. Well-known examples include phenols and phenolic glycosides, unsaturated lactones, sulphur compounds, saponins, cyanogenic glycosides, and glucosinolates (reviewed in Ingham, 1973; Schonbeck and Schlosser, 1976; Fry and Myers, 1981; Mansfield, 1983; Bennett and Wallsgrove, 1994; Osbourn, 1996; Grayer and Harborne, 1994; Grayer and Kokubun, 2001; Shepherd and Wagner 2007). The representative glucosinolate and saponin phytoanticipins are described below.

Glucosinolates

Glucosinolates are produced mainly in cruciferous plants, although some 500 other plant species produce one or a few glucosinolates (Grubb and Abel, 2006; Morant et al., 2008). Glucosinolates (also known as (*Z*)-(or *cis*)-*N*-hydroximinosulfate esters) are sulfur-containing glucosides with a sulfur-linked β -D-glucopyranose moiety and a side chain (R). Most glucosinolates are weakly toxic or non-toxic, however, they can be hydrolyzed to toxic metabolites by myrosinase, a hydrolyase stored in all compartments separated from glucosinolates. Once plant tissues are damaged by fungi, myrosinase is released from vacuoles and becomes in contact with glucosinolates, which are hydrolyzed to yield glucose and an unstable aglycone (Scheme 1.3). This aglycone, the thiohydroxamate-O-sulfonate, undergoes spontaneous rearrangement to give different products, of which, nitriles and isothiocyanates are toxic to fungi (Grubb and Abel, 2006; Morant et al., 2008).



Scheme 1.3. Hydrolysis of glucosinolates (88).

Glucosinolates are divided into three groups, i.e. aliphatic, indolyl and aryl amino acid glucosinolates, based on the different side chains (R) (Osbourn, 1996). One hundred and twenty glucosinolates were grouped by Fahey and co-workers into A-J groups, based on the similarity of the side chains (Fahey et al., 2001). Table 1.2 lists representative glucosinolates of each group.



Types of	Chemical name (-glucosinolate)	Common name
side chains		
Sulfur-	7-Methylsulfinyl-3-oxoheptyl (88A)	
containing		
Straight	<i>n</i> -Pentyl (88B)	
aliphatic		
chain		
Branched	4-Methylpentyl (88C)	
aliphatic		
chain		
olefins	3-Methyl-3-butenyl (88D)	
Aliphatic	1-Ethyl-2-hydroxylethyl (88E)	Glucosisautricin
alcohols		
Aliphatic	4-Oxopentyl or 3-(methylcaronyl)propyl	
ketones	(88F)	
aromatic	3,4-Dihysroxybenzyl (88G)	Glucomatronalin
ω-	4-(Benzoyloxy)butyl (88H)	
hydroxyalkyl		
(Benzoates)		
indoles	4-Hydroxyindol-3-ylmethyl (88I)	4-Hydroxyglucobrassicin
Others	4-(4'-O-Acetyl-α-L-	
	rhamnopyranosyloxy)benzyl (88J)	

Table 1.2. Examples of glucosinolates based on the types of side chains (Fahey et al., 2001).

Saponins

Saponins are glycosylated metabolites that include three major groups, triterpenoid, steroid and steroidal glycoalkaloids. Triterpenoid saponins and steroid saponins were found in both monocots and dicots, while steroidal glycoalkaloid saponins

are found primarily in members of the family Solanaceae (i.e. potato and tomato) and Liliaceae (Osbourn, 1996).

The representative triterpenoid saponins are avenacins in which the sugar unit is a branched trisaccharide, and the aglycones are β -amyrin-derived pentacyclic triterpenoids esterified with either N-methylanthranilic acid (avenacin A-1 (1) and avenacin B-1(3)) or benzoic acid (avenacin A-2 (2) and avenacin B-2 (4)). The fungal soil pathogen *G. graminis* var. *tritici* causes the "take-all" disease on wheat and barley but not on oat seedlings. It has been demonstrated that avenacins are directly related to the disease resistance of oat seedlings (Crombie and Crombie, 1986). Avenacins appear to be found exclusively in oat roots (Trojanowska et al., 2000).



The representative steroidal saponins are avenacosides, which were also isolated from oats (Morant et al., 2008; Tschesch.R et al., 1969). Avenacoside B (94), which has an additional *O*-glucose attached to C-26 of their steroidal aglycones, is activated to 26-desglucoavenacoside B (95) by a specific plant glucosyl hydrolase upon fungal attack (Scheme 1.3, reviewed in Morant et al., 2008; Osbourn, 1996).



Scheme 1.4. Activation of avenacoside B (94) to 26-desglucoavenacoside B (95) by a specific plant glucosyl hydrolyase.

α-Tomatine (**96**) is a steroidal glycoalkaloid in which the C-3 of steroid aglycone is attached to two D-glucose residues and then branched at the second D-glucose unit (β-1→4) which is bonded to D-galactose (β-1→2) and D-xylose (β-1→3). α-Tomatine is the active form and is present in particularly high levels in leaves, flowers and green fruits of tomato (Roddick, 1974; Osbourn, 1996).



1.2.2.2 Phytoalexins

Phytoalexins, the plant defensive metabolites against the infection attempts from potential pathogens, are produced by plants *de novo* (Bailey and Mansfield, 1982; Grayer and Harborne, 1994). Phytoalexins are often detected a few hours after elicitation and reach a maximum within a certain period of time. The hypothesis that phytoalexins are induced metabolites produced as a plant self-defense mechanism was proposed by Müller and Boger (Müller and Boger, 1940). They demonstrated that application of an incompatible race of *P. infestans* on potato tuber tissue induced resistance of the tissue to a subsequent infection attempt of a compatible race of P. infestans. They hypothesized that potato tubers produced nonspecific metabolites (phytoalexins) under elicitation by the incompatible race of *P. infestans*. These metabolites inhibited the infection attempt by the compatible race of P. infestans. The first phytoalexin, pisatin (97), was isolated from *Pisum sativum* more than ten years after the proposal of the phytoalexin concept (Perrin and Bottomley, 1961; Hammerschmidt, 1999). Phytoalexins were originally defined as chemical compounds produced as a result of invasion of living cells by a parasite (Müller and Boger, 1940, Grayer and Kokubun, 2001). However, abiotic challenges such as UV and heavy metal ions can also induce the production of antifungal metabolites. Therefore, phytoalexins were defined in many ways. For example, "antibiotics formed in plants via a metabolic sequence induced either biotically or in response to chemical or environmental factors" was the definition of phytoalexins by Ingham (1973). After more than 60 years of phytoalexin research, these metabolites are an indisputable component of plant-microbe interactions (Bailey and Mansfield, 1982; Hammerschmidt, 1999).



The majority of the plant species studied showed ability to produce phytoalexins upon different elicitation treatments. A few plant families, such as Cucurbitaceae and Rosaceae, did not respond with sufficient production of phytoalexins upon elicitation, which may be due to the presence of high concentration of phytoanticipins or other defense mechanisms (Harborne, 1999). Table 1.3 lists the representative phytoalexins isolated from ten plant families including Gymnospermae and Angiospermae.



Phytoalexins have diverse structures which derive from the major secondary metabolite biosynthetic pathways, such as polyketides, terpenoids and alkaloids. Tables 1.3 and 1.4 are adapted from reviews (Grayer and Harborne, 1994; Harborne, 1999) and list some representative phytoalexins isolated from ten plant families. The structures of phytoalexins isolated from the same plant family often share structural motifs. For example, isoflavonoids are major phytoalexins isolated from the family Leguminosae. The phytoalexins isolated from Cruciferae contain an indole or related moiety and one or two sulfur atoms. There are also overlaps of phytoalexins between taxonomically non-related plant families. For example, the phytoalexin resveratrol (**33**) was found in the dicots peanut (Leguminosae) and vine (Vitaceae) as well as in gymnosperms in *Pinus* sapwoods (Harborne, 1999). The legume phytoalexin glyceollin II (**24**) was isolated from the dicot soyabean (*Glycine max*) and monocot *Costus speciosus* (Costaceae) (Harborne, 1999; Lyne et al., 1976).

	Family	Chemical type	Examples
Gymnosperms	Pinaceae	Stilbenes	pinosylvin (Schultz et al., 1992) (98)
			and resveratrol (33)
	Cupressaceae	Terpenoids	cupressotropolone A (99) and B (100),
			(Madar et al., 1995)

Table 1.3. Selected phytoalexins produced by plants of Gymnospermae (Grayer and Harborne, 1994; Harborne, 1999).



	Family	Chemical type	Examples
Angiospermae	Alliaceae	Cyclic dione	5-alkyl-cyclopenta-1,3-diones
(Monocotyledons)			(101) and B (102), (Tverskoy et
			al., 1991)
	Dioscoreaceae	Bibenzyl	Batatasin IV (103) and
			Batatasin V (104), (Hashimoto
			and Tajima, 1978)
	Liliaceae	Benzodioxin-2-	Yurinelide (105), (Monde et al.,
		one	1992)
	Orchidaceae	Phenanthrene	Orchinol (106), (Fisch et al.,
			1973)
Angiospermae	Compositae	Acetylenic	Safynol (107), (Allen and
(Dicotyledons)			Thomas, 1971)
	Leguminosae	Isoflavonoid	Pisatin (97) (Perrin and
			Bottomley, 1961)
	Moraceae	Stilbenes	Oxyresveratrol (108) and 4'-
			prenyloxyresveratrol (109),
			(Takasugi et al., 1978)
	Papaveraceae	Alkaloid	Sanguinarine (110), (Furuya et
			al., 1972)
	Rosaceae	Biphenyl	Aucuparin (111), Rhaphiolepsin
			(112) (Kokubun and Harborne,
			1995)
	Solanaceae	Sesquiterpene	Rishitin (113) and lubimin
			(114), (Brindle et al., 1988)
	Umbelliferae	Furanocoumarin	Psoralen (115), Xanthotoxin
			(116) and demethylsuberosin
			(117), (Masuda et al., 1998)

Table 1.4. Selected phytoalexins produced by plants of Angiospermae (Grayer and Harborne, 1994; Harborne, 1999).



So far indole-sulfur containing phytoalexins are exclusively found in Brassicaceae (Cruciferae). Over 40 cruciferous phytoalexins have been isolated from crucifers (Pedras et al., 2003; Pedras et al., 2007b), starting from brassinin (**17**), the first phytoalexin isolated from Chinese cabbage (*B. campestris* L. ssp. *pekinensis*) after infection with the bacterium *P. cichorri* (Takasugi et al., 1986). Table 1.5 lists phytoalexins produced by four representative cruciferous plant species and elicitation agents.



Species	Elicitors	Phytoalexins
(common		
name)		
Brassica.	CuCl ₂ ,	Brassilexin (118), cyclobrassinin (119), cyclobrassinin
juncea	AgNO ₃ ,	sulfoxide (120), indole-3-acetonitrile (121),
(brown	L. maculans,	spirobrassinin (122)
mustard)	A. brassicae	
B. napus	CuCl ₂ , <i>L</i> .	Brassilexin (118), cyclobrassinin (119), cyclobrassinin
(rapeseed)	maculans	sulfoxide (120), 1-methoxybrassinin (123),
		spirobrassinin (122)
B. napus ssp.	UV,	Brassicanal A (124), brassicanate A (125), brassilexin
rapifera	R. solani	(118), brassinin (17), isalexin (126), 1-methoxybrassinin
(rutabaga)		(123), rutalexin(127), spirobrassinin (122)
Sinapis. alba	Destruxin B,	Sinalbin A (128), sinalbin B (129), sinalexin (130)
(white	CuCl ₂ ,	
mustard)	A. brassicae,	
	L. maculans	

Table 1.5. Selected phytoalexins produced by cruciferous plants (adapted from Pedras et al., 2007b; Pedras et al., 2003).

1.2.3 Diversity of secondary metabolites produced by one fungal species

It is well known that very diverse secondary metabolites are produced by a wide range of organisms, notably microorganisms (Firn and Jones, 2003). However, the diversity of secondary metabolites produced by one fungal species did not receive sufficient attention until work published recently (Bode et al., 2002; Bode and Műller, 2005; Van Lanen and Shen, 2006). Because of the rapid development of genomic projects, a large number of orphan pathways (discussed in section 1.2.3.1) have been discovered in fungal species, indicating that diverse and novel secondary metabolites can be produced by a single fungal species. Diverse secondary metabolites can be obtained from manipulation of known culturable microorganisms (Bode et al., 2002; Bode and Műller, 2005; Gross, 2007; Van Lanen and Shen, 2006). This manipulation can be done genetically, which is beyond the scope of this thesis, or by variation of culture conditions, which will be discussed in section 1.2.3.2.

1.2.3.1 Orphan pathways

It has been hypothesized that most of the investigated microorganisms have a broader genetic capacity to produce natural products than those isolated from a particular strain or species (Gross, 2007). Many "new" gene clusters were accidentally found during research to characterize specific gene clusters encoding known metabolites. The function and the encoded products of these "new" gene clusters are not known. These gene clusters were described as "pathways for previously undetected metabolites", "yet-to-be isolated compounds" or "cryptic gene clusters encoding putative natural products" (Gross, 2007). However, to avoid confusion and the fact that a notation is necessary for communication, the term "orphan pathways" was proposed to refer to gene clusters (biosynthetic loci) for which the corresponding metabolites are unknown (Gross, 2007).

According to the concept of orphan pathways, the potential to discover diverse bioactive natural products from microorganisms is much higher than previously expected. Recently, natural product research efforts in pharmaceutical areas are diminishing despite that more than 75% of all antibacterial and approximately 50% of all anticancer compounds currently in clinical use are either natural products themselves or derivatives thereof (Newman et al., 2003). Instead, synthetic chemicals have been emphasized because of certain advantages, for example, isolation and characterization of synthetic chemicals are easier, analogues can be chemically synthesized, and there is no limitation of source (Bode and Műller, 2005). However, as a result of the rapid progress of genome projects worldwide, a large number of gene clusters are identified as orphan pathways by bio-informatics. Recent progress suggests that the structures of new natural products can be predicted, many "unnatural" natural products can be produced from cultures of microorganisms, and the biological source will not be limited by genetic manipulation of culturable microorganisms (Gross, 2007). Overall there is still tremendous potential to discover natural-product diversity (Gross, 2007).
Identification of orphan pathways can be the first step to isolate novel natural products encoded by such pathways. The most important method is bio-informatic search for the orphan gene clusters, which is usually termed 'genome mining', 'data mining' or 'metabolic pathway mining'. Identification of orphan pathways is closely related to molecular biology which is beyond the scope of this thesis (reviewed by Gross, 2007).

1.2.3.2 Culture conditions

After orphan pathways have been identified, several strategies can be used to characterize the metabolites encoded by the orphan pathways and elucidate the function of the unknown gene clusters. These strategies include, for example, bio-informatic guided screening, heterologous expression and gene inactivation (Gross, 2007). Variation of culture conditions may not be necessary when strategies such as heterologous expression and gene inactivation are employed. However, variation of culture conditions is crucial for the strategy of bio-informatic guided screening. This is done by varying cultural medium components or addition of inhibitors or stimulators (Gross, 2007; Strange, 2007). Recent examples are discussed to illustrate the success of obtaining diverse bioactive metabolites by variation of culture conditions:

Variation of medium components

Based on bio-informatic analysis of a type I PKS gene cluster in *Streptomyces aizunensis*, a polyketide of 1,257 Da with characteristic UV absorbance at around 300 nm was predicted (McAlpine et al., 2005). After culture conditions were optimized (about 50 different medium components), metabolite ECO-02301 (**131**) was detected using LC-MS/DAD. The optimized medium contained soluble starch, glucose, Pharmamedia (Sigma), corn steep liquor (Sigma), and Proflo oil (pH of 7.2, Traders Protein). This metabolite showed anti-fungal activity (4 µg/ml MIC against *Candida albicans*) (McAlpine et al., 2005).



The strain F-24'707 of the fungal species *Sphaeropsidales* was described to produce mainly the antifungal spirobisnaphthalene cladospirone bisepoxide (**132**) in medium A (containing oat meal 2%, degreased soy meal 2%, and glucose 2%) (Thiergardt et al., 1995). However, using a combination of different media and cultivation vessels, eight new spirobisnaphthalenes (cladospirones B to I (**134** to **141**) and six known members of this class of compounds (palmarumycins C₂ (**142**), C₃ (**143**), and C₁₂ (**144**), diepoxins σ (**133**), η (**145**), and δ (**146**) were isolated in yields of up to 2.6 g/L (Bode et al., 2000b). The medium was thought to be closer to natural living conditions (Bode et al., 2002).





Addition of chickpea extract or a mixture of inorganic salts, amino acids and vitamins into Czapek-Dox medium induced the production of solanapyrone toxins **147**, **148**, and **149** by *A. rabiei*. After systematic removal of each component of this mixture, divalent cations such as Zn^{2+} , Mn^{2+} , Cu^{2+} or Ca^{2+} were found to be essential for the production of solanapyrone toxins **147**, **148**, and **149** by *A. rabiei* (Chen and Strange, 1991).



Mycotoxins and phytotoxins produced by isolates of the fungi *Alternaria alternata* and *A. radicina* on rice and carrot discs are different (Table 1.6). Most of the isolates of *A. alternata* produced tenuazonic acid (**34**), alternariol (**150**), alternariol methyl ether (**151**) and altertoxin-I (**152**) on rice, but only alternariol (**150**) and alternariol methyl ether (**151**) on carrot discs. *A. radicina* produced radicinin (**153**), epiradicinol (**154**) and radicinol (**155**) on carrot discs, but only radicinin and radicinol on rice.

Fungi\Media	Rice	Carrot discs
A. alternata	34, 150, 151, 152	150, 151
A. radicina	153, 155	153, 154, 155

Table 1.6. Production of phytotoxins by *Alternaria alternata* and *A. radicina* on rice and carrot discs.



Addition of inhibitors or stimulators

The metabolites produced by the strain F-24'707 of *Sphaeropsidales sp.* in liquid culture medium were analyzed after addition of tricyclazole, a commercially available antifungal agrochemical that inhibits 1,3,8-trihydroxynaphthalene reductase. As expected, when tricyclazole was added, 1,3,8-trihydroxynaphthalene accumulated in culture due to inhibition of the breakdown of natural dihydroxynaphthalene melanin and spirobisnaphthalene biosynthesis cladospirone bisepoxide (**132**). In addition, two new bisnaphthalenes, named sphaerolone (**156**) and dihydrosphaerolone (**157**), 2-hydroxyjuglone (**158**) were produced (Bode and Zeeck, 2000). More interesting mutolide (**159**) was produced in medium when tricyclazole was added. That is the addition of an inhibitor stopped the known dihydroxynaphthalene biosynthesis pathway, but induced a new polyketide biosynthetic pathway leading to the production of mutolide (**159**) (Bode et al., 2000a).



When cultures of the marine-derived fungus *Phomopsis asparagi* were challenged with the known F-actin inhibitor jasplakinolide (160), three new secondary metabolites, chaetoglobosin-510 (161), -540 (162), and -542 (163) were isolated. Chaetoglobosin-542 displayed antimicrofilament activity and was cytotoxic toward murine colon and leukemia cancer cell lines (Christian et al., 2005).



Co-incubation of the marine fungus *Pestalotia* sp. with an unidentified gramnegative bacterium led to the isolation of pestalone (**164**), a new and potent benzophenone antibiotic (Cueto et al., 2001). Therefore, addition of another microorganism could induce the production of new biological active metabolites. AB-toxin, a HST, is produced by germinating spores of *Alternaria brassicicola* only on host leaves. The specific production of AB-toxin was found to be the elicitation effect of an 1.3 kDa oligosaccharide derived from host plants (Oka et al., 2005). This report presented evidence that production of HSTs can be induced upon elicitation of host derived molecules (Oka et al., 2005).

1.3 METABOLITES FROM LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS

The fungal pathogen Leptosphaeria maculans (Desm.) Ces. et de Not., asexual stage *Phoma lingam* (Tode ex Fr.) Desm can cause blackleg disease of crucifers, which leads to large yield losses (Gugel and Petrie, 1992; Kutcher et al., 2007). L. maculans comprises pathotype groups and subgroups. Initially, those fungal isolates that caused blackleg disease on canola were called aggressive, highly virulent, or "A" group (McGee and Petrie, 1978, Williams and Fitt, 1999). The fungal isolates that did not cause disease symptoms on canola were called non-aggressive, weakly virulent, or "B" group (McGee and Petrie, 1978). Further study, based on the pathogenicity of isolates on cotyledons of B. napus cultivars Westar, Quinta and Glacier, regrouped isolates into four categories: PG1, PG2, PG3 and PG4. PG1 did not cause disease symptoms on cotyledons of B. napus cultivars Westar, Quinta and Glacier. PG2 was virulent on Westar, PG3 was virulent on Westar and Glacier and PG4 was virulent on all three cultivars tested (Koch et al., 1991; Mengistu et al., 1991). All these isolates were under the name L. maculans, until a reclassification into L. biglobosa was introduced to enclose the isolates traditionally known as avirulent, weakly virulent, "B" group or PG1 (Chen and Fernando, 2006; Howlett et al., 2001). However, reversed pathogenicity was observed in two isolates Laird 2 and Mayfair 2, which were not virulent on B. napus but virulent on B. juncea, a plant species resistant to the blackleg fungus (Pedras et al., 1999a). These two isolates were not considered in the reclassification of L. maculans. The metabolites produced by different isolates of L. maculans and L. biglobosa are unique to some groups and thus have taxonomic value. These metabolites are discussed according to their structural types in section 1.3.2.

1.3.1 Elicitors

A gene-for-gene genetic model appears to explain the interactions between brassicas and *L. maculans* (Howlett, 2004). Nine avirulence genes (AvrLm1-9) and complementary resistance genes (Rlm1-9) from *Brassica spp.* and *L. maculans*, respectively, have been identified and mapped (Gout et al., 2006). Recently, a protein (sp1) secreted during fungal infection has been identified by sequencing random genes of *L. maculans* (Wilson et al., 2003). The protein fractions containing sp1 induced autofluorescent defense response in leaves of canola. However, when a mutant unable to secret this protein was applied to leaves of canola it caused lesions similar to those caused by the wildtype fungus, suggesting that this protein does not play a significant role in disease development (Wilson et al., 2003).

To date, neither proteins/enzymes encoded by avirulence genes or corresponding metabolites, nor elicitors from *L. maculans* been reported. Therefore, studies to discover elicitors produced by *L. maculans* are necessary.

1.3.2 Phytotoxins and other metabolites

1.3.2.1 Dioxopiperazines

Sirodesmins are epipolythiodioxopiperazines, which are derived from the condensation of two amino acids and contain a sulfur bridge (Curtis et al., 1977; Ferezou et al., 1980; Ferezou et al., 1977). Sirodesmin PL (**165**) and deacetylsirodesmin PL (**166**) are the first two non-selective phytotoxins isolated from *L. maculans* (Férézou et al., 1977). Later on, sirodesmins with a various number of sulfur atoms, i.e. sirodesmin H (**167**) (Pedras et al., 1988), sirodesmin J and K (Pedras et al., 1990) were isolated from a chemically defined medium. Sirodesmin J and K are not stable, decomposing to **165**, **169** and **168** on standing in MeOH solution within 24 hours (Pedras et al., 1990). The toxicity of EPTs comes from its disulfur bridge, which may conjugate with cysteine residue in proteins or generate reactive oxygen species through redox cycling (Hurne et al., 2002; Hurne et al., 2000). Sirodesmins cause yellowish necrosis on leaves of both

resistant and susceptible plants. By investigating the toxicity of acetylated derivatives of sirodesmin PL (Pedras et al., 1990), it was suggested that the –OH group at C-14 may be involved in the mechanism of toxicity.



Phomalirazine (170), another non-selective phytotoxin, was isolated from minimal medium still culture incubated for 21 days (Pedras et al., 1989). It showed phytotoxicity (10^{-5} M) towards both resistant and susceptible plants (Pedras et al., 1989). Phomalirazine (170) possesses a disulfur bridge similar to sirodesmins but no methyl group attached to the nitrogen atom and no spiro-fused tetrahydrofuranone ring are present. These structural differences suggested that it is a possible intermediate in the biosynthesis of sirodesmins (discussed in section 1.4).

Six dioxopiperazines polanrazines A (173), B (174), C (175), D (176), E (177) and F (178), derived from tryptophan and valine, were isolated from Polish isolates of *L. maculans* (Pedras et al., 1998; Pedras and Biesenthal, 2001). Polanrazines B (174) and C (175) were also isolated from Laird 2 isolate (Pedras et al., 2005a). Polanrazines A (173), C (175) and E (177) showed moderate toxicity to leaves of brown mustard but not to canola (Pedras et al., 1998; Pedras, 2001; Pedras and Biesenthal, 2001).



1.3.2.2 Depsipeptides

Phomalide (179), the first host-selective phytotoxin isolated from virulent isolates of L. maculans, represents a rare cyclic peptide with three α -amino acids and two α-hydroxy acids (Pedras, 2001; Pedras et al., 1993b). Phomalide (179) caused disease symptoms (necrotic, chlorotic, and reddish lesions) on canola (susceptible to L. maculans) but not on brown mustard or white mustard (resistant to L. maculans) at concentrations ranging from 10^{-5} M to 10^{-4} M (Pedras et al., 1993b). The production of phomalide was detected in 30 to 60-hour-old cultures. Once the cultures started to produce sirodesmins, the production of phomalide stopped (Pedras and Biesenthal, 1998; Pedras et al., 1993a; Pedras et al., 1993b). Spores of virulent isolates co-incubated with sirodesmin PL (165) in MM did not produce phomalide (179). Therefore, the above results suggested that the production of phomalide (179) is inhibited by sirodesmins. Phomalide (179) was also detected in the infected leaves of canola, suggesting a biological role. The detection of phomalide (179) but not sirodesmin PL (165) in infected leaves of canola is consistent with the inhibition effect of sirodesmin PL (165) on the production of phomalide (179) in the culture media. However, traces of sirodesmin PL (165) were detected using LC-MS in the leaves of canola infected with L. maculans (Elliott et al., 2007).

Phomalide (179) together with three analogues 180, 181 and 182 were synthesized and the phytotoxicity of these compounds was tested (Ward et al., 1999). The Z-isomer (180, 5×10^{-4} M) did not have phytotoxicity while compounds 181 and

182 (5 \times 10⁻⁵ M) caused necrosis on brown mustard but not on canola or white mustard (Ward et al., 1999).



Depsilairdin (183), another host-selective phytotoxin produced by the isolate Laird 2, possesses a tripeptide coupled with a sesquiterpene moiety. The tripeptide moiety contains (2*S*,3*S*,4*S*)-3,4-dihydroxy-3-methylproline, a novel amino acid motif. Depsilairdin (183) causes the same diseases symptom as the pathogen and mimics the host selectivity. Plant leaves of brown mustard treated with depsilairdin (183) showed strong necrotic and chlorotic lesions but no such symptoms were observed in canola in a wide range from μ M to mM (Pedras et al., 2004). The total synthesis of depsilairdin is underway, and the sesquiterpene moiety (lairdinol A (188)) was synthesized recently (Pardeshi and Ward, 2008).



183

1.3.2.3 Sesquiterpenes

Ten sesquiterpenes have been isolated from extracts of cultures of *L. maculans* (Pedras et al., 1999; Pedras et al., 2005b). Phomalairdenones A (**193**), B (**190**) and C (**191**) were isolated from a fungal isolate IBCN 18 (the International Blackleg of Crucifers Network), which is virulent to canola. Phomalairdenones A (**193**) and D (**192**), phomalairdenols A (**184**), B (**185**), C (**186**) and D (**187**), lairdinol A (**188**) as well as **189** and **194** were isolated from Laird 2 and Mayfair 2 which are virulent to brown mustard but not to canola. Among these, metabolites **189** and **194** were isolated before from *Dugaldia hoopesii* and *Podocarus dacrydioides*, respectively. The tricyclic ring system of phomalairdenone A (**193**), was assigned based on analysis of X-ray crystallographic data of a single crystal (Pedras et al., 1999).



Phomalairdenone A (**193**) (5 \times 10⁻⁴ M) causes necrotic, chlorotic, and reddish lesions on brown mustard but not on canola (Pedras et al., 1999). Phomalairdenones A (**193**) and D (**192**), phomalairdenol A (**184**) as well as lairdinol A (**188**) also caused lesions (3–4 mm diameter) on brown mustard but not on canola (Pedras et al., 2005b).

The selective phytotoxicity is consistent with the virulence range of isolates Laird 2 and Mayfair 2.

Only phomalairdenol A (184) displayed phytotoxicity among all the tested phomalairdenols B (185), C (186) and D (187). Structure-activity analysis of all phomalairdenols suggested that the hydroxyl group at C-2 is important for the phytotoxicity in phomalairdenols. It is also interesting to note that lairdinol A (188), a eudesmene type sesquiterpene, is a structural moiety of selective-phytotoxin depsilairdin (183). Lairdinol A (188) also showed selective activity on brown mustard but less toxicity than depsilairdin (183) (Pedras et al., 2004).

1.3.2.4 Polyketides

Nine 2-pyrone type metabolites, phomapyrones A-C (**195–197**) and D-G (**198–201**), as well as phomenin B (**203**) and infectopyrone (**202**) were isolated from cultures of isolates Laird 2 (Pedras et al., 1999; 2005a) and FAN10B5 (Pedras et al., 1994) incubated in MM. Phomenin B (**203**) and infectopyrone (**202**), were isolated from *Phoma tracheiphila* (Tringali et al., 1993) and from *A. infectoria*, respectively (Larsen et al., 2003). The biosyntheses of these phomapyrones were demonstrated to follow a polyketide pathway using ¹³C-labeled acetate and malonate as well as deuterated methionine as precursors. Because of the limited amount of phomapyrones isolated, only phomenin B (**203**), and phomapyrones A (**195**) and D (**198**) were tested for the phytotoxicity. None of these pyrones caused any necrosis even at high concentration (10⁻³ M); however, 2-pyrones isolated from some pathogenic fungi have displayed phytotoxicity, cytotoxicity, or antibiotic activity (Dickinson, 1993).



In work to find the yellow pigments produced by weakly virulent isolates of *L*. *maculans* three yellow metabolites, phomaligin A (**204**) and wasabidienones B (**205**) and E (**206**), were isolated (Pedras, 1996; Pedras et al., 1995). However, these three metabolites displayed the lowest toxicity among all the phytotoxins isolated from *L*. *maculans* and *L*. *biglobosa*.



Phomaligol A (207) and A₁ (208), phomaligationes A (209) and B (210) as well as wasabidienone B (206) and E (205) were isolated from a weakly virulent isolate of *L*. *maculans*. These metabolites have also been found in *P. wasabi*, suggesting a similarity between these two pathogens.



2-[2-(5-Hydroxybenzofuranyl)]-3-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-propanenitrile (**211**) was isolated from Laird 2 isolate of *L. maculans* grown in PDB. The structure of this metabolite was elucidated by analysis of spectroscopic data. However, the configuration of stereocenter C-8' was not determined since racemization at C-8' could happen as H-8' is acidic (Pedras et al., 2007a).



2,4-dihydroxy-3,6-dimethylbenzaldehyde (**212**) was isolated from Canadian V isolates grown in PDB (Pedras, et al., 2005). It was reported to have root and hypocotyl growth inhibition effects on lettuce seedlings (Jiao et al., 1994).

Flaviolin (213), 4-hydroxyscytalone (214) and 2-hydroxyjuglone (215) were isolated from a solid culture of *L. maculans* when tricyclazole, a systemic fungicide and a melanin synthesis inhibitor, was supplied in the PDA solid medium. These metabolites were suggested to be the shunt metabolites of melanin (Dahiya and Rimmer, 1988).



1.3.2.5 Sterols

The composition of sterols in mycelia of *L. maculans* has been studied using GC-MS spectrometry. Ergosterol (**32**) comprised 95% of the total sterols. The remaining sterols were 24-methylene dihydrolanosterol (**216**), 4,4-dimethyl fecosterol (**217**), 4-methyl fecosterol (**218**), fecosterol (**219**), episterol (**220**), ergosta-7,22-dienol (**221**), ergosta-5,7,9(11),22-tetraenol (**222**) and epiergosterol (**223**) and obtusifoliol (**224**) (Griffiths et al., 2003).



The metabolites produced by both *L. maculans* and *L. biglobosa* are summarized in Table 1.7.

Table 1.7. Secondary metabolites produced by different isolates of *Leptosphaeria maculans* and *L. biglobosa*.(Pedras, 2001; Pedras et al., 2007a; Pedras et al., 2005a; Pedras et al., 2005b).

Isolates	L. maculans	L. maculans	<i>L</i> .	L. biglobosa
Types	(virulent isolates) ^a	(Mayfair 2/ Laird	biglobosa ^c	(Polish
		2) ^b		isolates) ^d
Dioxopiperazines	Sirodesmins	Polanrazines	-	Polanrazines
	(169 to 166)	B (174), C (175)		A (173),
	Phomalirazine (170)			B (174),
				C (175),
				D (176),
				E (177),
				F (178)
Depsipeptides	Phomalide (179)	Depsilairdin (183)	-	-
Sesquiterpenes	Phomalairdenones	Phomalairdenones	-	-
	A (193), B (190),	A (193), D (192);		
	C (191)	Phomalairdenols		
		A (184), B (185),		
		C (186), D (187);		
		Lairdinol A (188);		
		189 and 194		
Polyketides	212,	Phomapyrones	204,	211
	213,	A-C (195–197), D-	205,	
	214,	G (198–201);	206	
	215	Phomenin B (203);		
		Infectopyrone (202)		
Sterols	216 to 224	-	-	-

^aisolates virulent on canola; ^bisolates virulent on brown mustard; ^cisolates avirulent on canola; ^disolates avirulent on canola.

1.4 BIOSYNTHESES OF EPIPOLYTHIODIOXOPIPERAZINES

A large number of epipolythiodioxopiperazines have been isolated from more than 20 fungal genera. These metabolites display diverse biological activities (Gardiner et al., 2005; Rezanka et al., 2006). For example, gliotoxin (225) has antibacterial and antiviral properties and selective toxicity to cells of the hematopoietic system (Rezanka et al., 2006), leptosins A (226), B (227), C (228) and M (229) displayed antitumor and cytotoxicity (Takahashi et al., 1994; Yamada et al., 2002), and chetomin (230) and chetoseminudin A (231) displayed immunonodulatory activity (Fujimoto et al., 2004). In recent years the study of genes responsible for the biosynthesis of EPTs has been carried out. For example, 18 genes have been cloned and identified in a sirodesmin biosynthetic gene cluster (Gardiner et al. 2004). The function of each of the 18 genes has been proposed and denoted with a prefix sir followed by a capital letter indicating the function, for example gene sirP corresponds to a non-ribosomal peptide synthetase, sirD (prenyl transferase) and *sirT* (thioredoxin reductase). Mutants with specific sirodesmin biosynthetic genes disrupted were also generated and tested for the ability to produce sirodesmin PL (165) (Gardiner et al. 2004). After the first gene of sirodesmin PL biosynthetic gene cluster from L. maculans was cloned, homologues of the gene in the cluster responsible for the biosynthesis of gliotoxin were identified in expressed sequence tags of the EPT producing fungus Chaetomium globosum (Gardiner et al. 2004). A putative gliotoxin biosynthesis gene cluster has been indentified in Aspergillus *fumigatus* by a bioinformatic and expression analysis (Gardiner and Howlett 2005). The identification of a gene cluster responsible for the biosynthesis of EPTs may facilitate the discovery of new strategies to cope with EPT related diseases (reviewed in Fox and Howlett, 2008).



The biosynthesis of EPTs has been studied using isotopically labeled potential precursors. The biosynthesis of gliotoxin and sirodesmin PL has been extensively studied and the basic biosynthetic route has been established based on the incorporation of isotopically labeled potential precursors.

1.4.1 Biosynthesis of gliotoxin (225)

The first reported EPTs was gliotoxin (**225**), a toxin produced by *Gliocladium fimbriatum*. Gliotoxin was also isolated from *Aspergillus* spp. and *Penicillium* spp. (reviewed in Rezanka et al., 2006). Studies of the biosynthesis of gliotoxin started in 1958 with isotopically labeled potential precursors (Suhadolnik and Chenoweth, 1958). DL-[7a-¹⁴C]tryptophan (**234a**), [2-¹⁴C]sodium acetate, DL-[methyl-¹⁴C]methionine (**235a**), DL-[1-¹⁴C]Phenylalanine (**232a**), DL-[2-¹⁴C]Phenylalanine (**232b**) were fed to cultures of *Trichoderma viride* (syn. *Gliocladium viride*) incubated in a chemically defined medium (Scheme 1.5). DL-[7a-¹⁴C]tryptophan was not incorporated into gliotoxin, instead, DL-[1-¹⁴C]Phenylalanine (**232a**) and DL-[2-¹⁴C]Phenylalanine (**232b**) were incorporated into gliotoxin (**225**) efficiently (4-12%). These results suggested that, although gliotoxin (**225**) has an indole related moiety, this moiety derived from phenylalanine not tryptophan (Suhadolnik and Chenoweth, 1958).



Scheme 1.5. Incorporation of potential isotopically labeled precursors into gliotoxin (225). (X denotes no incorporation of potential precursors into gliotoxin (225)).

[1-¹⁴C]Serine (**233a**) was incorporated into C-3,3a or 4 of gliotoxin more efficiently than [3-¹⁴C]serine (**233b**) (Winstead and Suhadolnik, 1960). The result suggested that serine is another potential biosynthetic precursor to gliotoxin. The incorporation ratio of DL-[methyl-¹⁴C]methionine (**235a**), [3-¹⁴C]serine (**233b**) and [1-¹⁴C]serine (**233a**) into the N-methyl group of gliotoxin were about 72, 25 and 0% in total radioactivity in gliotoxin obtained from each of the feeding experiments respectively (determined after hydrolysis of gliotoxin). It seemed methionine is the potential N-methyl donor of the N-methyl group of gliotoxin and serine is also utilized as a methyl group donor (Suhadolnik and Chenoweth, 1958).

Winstead and Suhadolnik (1960) also found that m-[2,3,3,5,7,8,9- ${}^{3}H_{7}$]tyrosine (236a) was incorporated into gliotoxin (225) in a higher ratio than that of [2,3,3,5,6,7,8,9- ${}^{3}H_{8}$]phenylalanine (232c), which strongly indicated that hydroxylation of the phenyl ring can happen before the coupling or cyclization of both amino acids. However, this was proved not to be the case. Ten years later, Bűlock and Ryles found that neither m-tyrosine nor o-tyrosine is the intermediate in the biosynthetic pathway of gliotoxin. Feeding of isotopically labeled m-tyrosine (236b, 236c and 236d), o-tyrosine (238a) and 2,3-dihydroxyl-tyrosine (237a) led to about zero incorporation (Scheme 1.6). More important evidence was the intact incorporation of [2,3,4,5,6- ${}^{2}H_{5}$]phenylalanine (232d) into gliotoxin, which eliminated the possibility of formation of m-tyrosine as an intermediate in the biosynthesis of gliotoxin (Bűlock and Ryles, 1970). An epoxide

pathway (Scheme 1.7) was proposed similar to the formation of aranotin (**264**) (see Section 1.4.3, scheme 1.17) (Neuss et al., 1968). In another independent experiment carried out by Johns and Kirby, $[3-{}^{3}H]$ phenylalanine (**232e**) was incorporated into gliotoxin (**225**) without losing or migration of ${}^{3}H$ at the C-3 position of phenylalanine (Johns and Kirby, 1971). Only DL- $[1-{}^{14}C]$ phenylalanine (**232e**) was incorporated into gliotoxin (**225**) when a mixture of DL- $[2^{2},4^{2},6^{2}-{}^{3}H_{3}]$ -m-tyrosine (**236d**) and DL- $[1-{}^{14}C]$ phenylalanine (**232e**) were fed into the cultures of *G. deliquescens* (previously called *T. viride*). Again these results demonstrated that hydroxybenzene derivatives are not intermediates in the biosynthetic pathway of gliotoxin (Johns and Kirby, 1985).



Scheme 1.6. Incorporation of potential isotopically labeled precursors into gliotoxin (225). (X denotes no incorporation of potential precursors into gliotoxin (225)).



Scheme 1.7. Plausible intermediates **239a** and **239b** involved in the proposed epoxide pathway of formation of gliotoxin (**225**) (Bűlock and Ryles, 1970).

When $[^{15}N]$ glycine was added into the culture of *T. viride*, both nitrogen atoms in gliotoxin were labeled although not to the same extent. Further, when a mixture of $[1-^{14}C]$ phenylalanine and $[^{15}N]$ phenylalanine was fed to the culture of *T. viride*, the nitrogen atom showed very large isotope dilution (11 times) compared with the carbon atom (4 times). These results indicated that an extensive deamination and reamination must occur when these labeled precursors were fed to the culture. Therefore, it is difficult to determine whether phenylalanine is incorporated intact into gliotoxin (Bose et al., 1968).



Scheme 1.8. Incorporation results of **232g**, **232h** and **232i** into gliotoxin in culture of *Trichoderma viride*. (X denotes no incorporation of potential precursors into gliotoxin (**225**)).

When DL-[3',3'-²H₂]phenylalanine (**232g**) was fed to the culture of *T. viride*, a monodeuterated gliotoxin (**225a**) was observed, in which ²H at the pro-S position in

phenylalanine was not incorporated into gliotoxin (**225**) (Bűlock et al., 1972). No incorporation of deuterated phenylalanine was observed when DL-3'*S*-[3'-²H] - phenylalanine (**232h**) was fed to the culture of *T. viride*. Whileas L-3'*R*-[3'-²H]-phenylalanine (**232i**) was determined to be incorporated into gliotoxin, efficiently (scheme 1.8). It seemed that when phenylalanine was fed to the culture of *T. viride*, a process independent of the biosynthesis of gliotoxin happened that caused the loss of H_s at the C-3 position of phenylalanine. To further confirm this conclusion, DL-[1-¹⁴C-3-³H₂]-phenylalanine (**232j**) was fed to the culture of *T. viride* and harvested after a short incubation time (**22** hours). Examination of the ¹⁴C: ³H ratio of DL-[1-¹⁴C-3-³H₂]-phenylalanine (**232j**) fed and recovered from the culture of *T. viride* indicated that up to a 35% loss of ³H happened in this short incubation time during which the biosynthesis of gliotoxin had not started yet. Therefore, a β methylene proton exchange happened when phenylalanine was fed to the culture of *T. viride*, which is independent of the biosynthesis of gliotoxin. The authors proposed that this β methylene proton exchange involved an intermediate of α-keto-acid (Bűlock et al., 1972).



Although it is generally accepted that dioxopiperazines are the intermediates corresponding to their final EPTs, in early biosynthetic studies of gliotoxin, two groups had different results and explanations. MacDonald and Slater reported that *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ser) (**240**) did not incorporate into gliotoxin, and proposed that the true intermediate is enzyme-bound (Macdonald and Slater, 1975). However, Bűlock and Leigh (1975) reported an intact incorporation of *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ser) into gliotoxin with a high incorporation ($21\pm3\%$) in the culture of *T. viride*. Therefore, Bűlock and Leigh concluded that *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ser) into gliotoxin and that no incorporation of *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ser) into gliotoxin was due to two possible reasons (Bűlock and Leigh, 1975). The first one, which was less likely, was that a different

fungus (*Penicillium terlikowsksi*) was used by MacDonald and Slater. The second reason was that the excess amount of *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ser) fed to the culture by MacDonald and Slater was liable to generate the misleading results. However, the results from Bűlock and co-workers also need some consideration due to the high dilution of ¹⁴C (\times 59 \pm 7) (Bűlock and Leigh, 1975).



Scheme 1.9. Incorporation results of **240a** – **240d** into gliotoxin (**225**) in cultures of *Trichoderma viride*. (X denotes no incorporation of potential precursors into gliotoxin (**225**)).

Four stereoisomers of *cyclo*-([4'-³H]-phe-[3-¹⁴C]-ser) (**240a** – **240d**) were fed to the culture of *T. viride*, only *cyclo*-([4'-³H]-L-phe-[3-¹⁴C]-L-ser) (**240a**) gave an efficient incorporation (48%) and constant ³H: ¹⁴C ratio between precursor (**240**) and gliotoxin (**225**), (Scheme 1.9, Kirby et al., 1978). The other three isomers had only trace amounts of incorporation. These results support the results obtained by Bűlock and Leigh (1975). Further, radioactive *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ser) (1.3% radioactivity) was recovered from cultures of *T. viride* fed successively with non-radioactive *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ser) (**240**) and L-[U-¹⁴C] phenylalanine. These results suggest that dioxopiperazine *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ser) (**240**) is "either an intermediate, or is interconvertible with an intermediate, on the biosynthetic pathway from phenylalanine to gliotoxin" (Kirby et al., 1978).



No incorporation of compound **241** into gliotoxin suggested that N-methylation is not a step immediately after the formation of dioxopiperazine. Linear dipeptides **242** and **243** were not incorporated into gliotoxin intact, but were incorporated into gliotoxin after they first were hydrolyzed to amino acids. Once again these results support the claim that cyclo-(L-Phe-L-Ser) (**240**) is resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis and is incorporated into gliotoxin intact (Boente et al., 1991).



Scheme 1.10. Biosynthesis and catabolism of gliotoxin (**225**). (Adapted from references: Bűlock and Leigh, 1975; Kirby et al., 1980; Boente et al., 1991; Johns and Kirby, 1985).

A new metabolite related to gliotoxin, bisdethiobis-(methylthio)gliotoxin (246), was isolated and its biosynthetic pathway was studied (Kirby et al., 1980). ¹⁴C-gliotoxin was incorporated into 246 (8.6% incorporation), whileas ¹⁴C-246 was not converted into

gliotoxin by *T. viride*. Therefore, **246** was biosynthesized irreversibly from gliotoxin through reduction and methylation by *T. viride* (Kirby et al., 1980) (Scheme 1.10).

Interestingly, *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ala) (**247**), an unnatural precursor of gliotoxin, was converted to an analogue of gliotoxin (**248**) by *T. viride* (Scheme 1.11). The conversion was about 20% without appreciable dilution, despite a significant structural difference between serine and alanine, i.e. –OH to –H. Gliotoxin was not detected when *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ala) was fed to the culture. These results suggested that enzymes responsible for N-methylation and sulfur insertion in *T. viride* had broader ability to catalyze different substrates (Kirby and Robins, 1976).



Scheme 1.11. Incorporation of *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-ala) (**247**) into analogue of gliotoxin (**248**) by *Trichoderma viride*.

While the majority of EPTs have 3*R*,6*R*-configurations, hyalodendrin (249) produced by *Hyalodendron* sp. represented a rare EPT of 3*S*,6*S*- configurations (Ahmed and Przybylska, 1977). 3*S*,6*S*-Didethiobis(methylthio)hyalodendrin (250), the co-metabolite of hyalodendrin (249), was predominant under high incubation temperature and long incubation time. The biosynthesis of 250, which was easily purified by crystallization, was studied using isotopically labeled compounds. Only cyclo-(L-[U-¹⁴C]-phe-L-ser), the same stereoisomer precursor of gliotoxin, was incorporated into 3*S*,6*S*-didethiobis(methylthio) hyalodendrin (250) by *Hyalodendron* sp. (Boente et al., 1991). The other three stereoisomers (240b, 240c and 240d) were not incorporated into 250, which indicated that cyclo-(L-Phe-L-Ser) (240) is the common precursor for EPTs containing phenylalanine and serine moieties in the skeleton. Further, the result also indicated that the introduction of sulfur does not proceed with stereospecific retention of

configuration. The authors proposed an imino compound (**245**) as an intermediate which could be attacked from either side of the imino bond (Scheme 1.12, Boente et al., 1991).



Scheme 1. 12. Proposed biosynthesis of metabolites of 246 and 250.

1.4.2 Biosynthesis of sirodesmin PL (165)

The biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL has been studied for more than two decades (Bűlock and Clough, 1992; Ferezou et al., 1980). $[1-^{14}C]$ -, $[1-^{13}C]$ -, and $[1,2-^{13}C_2]$ -acetates were incorporated into sirodesmin PL. Analysis of the ¹³C NMR incorporation pattern from $[1,2-^{13}C_2]$ -acetate (**253a**) indicated that C-10, C-16, C-11 and C-18 were derived from the intact incorporation of $[1,2-^{13}C_2]$ -acetate (**253a**) and C-17 was derived from decarboxylated acetate moiety of mevalonic acid (Scheme 1.13). These results suggested a mevalonic origin of the tetrahydrofuranone ring of sirodesmin PL (Férézou et al., 1980b). L-[U-¹⁴C]Serine (**233c**), L-[U-¹⁴C]tyrosine (**251**), *cyclo*-(L-[U-¹⁴C]-tyr-L-ser) (**252**) and cyclo-*O*-(3',3'-dimethylally)-L-[U-¹⁴C]try-L-ser

([¹⁴C]phomamide) (**171**) were incorporated into sirodesmin PL (**165**). [¹⁴C]Phomamide (**171**) was incorporated into sirodesmin PL (**165**) with the highest ratio (25.5%), followed by *cyclo*-(L-[U-¹⁴C]-tyr-L-ser) (**252**) (12.5%). L-[U-¹⁴C]Serine (**233c**) and L-[U-¹⁴C]tyrosine (**251**) were very slightly incorporated into sirodesmin PL, 0.29% and 0.49% respectively. Based on these results a biosynthetic pathway (Scheme 1.13) was proposed (Férézou et al., 1980b).



Scheme 1.13. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL (**165**) (adapted from Férézou et al., 1980).

Bűlock and co-workers also demonstrated incorporation of $[1,2^{-13}C_2]$ -acetate (253a) into sirodesmin PL and proposed a more detailed steric rearrangement from the

dimethylallyl moiety to the tetrahydrofuranone ring (Bűlock and Clough, 1992). Doubly labeled L- $[3,5-{}^{3}H_{2}, U-{}^{14}C]$ tyrosine (**251**) was incorporated as expected with retention of one ${}^{3}H$ and nine ${}^{14}C$ atoms into sirodesmin A, an epimer of sirodesmin PL at C-8, suggesting that a precursor of sirodesmin PL is L-tyrosine (**251**) (Bűlock and Clough, 1992).



In addition to phomamide (171), phomalirazine (170) was also isolated from cultures of *L. maculans*, and was proposed to be an intermediate in the biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL (Pedras et al., 1989). The isolation of 3-(methylthio)phomamide (172) also gave a hint of when sulfur is introduced into sirodesmin PL (165) (Pedras et al., 1990). The biosynthesis of sirodesmin PL was proposed to follow the scheme 1.14.



Scheme 1.14. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL (**165**) by *Leptosphaeria maculans*. (postulated intermediates in brackets) (Pedras et al., 1989; Gardiner et al., 2004).

1.4.3 Biosynthesis of other EPTs

Biosynthesis of sporidesmin (**258**), produced by *Pithomycas chartarum*, was conducted with ³H and ¹⁴C doubly labeled tryptophan **234b-234g**. When tryptophan with *3R*-tritium label, i.e. (*3R*)-[3-³H, 2-¹⁴C]tryptophan (**234b**) or (*3R*)-[3-³H, 3-¹⁴C]tryptophan (**234c**), was fed to a culture, the tritium in the sporidesmin (**258**) obtained was almost lost (>10% retention compared with ¹⁴C). Whereas when tritium was labeled at the 3*S* or 2' position of tryptophan, the tritium incorporated into sporidesmin had above 90% retention (Scheme 1.15). These results indicated that the configuration of C-3 in tryptophan remained the same when it was incorporated into sporidesmin, which suggested that the hydroxylation reaction at C-3 in sporidesmin is stereospecific (Kirby and Varley, 1974).



Scheme 1.15. Biosynthesis of 258 from 234 by cultures of *Pithomycas chartarum*.



Scheme 1.16. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of **260**. (Full line denoted the incorporation; dash line denoted the possible biotransformation).

Neuss, Boente and their co-workers demonstrated that phenylalanine (Neuss et al., 1968), and *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-phe) were incorporated into bisdethiobis(methylthio)acetylaranotin (**260**) efficiently (Boente et al., 1981), using radioactive labeled materials. But *cyclo*-(L-phe-D-phe) and *cyclo*-(D-phe-D-phe) did not

incorporate into bisdethiobis(methylthio)acetylaranotin (**260**) efficiently (Boente et al., 1981). The intact incorporation of *cyclo*-(L-[¹⁵N]phenyla1anyl-L-[1-¹³C]phenylalanyl) (**259**) suggested that *cyclo*-(L-phe-L-phe) is the possible intermediate in the biosynthesis of bisdethiobis(methylthio)acetylaranotin (**260**) (Scheme 1.16, Boente et al., 1981).

Later on, metabolite **261** was isolated from cultures of *A. terreus*, suggesting the possibility to introduce sulfur into bisdethiobis(methy1thio)acetylaranotin (**260**) immediately after the formation of dioxopiperazine ring (Kirby et al., 1983). Further, the authors demonstrated that **262** (3 H: 35 S ratio, 4.86) was incorporated into **260** with low dilution of 3 H, which suggested **262** was a biosynthetic precursor of **260**. However, the 3 H: 35 S ratio (3.82) was somewhat altered. Therefore, this conclusion has to be taken cautiously (Kirby et al., 1983).



Scheme 1. 17. Proposed biosynthetic pathway of aranotin (264).

The biosynthesis of aranotin (**264**) was also studied by feeding radioactive phenylalanine to the culture of *Avachniofus Aureus*. No further incorporation experiments have been done yet. Scheme 1.17 was the proposed biosynthetic pathway of aranotin (**264**) (Nagaraja.R et al., 1968; Neuss et al., 1968).

1.5 SUMMARY

The chemical interactions between fungi and plants are dynamic and involve metabolites such as phytotoxins and elicitors produced by fungi as well as phytoanticipins and phytoalexins produced by plants. Phytotoxins can damage plant tissues and help the colonization of fungi on plants. Elicitors, which are detrimental to the fungal colonization of plants, are evidence of the fungus-plant co-evolution. Some of the indisputable cell components or metabolites produced by fungi are signals that can be recognized by potential host plants through the selection of co-evolution. The recognition of elicitors will induce the plant defense responses which include for example, the production of phytoalexins and hypersensitive response. Induced phytoalexins and preformed phytoanticipins are two layers of a plant's chemical defenses, which most of the time are important to inhibit further growth of fungi.

More intriguing, another group of fungal pathogens are hemibiotrophic. They normally start biotrophic life style and become necrotrophic at a later stage of growth. Therefore, they possess the ability to produce HSTs and elicitor/virulence factors. The hemibiotrophic fungus *L. maculans* is an economically important phytopathogen from which HSTs phomalide (**179**) and depsilairdin (**183**) were isolated. But are these the only HSTs produced by *L. maculans*? Moreover, the elicitor/virulence factors produced by *L. maculans* are still unknown. A practical way to find elicitor/virulence factors and phytotoxins is to manipulate the medium components and incubation conditions (discussed in section 1.2.3.2). Therefore, elicitors and more of the potential phytotoxins produced by *L. maculans* will be discovered using a bioassay guided isolation from various cultures of *L. maculans*.

CHAPTER 2: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.1 POTENTIAL ELICITORS FROM LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS

To search for elicitors and phytotoxins produced by *L. maculans*, metabolites produced in different culture conditions were analyzed by HPLC and isolated using an elicitor-toxin activity guided assay. Two basic media, minimal medium (MM) and potato dextrose broth (PDB) medium as well as several modified MM and PDB media were employed for the preparation of the cultures of *L. maculans*. The various culture conditions are summarized in Table 2.1. The elicitor-toxin activity assays were carried out employing *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass (brown mustard, resistant to *L. maculans*), *B. napus* cv. Westar (canola, susceptible to *L. maculans*) and *Sinapis alba* cv. Ochre (white mustard, resistant to *L. maculans*). Sixteen metabolites were isolated from *L. maculans* for the first time, among them, eleven metabolites are new. A detailed isolation procedure of these metabolites is described in the experimental section. In the following sections HPLC analysis of the metabolites produced under various culture conditions is described first, followed by a brief description of the isolation of the metabolites. Lastly, the structure determination of the new metabolites and the metabolites isolated for the first time from *L. maculans* is described and discussed.

#	Media	Amendments ^a	Days of incubation before addition of
		(concentration)	amendments
1	MM	-	-
2	MM	NaCl (0.17 M)	-
3	MM	NaCl (0.17 M)	3
4	MM	NaCl (0.34 M)	3
5	MM	NaCl (0.34 M)	4
6	MM	NaCl (0.68 M)	3
7	MM	NaCl (0.68 M)	4
8	MM	NaCl (0.68 M)	5
9	PDB	-	-
10	PDB	25 °C	-
11	PDB	27 °C	-
12	PDB	29 °C	-
13	MM	29 °C	-
14	MM	MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O (2.0×10^{-4} M)	-
15	MM	MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O (1.0×10^{-3} M)	-
16	MM	MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O (4.0×10^{-3} M)	-
17	MM	- thiamine	-
18	MM	- thiamine	-
		+ leaves of brown mustard	
19	MM	Spirobrassinin (1.0×10 ⁻⁴	3
		M)	
20	MM	Camalexin (1.0×10 ⁻⁴ M)	3
21	PDB	Spirobrassinin (1.0×10 ⁻⁴	3
		M)	
22	PDB	Camalexin (1.0×10^{-4} M)	3
23	V_8	Glucose $(5.5 \times 10^{-2} \text{ M})$	-

Table 2.1. Culture conditions used to grow *Leptosphaeria maculans*.

^aAll the cultures were incubated at room temperature (23°C) unless stated otherwise.

2.1.1 Metabolites produced in minimal media

2.1.1.1 Standard conditions

Minimal medium (MM) is a chemically defined medium. Similar to the previous observation (Férézou et al., 1977 and 1980a), when *L. maculans* was incubated in MM under standard conditions (Table 2.1, entry 1), sirodesmin PL (**165**), deacetylsirodesmin PL (**166**) and phomamide (**171**) were detected as the major metabolites in culture broth (Figure 2.1). However, these metabolites have not been tested for their elicitor activities. Also, most of the minor metabolites from the culture broth and metabolites from mycelia have not been isolated and tested for their elicitor and phytotoxin activities. Therefore, an elicitor-toxin activity assay guided isolation was carried out to find elicitors and potentially new phytotoxins produced by *L. maculans* in MM under standard conditions.



Figure 2.1. HPLC chromatogram of EtOAc extract of broth of *Leptosphaeria maculans* incubated in minimal medium (MM).

A total of 20 liters of the cultures of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was prepared in standard MM. After 7 days of incubation, mycelia were separated from the broth by vacuum filtration and the broth was extracted with EtOAc. The EtOAc layer was concentrated to give 7.2 g residue, the residue (EtOAc extract) was assayed, showing elicitor-toxin activity. Therefore the EtOAc extract was fractioned using various chromatographic methods to give metabolites **267** to **270** and **272** to **275** as well as **288** (Section 4.2.1.1). The aqueous layer did not show elicitor-toxin activity. Therefore it was autoclaved and discarded. The mycelia were then extracted with MeOH. The MeOH layer was concentrated and the residue was resuspended in MeOH/H₂O (1:1 v/v) then extracted with hexane. The hexane layer was concentrated to give 3.4 g residue and the residue (hexane extract) showed elicitor activity. Therefore, the hexane extract was fractioned to give metabolites **14** and **31**, as described in Section 4.2.1.1. The MeOH/H₂O (1:1 v/v) layer was concentrated to give 12.6 g residue. This residue did not show elicitor activity, and D-mannitol (**301**) was isolated as the major component.

Leptomaculin A (267) and leptomaculin B (268)

The molecular formula of compound 267 (C₁₉H₂₇N₃O₆S) obtained by HRMS-EI indicated eight degrees of unsaturation. The ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) of compound 267 (Table 2.2) displayed a pattern similar to that of sirodesmin PL (165), i.e. two singlets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.07, 3H, and 1.00, 3H), a doublet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.26, 3H) and a quartet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.87, 1H) accounting for all protons of ring A, two doublets of doublets (δ_H 2.69, 1H, and 1.84 1H) coupled to another doublet of doublets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.59, 1H) accounting for H₂-12 and H-13 of ring B. Two doublets (δ_H 2.93, 1H and δ_H 2.24, 1H) accounted for H₂-5 in ring C. A singlet (δ_H 3.44, 3H) accounting for the N-methyl group of ring D. After D₂O exchange, a doublet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.07, 1H) disappeared and another doublet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.91, 1H) became a singlet, accounting for coupling due to hydroxyl group at C-7 and H-7, respectively. Moreover a singlet at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.20, 1H disappeared accounting for hydroxyl group at C-6. According to this analysis, compound 267 has the same skeleton in rings A, B and C as those of sirodesmin PL (165). A doublet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.84, 3H) became a singlet and a quartet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.55, 1H) disappeared after D₂O exchange, which indicated a secondary methyl amide. The methylene hydroxyl group corresponding to the OH group at C-14 in sirodesmin skeleton was not observed. A methylene AB spin system ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.23, dd, 1H, and 3.87, dd, 1H) indicated that the methylene hydroxyl group was not present. Therefore, the structure of compound 267 was different from that of sirodesmin PL (165) at ring D.
Four carbonyl carbons were displayed in the ¹³C NMR spectrum. The carbonyl carbons at δ_{C} 223.4 and 157.4 were assigned to be C-9 and C-1, respectively, as in sirodesmin PL (**165**). δ_{C} 171.3 was assigned to be the carbonyl C-15 of an amide moiety. The δ_{C} 185.1 was assigned as a thio carbonyl. The position of the amide carbonyl was assigned based on HMBC 2D NMR correlations (Figure 2.2). C-15 (δ_{C} 171.3) showed correlations with H₂-5 (δ_{H} 2.93 and 2.24), H₂-3 (δ_{H} 4.23 and 3.87) and H₃-16 (δ_{H} 2.84). The nitrogen methyl H₃-14 (δ_{H} 3.44) showed correlations with C-3 (δ_{C} 59.5) and C-2 (δ_{C} 185.1), H₂-3 (δ_{H} 4.23 and 3.87) showed correlation with C-2 (δ_{C} 185.1). Therefore structure **267** was proposed. Crystallization of **267** yielded single crystals by slow evaporation of a solution of metabolite **267** in MeOH-CH₂Cl₂-hexane (1:5:4). The X-ray diffraction data (CCDC 684017) confirmed the proposed structure of compound **267** (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.2. Selected HMBC correlations of leptomaculin A (267).



Figure 2.3. X-ray ORTEP diagram of leptomaculin A (267).

The ¹H and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) spectra of compound **268** (Table 2.2) were similar to those of compound 267. The characteristic resonances of ring A, B and C in the sirodesmin skeleton were observed, although three proton resonances were somehow overlapped at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.84-3.91 which accounted for H-3b, H-7 and H-11. The ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆) of compound 268 showed well separated spin systems, and the D₂O exchange results were consistent with those of compound 267. The major difference between compound 268 and 267 was that the thiocarbonyl at δ_C 185.1 in compound 267 was shifted upfield to $\delta_{\rm C}$ 155.5 in compound **268**. This change is in agreement with the molecular formula of compound 268 (C₁₉H₂₇N₃O₇, HRMS-EI), i.e., the thiocarbonyl was replaced by an oxygen carbonyl. The stereochemistry of compound 268 was assigned based on the NOESY 2D NMR (Figure 2.4). H-7 ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.61) showed correlations with H-12b (δ_H 1.71) and H-5a (δ_H 2.62). These two correlations were consistent with the stereochemistry of sirodesmin PL (165), which suggested that H-7 ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.61) and H-5a $(\delta_H 2.62)$ were on the lower face of the B/C rings. Therefore, H-5b $(\delta_H 2.09)$ was on the upper face of the B/C rings. H-5b ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.09) showed a correlation with H-3a ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.84), indicating that H-3a ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.84) and H-5b ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.09) were close in space and both were on the upper face of the C/D rings. Based on the above analysis, carbonyl carbon C-15 of compound 268 was on the lower face of C/D rings, which was consistent with compound **267** as shown in Figures 2.2 and 2.4.



Figure 2.4. Selected NOESY correlations of leptomaculin B (268).

	Leptomaculin A (267) (CD ₃ OD)		Leptomaculin B (268) ((CD ₃) ₂ SO)	
C /H #	δ_{C}	$\delta_{\rm H}$	δ_{C}	$\delta_{\rm H}$
1	158.2		155.5	
2	186.7		157.4	
3	60.4	4.03, 1H, d, (13.4)	56.1	3.75, 1H, d, (12.9)
		4.14, 1H, d, (13.4)		3.94, 1H, d, (12.9)
4	69.8		67.8	
5	46.0	2.83, 1H, d, (14.3)	45.2	2.62, 1H, d, (14.1)
		2.25, 1H, d, (14.3)		2.09, 1H, d, (14.0)
6	85.8		83.2	
7	80.4	3.80, 1H, s	78.4	3.61, 1H, d, (5.8)
8	92.7		91.3	
9	223.1		221.7	
10	48.6		46.9	
11	80.9	3.87, 1H, q, (6.2)	79.2	3.83, 1H, q, (6.2)
12	37.5	1.93, 1H, dd, (14.9, 5.7)	35.0	1.71, 1H, dd, (14.4, 7.1)
		2.57, 1H, dd, (14.9, 9.4)		2.44, 1H, dd, (14.4, 9.1)
13	69.3	4.50, 1H, dd, (9.3, 5.6)	66.0	4.15, 1H, dd, (8.9, 7.1)
14	43.9	3.41, 3H, s	34.3	2.82, 3H, s
15	173.8		171.5	
16	27.3	2.76, 3H, s	26.5	2.65, 3H, d, (4.8)
17	20.4	1.03, 3H, s	19.6	0.97, 3H, s
18	17.3	0.98, 3H, s	16.3	0.87, 3H, s
19	14.7	1.22, 3H, d, (6.3)	14.1	1.14, 3H, d, (6.3)
Others				C-6 -OH, 4.60, s
				C-7 -OH, 5.57, d, (5.6)
				-NH, 8.32, q, (5.0)

Table 2.2. ¹H NMR (500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz) of leptomaculins A (**267**) and B (**268**).

Leptomaculin C (269) and deacetylleptomaculin C (270)

The molecular formula of compound **269** ($C_{20}H_{27}N_2O_8$) obtained by HRMS-ESI indicated nine degrees of unsaturation. The absence of sulfur atoms indicated that compound 269 did not contain a sulfur bridge as that in sirodesmin PL. The ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) of compound 269 (Table 2.3) displayed a similar pattern as that of sirodesmin PL (165), i.e. two singlets (δ_H 1.06, 3H, and 1.01, 3H), a doublet (δ_H 1.26, 3H) and a quartet (δ_H 3.88, 1H) accounting for all protons of ring A. Two doublets of doublets (δ_H 2.54, 1H, and 1.59 1H) coupled to another doublet of doublets ($\delta_H 4$. 35, 1H) accounting for H₂-12 and H-13 of ring B. Two doublets at δ_H 3.50 (1H) and δ_H 2.54 (1H) accounted for H₂-5 in ring C. The hydroxyl group at C-6 was displayed at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.27, but no signal for hydroxyl group at C-14 was observed. Upon acetylation of compound 269 with pyridine and Ac₂O, only one acetyl group was introduced. In the ¹³C NMR of compound **269**, two carbonyl carbons (δ_C 167.2 and 166.6) accounting for C-1 and C-3, and δ_C 169.6 and δ_C 221.2 accounting for acetyl carbonyl C-19 and ketone carbonyl C-9, respectively. All four carbonyl groups as well as rings A, B, C and D accounted for eight degrees of unsaturation. Compound 269 had the same nine degrees of unsaturation as sirodesmin PL (165) ($C_{20}H_{26}N_2O_8S_2$). One of the methylene protons at C-5 was substantially shielded (δ_H 3.50 and 2.54, H₂-5), which is an ABq (δ_H 3.27, H₂-5) in sirodesmin PL (165). Therefore, the methylene hydroxyl group was attached to C-4 to form an ether bridge. The configurations of C-2 and -4 were assigned to be 2S and 4S, i.e. the ether bridge was above the plane of rings C and D, as shown below. Assuming that compound 269 has the same biosynthetic origin as sirodesmin PL (165), the absolute configurations at C-6, 7, 8, 10, 11 and 13 were assigned similar to sirodesmin PL (165) and compound 269. Since H₂-14 and H-13 of compound 269 showed correlation in NOE experiments, therefore, protons H₂-14 were on the upper face of the C/D rings, i.e. cis relative to H-13. From a more polar fraction, Compound 270, a deacetyl derivative of compound 269, was isolated and confirmed the structure assignment of compound **270**.

	269		270	271
C#	δ_{C}	δ_{H}	$\delta_{\rm H}$	$\delta_{\rm H}$
1	167.2			
2	61.8	4.00, 1H, bs	4.00, 1H, d, (2.3)	4.01, 1H, bs
3	166.6			
4	95.3			
5	42.9	3.50, 1H, d, (16.2)	3.46, 1H, d, (15.4)	3.92, 1H, d, (16.7)
		2.54, 1H, d, (16.3)	2.39, 1H, d, (15.4)	2.68, 1H, d, (16.7)
6	84.6			
7	80.4	4.95, 1H, s	3.99, 1H, bs	5.64, 1H, s
8	89.4			
9	221.2			
10	47.6			
11	80.3	3.88, 1H, q, (6.3)	3.85, 1H, q, (6.4)	3.70, 1H, q, (6.3)
12	35.9	2.54, 1H, dd, (13.9,	2.45, 1H, dd, (14.5,	2.32, 1H, dd, (14.8,
		8.0)	8.3)	8.5)
		1.59, 1H, dd, (14.0,	1.85, 1H, dd, (14.9,	1.88, 1H, bd, (14.6)
		8.2)	3.8)	
13	67.0	4.35, 1H, dd, (8.1, 8.1)	4.29, 1H, dd, (8.3, 3.7)	4.72, 1H, bd, (8.3)
14	66.1	4.07, 1H, dd, (9.1, 2.4)	4.05, 1H, dd, (8.9, 2.2)	4.04, 1H, bd, (9.7)
		4.01, 1H, bd, (8.4)	4.00, 1H, bd, (9.1)	3.96, 1H, bd, (8.8)
15	31.7	3.10, 3H, s	3.10, 3H, s	3.09, 3H, s
16	20.5	1.06, 3H, s	1.04, 3H, s	1.02, 3H, s
17	17.6	1.01, 3H, s	1.01, 3H, s	0.93, 3H, s
18	14.4	1.25, 3H, d, (6.3)	1.24, 3H, d, (6.4)	1.24, 3H, d, (6.3)
19	169.6			
20	20.7	2.10, 3H, s		2.09, 3H, s
22				2.04, 3H, s

Table 2.3. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (*J* in Hz) of leptomaculin C (**269**) and ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) of deacetylleptomaculin C (**270**) and deacetylleptomaculin C (**271**).



Leptomaculin D (272) and E (274) and deacetylleptomaculin D (273) and E (275)

Metabolite 272 had structure moieties similar to sirodesmin PL (165) in rings A and B according to ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) (Table 2.4); two singlets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.11, 3H, and 1.03, 3H), a doublet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.25, 3H) and a quartet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.95, 1H) accounting for all protons of ring A. Two doublets of doublets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.92, 1H, and 1.63 1H) coupled to another doublet of doublets (δ_H 4. 48, 1H) accounted for H₂-12 and H-13 of ring B. As well, a much lower field singlet (H-7, δ_H 4. 86, 1H) typical of acetylated OH group at C-7 (singlet acetyl methyl group at $\delta_H 2.10$, 3H). Two D₂O exchangeable resonances at $\delta_H 3.56$ and 2.44 are OH groups at C-6 and -14 respectively. A singlet at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.39 (1H) indicated the presence of a double bond in compound 272. Two sp² carbons at $\delta_{\rm C}$ 134.3 and 119.4 in ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound 272 (Table 2.5) showed correlation with this low field singlet in HMQC and HMBC spectral data. The replacement of the ABq resonance as H₂-5 in sirodesmin PL (165) with a singlet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.39, 1H) in the spectrum of compound 272 indicated that the position of double bond was between C-4 and C-5. A broad doublet at $\delta_H 4.08$ (1H) and a broad doublet of doublets at $\delta_H 4.00$ (1H) coupled to a doublet of doublets at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.03 (1H) were assigned to H₂-14 and H-2, respectively. Based on the above analysis, the structure of metabolite 272 was proposed.



Table 2.4. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz) of leptomaculins D (272) and E (274) and deacetylleptomaculins D (273) and E (275).

Н	Leptomaculin D	Leptomaculin E	Deacetylleptomacul	Deacetylleptomacul
#	$(\textbf{272})\delta_{H}$	$(\textbf{274}) \delta_H$	in D (273) δ_H	in E (275) $\delta_{\rm H}$
2	4.03, 1H,	4.01, 1H,	4.02, 1H, s	4.00, 1H, s
	dd, (3.1, 2.0)	dd, (3.6, 1.7)		
5	6.39, 1H, s	6.39, 1H, s	6.08, 1H, s	6.15, 1H, s
7	4.86, 1H, s	4.85, 1H, s	3.94, 1H, s	3.93, 1H, s
11	3.95, 1H, q, (6.4)	3.94, 1H, q, (6.3)	3.88, 1H, q, (6.3)	3.95, 1H, q, (6.3)
12	1.63, 1H,	1.55, 1H,	1.60, 1H,	1.72, 1H,
	dd, (14.0, 9.0)	dd, (13.9, 8.9)	dd, (14.3, 7.1)	dd, (14.1, 7.3)
	2.92, 1H,	2.85, 1H,	2.72, 1H,	2.80, 1H,
	dd, (14.0, 8.5)	dd, (13.9, 8.7)	dd, (14.3, 8.5)	dd, (14.1, 8.7)
13	4.48, 1H,	4.50, 1H,	4.55, 1H,	4.48, 1H,
	dd, (8.8, 8.7)	dd, (8.7, 8.7)	dd, (8.3, 7.3)	dd, (7.9, 7.9)
14	4.00, 1H,	3.99, 1H,	4.05, 1H,	4.01, 1H,
	dd, (11.2, 3.4)	dd, (11.2, 3.6)	dd, (11.9, 2.8)	dd, (11.8, 12.1)
	4.08, 1H,	4.09, 1H,	4.07, 1H,	4.05, 1H,
	dd, (11.2, 2.0)	dd, (11.2, 3.6)	dd, (11.8, 3.1)	dd, (11.8, 11.6)
15	3.07, 3H, s	3.08, 3H, s	3.09, 3H, s	3.08, 3H, s
16	1.11, 3H, s	1.11, 3H, s	1.04, 3H, s	1.09, 3H, s
17	1.03, 3H, s	1.03, 3H, s	1.00, 3H, s	1.01, 3H, s
18	1.25, 3H, d, (6.4)	1.25, 3H, d, (6.3)	1.22, 3H, d, (6.3)	1.24, 3H, d, (6.3)
20	2.10, 3H, s	2.09, 3H, s		

Compound **274**, an epimer of compound **272**, was isolated from the fraction containing compound **272** by PTLC using multiple developments. These two metabolites were very similar in all the aspects of ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR data (Tables 2.4 and 2.5). In order to confirm the skeleton and stereochemistry of compound **272** and **274**, attempts

to obtain crystals or the Mosher ester derivative (282) of compound 272 (Scheme 2.1, Ward and Rhee, 1991) failed due to the limited amount of compound. Later, the structures of compounds 272 and 274 were confirmed by the preparation of the diacetyl derivatives of compounds **281a** and **281b** from sirodesmin PL (165) (Scheme 2.1). The disulfur bridge of sirodesmin PL was readily reduced using PPh₃ and the resulting sirodesmin H (167) was derivatized (Ac₂O) to give compound 276. After hydrolysis to remove the acetyl group from the primary hydroxyl at C-14 of compound 276, a pair of epimers, compounds 280a and 280b, were obtained after reaction of the hydrolysis product of compound 276 (Raney nickel in MeOH at room temperature for one hour). Compounds 280a and 280b were separated and acetylated to give compounds 281a and 281b, respectively. Treatment of naturally occurring metabolites 272 and 274 with pyridine/acetic anhydride gave two products which are identical to compounds 281a and **281b**, respectively (Scheme 2.1). Therefore, the structures of compounds **272** and **274** were confirmed. Another pair of epimers compounds 273 and 275 were isolated from a more polar fraction. Their structures were determined to be the deacetyl derivatives of compounds 272 and 274 from analysis of their spectroscopic data and preparation of their acetyl derivatives **281a** and **281b**.

С	Leptomaculin	Leptomaculin	Deacetylleptomaculin	Deacetylleptomaculin
#	$D~(\textbf{272})~\delta_C$	E (274) δ _C	$D(273)\delta_C$	E (275) δ _C
1	161.6	162.2	162.3	161.5
2	65.9	66.1	66.4	66.4
3	157.1	157.3	157.9	157.7
4	134.3	134.2	134.4	134.2
5	119.4	119.4	118.2	118.6
6	83.8	83.8	85.1	85.1
7	79.0	78.9	79.2	79.1
8	88.5	88.3	89.9	90.1
9	222.4	222.3	222.4	222.6
10	47.7	47.7	47.9	47.9
11	80.6	80.6	80.4	80.8
12	34.6	35.1	35.6	34.9
13	67.0	66.4	66.8	66.9
14	62.0	61.9	61.6	61.8
15	32.3	32.4	32.5	32.4
16	20.7	20.7	20.5	20.4
17	17.6	17.7	17.2	17.2
18	14.6	14.6	14.7	14.6
19	169.7	169.6		
20	20.7	20.7		

Table 2.5. ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) of leptomaculins D (**272**) and E (**274**) and deacetylleptomaculins D (**273**) and E (**275**).

However, the configuration of C-2 in compounds **272** to **275** could not be assigned directly from NOESY spectra, because of the overlap of signals of H-14 and H-2 (ranging from δ_H 3.9 to 4.1) in all four epimers. Acetylated derivatives of sirodesmin

PL (165) have been reported (Pedras et al, 1990) and displayed well separated resonances of H-14, H-13 and H-2 in ¹H NMR. Therefore diacetyl- (281b and 281a) and 6-mono acetyl- (280b and 280a) derivatives of new compounds 272 to 275 were prepared (Scheme 2.1). Both derivative pairs gave the desired spectra in which H-14, H-13 and H-2 were separated. Compound **280b** showed clear signals in the NOESY spectrum, displaying a correlation between H-13 and H-14a (Figure 2.5). By contrast, **280a** did not show correlation between H-13 and H-14 (Figure 2.5). Assuming that compounds 272 to 275 have the same configurations in rings A, B, C and D as sirodesmin PL (165), e. g. H-13 of compounds 272 to 275 were on the upper face of C/D rings. Therefore H_2 -14 is on the upper face of C/D rings in compounds 274 and 275. Further support came from comparison of the NOESY data of compounds 280a, 280b and 276. X-ray diffraction data of compound 276, which crystallized readily from a solution of CH_2Cl_2 -hexane (1: 9) to give a single crystal, indicated that compound 276 kept the same configurations as sirodesmin PL (165). As shown in Figure 2.5, compounds 276 and 280b have the same correlation between H-13 and H-14a, but no correlation between H-13 and H-14a was observed in compound **280a**. Therefore, the configuration of C-2 in compound **280b** is *S*, the same as compound **276**. Consequently, the configuration of C-2 in compounds 273 and 275 was determined to be S, and for the same reasons compounds 272 and 273 have *R* configuration at C-2 (Scheme 2.1).



Figure 2.5. Selected NOESY correlations of compounds 276, 280b and 280a.



Scheme 2.1. Chemical derivatization of sirodesmin PL (165) and leptomaculins D (272) and E (274).

It is worth noting that when compound 276 reacted with Raney nickel (Scheme 2.1), compound 279 with an exo-double bond was produced at room temperature

whereas compound **277** was obtained under reflux. Only after the acetyl group was removed by hydrolysis did addition of Raney nickel yield the pair of desired epimers **280a** and **280b.** However, deacetyl intermediate compound **278** was not stable (concentration or FCC purification), as intermolecular acetyl-transfer was observed. Therefore the reaction mixture of methanolysis of compound **276** was immediately used for the next step without further purification. The structure of compound **278** was proposed based on the ¹H NMR and LC-MS data of the methanolysis reaction mixture of compound **276**.

Cerebroside C (14) and D (31)

The molecular formula of compound 14 $[M+1]^+$ (C₄₃H₈₀NO₉) obtained by HRMS-ESI, indicated four degrees of unsaturation. The ¹H NMR spectrum of compound 14 showed most of the signals as broad peaks with no coupling and overlapping. When the ¹H NMR spectrum was recorded at 47 °C the signals from a likely sugar moiety and double bond protons became sharper. Therefore 1D and 2D NMR spectra were recorded at 47 °C in CDCl₃. The ¹H NMR spectrum characteristic of sphingolipids was observed and elucidated from COSY 2D NMR data. Two broad singlets at δ_H 4.01 and 3.87 (H₂-1) coupled to the broad singlet at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.09 (H-2), which in turn coupled with an exchangeable doublet at δ_H 7.35 (NH) indicated the amino alcohol part of the sphingosine moiety (Figure 2.6) and the amide moiety corresponding to the carbonyl at δ_C 174.6. A broad singlet at δ_H 4.58 (H'-2) coupled to a doublet of doublets at δ_H 5.53 (H'-3) and a doublet of triplets at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.86 (H'-4), which in turn coupled to a broad singlet at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.07 (H'-5), accounted for the unsaturated moiety of the fatty acid residue. A broad doublet at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.77 (H-5) coupled with a broad singlet at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.07 (H-6) and a doublet of doublets at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.47 (H-4), which in turn coupled with a broad singlet at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.07 (H-3), accounted for the unsaturated moiety of sphingosine. The sugar moiety signals were also observed in the range at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.38 to 3.38, although the signals did not show a clear spin system. Therefore, compound 14 was proposed to be a sphingolipid.



Figure 2.6. Structure of cerebroside C (14). The cycled part is a sphingoid base moiety.



Scheme 2.2. Fragmentation pattern of cerebroside C (14) in ESI-MS/MS.

The lengths of the fatty acid and sphingoid base were established by ESI-MS/MS analysis and chemical degradation. The ESI-MS/MS spectrum of compound **14** was obtained by using the $[M + Na]^+$ pseudomolecular ion at m/z 776 as the parent ion. The fragmentation pattern is summarized in Scheme 2.2. The spectrum displayed two intense peaks at m/z 496 $[M + Na - 280]^+$, and 346 $[M + Na - 430]^+$, and several other peaks such as m/z 758 $[M + Na - 18]^+$, 614 $[M + Na - 162]^+$, 596 $[M + Na - 180]^+$ and 334 $[M + Na - 442]^+$. The peak at m/z 496 originated from the loss of C₁₈ 2-hydroxyl fatty acid group (Scheme 2.2., a). The peak at m/z 346 originated from, first, the loss of the sugar moiety to give fragment m/z 596 (Scheme 2.2., c) followed by the loss of the C₁₇ chain of sphingoid base fragment (m/z 596) by breaking the C-2 –N bond (Scheme 2.2.,

d, Costantino et al. 2007). The peak at m/z 614 was accounted for by loss of the sugar moiety (Scheme 2.2., b), which can also give the peak at m/z 346 (Scheme 2.2., e). The peak at m/z 334 can derive from either peaks of m/z 614 or m/z 496 (Scheme 2.2., f and g, respectively). Based on the information from the ESI-MS/MS fragmentation and molecular formula, it was concluded that this sphingolipid **14** contained three parts: a C-18 fatty acid component, a C-19 sphingoid base and a glucopyranose residue.



Scheme 2.3. Methanolysis and acetylation of cerebroside C (14).

The chemical degradation of compound **14** was carried out using methanol in 1N HCl (reflux, Scheme 2.3). After workup a methyl fatty acid ester **285** was isolated together with another minor saturated fatty acid ester **286**. HRMS-EI suggested the molecular formula of **285** to be C₁₉H₃₆O₃ and its optical rotation was $[\alpha]_D= -43$ (c, 0.1) (lit. $[\alpha]_D=-42$, (c, 0.50, CHCl₃), Takanami et al., 2005). Therefore the fatty acid chain was determined to be (*2R*,*3E*)-2-hydroxy-3-octadecenoic acyl moiety. Because of the limited amount of material, the sphingoid residue **284** was not recovered from the aqueous layer during the workup. However, the structural detail of sphingoid base was further determined from the analysis of the 1D and 2D NMR of compound **14** when the spectra were recorded in MeOD-d₄ at 47 °C. After searching the literature it was found that a mixture of CDCl₃ and MeOD-d₄ is the proper solvent for recording NMR spectra of glycosphingolipids (Sitrin et al., 1988). This is probably because of the formation of micelles in less polar solvent, i.e. CDCl₃, the polar head of glucose is aggregated and

consequently the resolution of the NMR signals is decreased and the broadened signals overlap with the signals from the fatty chains (Sitrin et al., 1988). As a result the signals in the range $\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.38 to 3.38 were much less informative. However, in the ¹H NMR (MeOD-d₄) of compound **14**, a broad triplet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.53, H-8) couple with a broad singlet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.04, H-7) and a singlet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.60, H₃-19) showed correlation with this sp² carbon ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 125.0, C-8) indicating a methyl branched vinyl sphingoid chain. The position of the double bonds was located to be at C-4 and C-8 positions through HMBC and COSY 2D NMR spectroscopic data (Figure 2.7). The ¹³C NMR spectroscopic data (Table 2.6) of compound **14** matches the reported data of cerebroside C (**14**) (Koga et al., 1998). Based on all the data, the sphingolipid **14** was determined to be cerebroside C (**14**) and the minor component was cerebroside D (**31**). These two compounds, cerebroside C (**14**) and cerebroside D (**31**) were isolated before from the rice blast fungus (*Magnaporthe grisea*) and proven to be general elicitors (Koga et al., 1998).

С#.	Sugar		Fatty acid		Sphingoid base	
	¹³ C	¹ Η	¹³ C	$^{1}\mathrm{H}$	¹³ C	¹ H
1	104.9	4.28, 1H, d,	175.6	-	69.8	4.09, 1H, m;
		(7.7)				3.75, 1H, dd,
						(10.4, 3.6)
2	75.3	3.21, 1H, m	74.3	4.44, 1H, d,	55.0	3.99, 1H, m
				(6.0)		
3	78.2	3.36, 1H, m	129.3	5.53, 1H, m	73.2	4.15, 1H, m
4	71.9	3.29, 1H, m	135.0	5.84, 1H, m	131.2	5.49, 1H, m
5	78.3	3.29, 1H, m	33.5	2.06, 2H, m	134.6	5.74, 1H, m
6	63.0	3.87, 1H, m;	30.3-30.9	1.39, 2H, m	33.9	2.06, 2H, m
		3.68, 1H, m				
7	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	28.9	2.06, 2H, m
8	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	125.0	5.15, 1H, m
9	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	137.0	-
10	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	40.9	1.98, 2H, t, (7.2)
11	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	29.3	1.39, 2H, m
12	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m
13	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m
14	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m
15	-	-	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m
16	-	-	33.1	1.29, 2H, m	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m
17	-	-	23.8	1.29, 2H, m	30.3-30.9	1.29, 2H, m
18	-	-	14.4	0.90, 3H, t,	33.1	1.29, 2H, m
				(6.5)		
19	-	-	-	-	23.8	1.29, 2H, m
20	-	-	-	-	14.4	0.90, 3H, t, (6.5)
21	-	-	-	-	16.3	1.60, 3H, s

Table 2.6. ¹H NMR (MeOD-d₄, 500 MHz, 47 °C) and ¹³C NMR (MeOD-d₄, 125 MHz, 47 °C) chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz) of cerebroside C (**14**).



Figure 2.7. Selected HMBC (one arrow curves) and COSY (double arrow curves, N- $H\leftrightarrow H-2$) correlations of cerebroside C (14).



4-Prenyl-benzeneacetic acid (288)

The molecular formula of compound **288** ($C_{13}H_{16}O_3$) obtained by HRMS-EI indicated six degrees of unsaturation. A triplet (δ_H 5.49, 1H) coupled with a doublet (δ_H 4.47, 2H) plus two singlets (δ_H 1.79, 3H and 1.73, 3H) accounted for an O-prenyl group. Two doublets (δ_H 7.15, 2H and 6.84, 2H) accounted for a 1,4-substituted benzene ring, and a broad singlet (δ_H 3.54, 2H) for the methylene protons. Compound **288** and its methyl ester **289** were prepared from 4-hydroxyl-benzeneacetic acid **287** to confirm the proposed structure (Scheme 2.4). Compound **288** was isolated before from a mutant of *Aspergillus ochraceus* (Awad et al., 2005).



Scheme 2.4. Preparation of methyl ester of compound **289** from 4-hydroxylbenzeneacetic acid (**287**)

Metabolite (290)

The molecular formula of metabolite 290 (C₁₈H₂₄N₂O₅S) obtained from HRMS-ESI indicated eight degrees of unsaturation and that it contained a sulfur atom. The structure of the metabolite was elucidated based on the ¹H, ¹³C NMR, HMQC and HMBC spectra. A multiple ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.38, 1H) coupled with a doublet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 4.40, 2H, J = 6.5Hz) plus two singlets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 1.72, 3H and 1.67, 3H) accounted for an O-prenyl group. A doublet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.98, 1H, J = 8.4 Hz) coupled with a doublet of doublets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.31, 1H, J =8.4, 2.4 Hz) which inturn coupled with a doublet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.34, 1H, J = 2.4 Hz) suggested a 1,2,4-trisubstituted benzene ring. Two doublets of doublets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.69, 1H, J = 10.9, 5.8 Hz, and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.50, 1H, J = 10.8, 3.3 Hz) coupled to another doublet of doublets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.39, 1H, J = 5.8, 3.3 Hz) accounted for H₂-17 and H-2 of the dioxopiperazine ring. Two doublets of the methine protons (δ_H 3.27, 1H, J = 13.9 Hz and δ_H 2.97, 1H, J = 13.8 Hz) indicated C-4 of the dioxopiperazine ring was substituted. This substitution group was assigned to be a methylthio of which the methyl group was a singlet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 2.17, 3H) in ¹H NMR spectrum and displayed correlation with C-4 in HMBC spectrum. Two D₂O exchangible broad singlets ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 8.28, 1H, 8.19, 1H) were assigned to the N-H of the dioxopiperazine ring. A D₂O exchangible broad singlet ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 9.37, 1H) was assingned to the phenol proton, which is the extra substitution group compared with the phomamide phenyl ring. Based on the above analysis the structure of metabolite **290** was proposed. No further data were collected due to the limited amount of sample, therefore, the structure of metabolite 290 needs to be further confirmed.



2.1.1.2 High NaCl

High NaCl concentration (0.17 M to 0.68 M) was used to induce stress in L. *maculans* in culture. In a preliminary experiment (Table 2.1, entries 2 and 3), a new peak (metabolite **293**) was observed at 2.4 min in the HPLC chromatogram of EtOAc extracts of broth and the production of sirodesmin PL was decreased about 30 % when NaCl (0.17 M) was added into the MM culture. When NaCl (0.17 M) was added into the 3day-old MM culture, the production of sirodesmin PL was similar to that of control cultures. Therefore, a series of experiments with different concentrations of NaCl and different ages of cultures was conducted to maximize the production of the metabolite 293 and to inhibit the production of sirodesmin PL (Table 2.1, entries 4 to 8). The results are presented in Figures 2.8, 2.9 and 2.10. As the concentration of NaCl increased, the production of sirodesmin PL decreased (Figure 2.9). The earlier the NaCl was added, the lower was the production of sirodesmin PL (Figure 2.9). Therefore, the concentration of NaCl and the age of culture to which NaCl was added affected the production of sirodesmin PL. When NaCl (0.68 M) was added to 4-day-old cultures, the production of sirodesmin PL was inhibited completely (Figure 2.9), while the production of new metabolite 293 reached a maximum (Figure 2.10). Another interesting observation was that the mycelia turned green on the 7th day under these conditions (Table 2.1, entry 7) and became black, eventually, on the 9th day (Figure I. 1, page xxxii). A large scale culture (12 L) was prepared using these conditions (Table 2.1 entry 7) to isolate the new metabolite **293** from EtOAc extract of culture broth. The known blue pigment bulgarein (294) was isolated from mycelia extract (see experimental, section 4.2.1.2).



Figure 2.8. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of cultures of *Leptosphaeria maculans* incubated in MM for 7 days. A: Control; B: NaCl (0.68 M) added to 4-day-old cultures.



Figure 2.9. Production of sirodesmin PL (**165**) in MM containing high NaCl (0.34M and 0.68M). NaCl added to cultures with different incubation times (day). (A control; B, 0.34 M, 3 day; C, 0.34 M, 4 day; D, 0.68 M, 3 day; E, 0.68 M, 4 day; F, 0.68 M, 5 day)



Figure 2.10. Production of metabolite **293** in MM containing high NaCl (0.34M and 0.68M). NaCl added to cultures with different incubation times (day). (A, control (no metabolite **293** was detected); B, 0.34 M, 3 day; C, 0.34 M, 4 day; D, 0.68 M, 3 day; E, 0.68 M, 4 day; F, 0.68 M, 5 day)

8-Hydroxynaphthalene-1-sulfate (293)

HRMS-ESI ([M-1]⁻) of metabolite **293** indicated the molecular formula $C_{10}H_7O_5S$. ¹H NMR spectra data (D₂O) showed all signals at low field range (δ_H 6.9 - 7.8) indicating a substituted aromatic system, e.g. naphthalene moiety. The spin systems were elucidated from ¹H COSY spectral data. Namely, two protons at δ_H 6.99 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H) and δ_H 7.51 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H) together with a proton at δ_H 7.42 (dd, J = 8.2, 7.6 Hz, 1H) accounted for one spin system. The other spin system showed overlapping resonances for two protons at δ_H 7.47 (d, J = 5.1 Hz, 2H) and another signal at δ_H 7.79 (dd, J = 4.9, 4.4 Hz, 1H), suggesting an unsymmetrical naphthyl nucleus. Altogether the spectroscopic data suggested that the new metabolite was 1,8-dihydroxylnaphthalene sulfate **293**, which was confirmed by synthesis using commercially available 1,8-naphthosultone (**291**) (Scheme 2.5) (Burkhardt and Lapworth, 1926; Ragot et al., 1999). Commercially available 1,8-naphthosultone was heated with KOH at 300 °C to yield compound **292** which was reacted with HSO₃Cl to yield metabolite **293** (Experimental).

Although **293** appeared to slowly hydrolyze to 1,8-dihydroxynaphthalene **292** on standing in aqueous solution, only a very small amount of **292** was detected in the EtOAc broth extracts (ca. 5% of **292** determined by HPLC).



Scheme 2.5. Synthesis of metabolite 293

Bulgarein (294)

HRMS-ESI ([M-1]⁻) of metabolite **294** indicated a molecular formulae C₂₀H₉O₅ i.e., an unsaturation number of sixteen. The ¹H NMR (DMSO-d₆) spectrum displayed ten protons, three of which were exchangeable ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 13.48, bs, 2H and 12.66, bs, 1H). Of the remaining seven signals, three broad singlets at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.57, 7.38 and 6.67 changed multiplicity when the ¹H NMR spectrum was recorded at ca. 58 °C; the broad singlets at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.57 and 6.67 became broad doublets and the broad singlet at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 7.38 became a broad triplet. The remaining signals at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 8.27 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 1H), 7.96 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.59 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), and 6.40 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 1H) indicated the structure to be aromatic. Furthermore, the ¹³C NMR spectral data suggested that this aromatic system contained two carbonyls ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 183.1, 2C), and three C-O bonds ($\delta_{\rm C}$ 160.6, 3C).

Treatment of this blue metabolite (**294a/294b**) with diazomethane (Scheme 2.6) gave a product that appeared to contain an oxymethylene, a methylene and three methoxyl groups, according to its ¹H NMR spectrum (δ 8.37, d, J = 7.9 Hz; 8.11, d, J = 8.1 Hz; 7.44, m; 7.03, m; 4.14, s; 4.11, s; 3.91, s; 3.49, bd J = 13.9 Hz; 3.44, bd J = 13.9 Hz; 3.05, bd J = 6.6 Hz; 2.90, bd J = 6.8 Hz). The HRMS spectrum confirmed the presence of ten additional protons and five carbons (C₂₅H₂₀O₅, i.e. unsaturation number of sixteen). Thus, it appeared that diazomethane treatment methylated three hydroxyl groups, and provided two additional methylenes. However, methylation with K₂CO₃ and dimethyl sulfate in acetone gave a reduced pentamethoxy derivative (C₂₅H₂₂O₅, i.e.

unsaturation number of fifteen) (Scheme 2.6). These spectroscopic data and chemical transformations are consistent with the structure of bulgarein (**294a/294b**), a fungal metabolite produced by *Bulgaria inquinans* whose structure was elucidated by Edwards and Lockett in 1976 for which ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectroscopic data were not provided (Edwards and Lockett, 1976; Fujii et al., 1993).

A reaction similar to that observed between bulgarein (**294a/294b**) and diazomethane was reported for 9,10-phenanthrenedione (**297**), which also yielded a product resulting from double insertion of methylene (**298**, Scheme 2.7) (Eistert et al., 1968).



Scheme 2.6. Preparation of the derivatives 295 and 296 from metabolite 294



Scheme 2.7. Preparation of the derivative 298 from compound 297 (Eistert et al., 1968).

2.1.2 Metabolites produced in potato dextrose media

PDB medium is not a chemically defined medium, it contains substantial amounts of unidentified components. Therefore, only major new metabolites produced after incubating spores of *L. maculans* were isolated and identified. No sirodesmins (**165-169**) were isolated from PDB media culture of *L. maculans* incubated at room temperature (Table 2.1, entry 9). Known metabolite **212** was produced as the major component (Pedras et al, 2007). However, no obvious new peaks were identified in this culture medium (Table 2.1, entry 9).

The temperature is an important factor that influences the production of metabolites by fungi. Time course experiments with variation of temperature were planned before the start of this research work. However, an accidental power failure resulting in temperature increase of the incubation room (ca. 27 °C), led to the observation of several new peaks (maculansins) in the HPLC chromatograms of cultural extracts (Figure 2.11). The crude extracts of culture broths showed high toxicity to both brown mustard and canola. Therefore time course experiments with higher temperatures (Table 2.1, entries 10 to 12) were carried out to optimize the production of these new peaks. When PDB medium was incubated at higher temperature (27 °C) for 4 days, maculansin A (299) was produced at higher concentration (Table 2.1, entry 11; Figure 2.12), while metabolite 212 was produced at maximum concentration seven days after incubation at 25 °C (Table 2.1, entry 10; Figure 2.13). Therefore, five liter cultures of L. maculans were prepared by incubation of spores of L. maculans in PDB (27 °C for 4 days; Table 2.1, entry 11). The broth was separated from mycelia by vacuum filtration and extracted with EtOAc. The EtOAc extract was submitted to various chromatographic methods to give maculansin A (299), B (300) and a mixture of analogues of maculansin A (299) (Section 4.2.2.).



Figure 2.11. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of cultures of *Leptosphaeria maculans* grown in potato dextrose medium (PDB); A: EtOAc extract of culture incubated at 23 °C for four days; B: EtOAc extract of culture incubated at 27 °C for four days; numbered peaks identified as: 2,4-dihydroxy-3,6-dimethylbenzaldehyde (**212**), maculansin A (**299**), maculansin B (**300**), peak at 14.7 min identified as mixture of metabolites related to **299**. Inserts: UV/Vis spectra of metabolites **212** and **299**.





Figure 2.12. Production of maculansin A (299) at different temperatures.



Figure 2.13. Production of metabolite 212 at different temperatures.

Maculansin A (299)

HRMS-EI of metabolite **299** suggested $C_{22}H_{28}N_2O_{10}$ (*m/z* 380.1749) as the molecular formula. In the ¹H NMR of metabolite **299** (Table 2.7) a methylene moiety (H-1) at δ_H 4.64 and 4.42 was attached to an acetyl group and coupled to a methine proton (H-2) at δ_H 5.13 (¹H COSY). A methine proton (H-3) at δ_H 3.89 (t, *J* = 8.2 Hz) was coupled to H-2 (δ_H 5.13, m) and an exchangeable proton (δ_H 3.00, d, *J* = 7.7 Hz) (COSY and D₂O exchange experiments). Three methyl groups at δ_H 2.11, 2.18 and 2.31 were attached to *sp*² carbons. These signals accounted for all 14 proton resonances in ¹H NMR. A total of 11 carbon signals were displayed in the ¹³C NMR. Considering the molecular formula of this metabolite ($C_{22}H_{28}N_2O_{10}$, HRMS-EI), this data suggested that

299 possessed a symmetry element. The backbone of metabolite 299 was determined to be D-mannitol after hydrolysis and by comparison of the spectral data and $[\alpha]_D$ of an authentic sample with acetylation product 302 (Scheme 2.8). Two types of substituents were attached to the D-mannitol backbone. An acetyl group was assigned to -O-C-1 from an HMBC correlation between the carbonyl carbon at δ_C 171.6 and H₂-1 and the methyl group at δ_H 2.11. The second substituent was elucidated as follows. Both methyl groups at δ_H 2.31 and 2.18 showed similar correlation with an sp² carbon at δ_C 158.7 and 115.0 which were assigned to dimethyl allyl moiety. H-3 showed a correlation with one sp^2 carbon at δ_C 160.5. This carbon was assigned to the conjugated carbonyl carbon. The IR spectrum contained a characteristic absorption at 2116 cm⁻¹, which indicated the presence of isonitrile functional group. The isonitrile carbon which has no correlation with any protons was assigned to the peak at δ_{C} 168.0 (Karuso et al., 1989). Therefore a 2-isonitriledehydrovaline moiety was attached at position 3 of the D-mannitol 301 backbone. Therefore, the structure of new phytotoxin 299 was elucidated as 1,6-diacetyl-2,5-bis(2-isocyano-3-methyl-2-butenoate)-D-mannitol. Compound 303 was isolated from the basic hydrolysis (¹H NMR), however, it seemed to polymerize to yield a complex mixture.



Scheme 2.8. Hydrolysis and preparation of acetylated derivative of the sugar backbone of metabolite **299**.



Table 2.7. ¹³C NMR (125 MHz) and ¹H NMR (500 MHz) chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz) of maculansin A (**299**) (in CDCl₃).

	Maculansin A (299)				
С/Н #	δ_{C}	$\delta_{\rm H}$			
1,6	62.3	4.64, 2H, dd, (12.5, 2.5)			
		4.41, 2H, dd, (12.5, 4.2)			
2, 5	72.8	5.13, 2H, m			
3, 4	67.4	3.89, 2H, t, (8.2)			
1′	160.5				
2'	115.0				
3'	158.3				
4'/5'	21.4	2.31, 6H, s			
5'/4'	25.1	2.18, 6H, s			
6′	168.0				
1''	171.6				
2''	21.1	2.11, 6H, s			
(O)H		3.00, 2H, d, (7.7)			

Maculansin B (300) and related metabolites

From a less polar fraction, a mixture of several compounds having structural characteristics similar to those of **299** was obtained and further separated by preparative TLC, as described in the experimental, to afford components with $R_t = 18.3 \text{ min}$ (**300**)

and 14.7 min (Figure 2.11). Although HPLC analysis suggested a chromatographically homogeneous material, preliminary inspection of the ¹H NMR spectral data of the component with $R_t = 18.3$ min (**300**) indicated that this sample contained a mixture of at least two compounds (complex spectrum showing a polyol backbone with two sets of signals for some protons). In addition, comparison of this spectrum with that of **299** indicated that two doublets at $\delta_H 1.14$ and 1.04 coupled to a methine proton at $\delta_H 2.38$ in addition to the two methyl groups at $\delta_H 2.3$ and 2.2 observed in **299**. That is, one of the 2-isocyano-3-methyl-2-butenoyl fragments attached to the polyol was replaced with a 2isocyano-3-methylbutanoyl moiety, whereas the acetyl groups and the backbone remained intact. This conclusion was consistent with the $[M+1]^+ m/z$ 483 obtained for this sample (LC-MS-ESI). As well, the polyol backbone of **300** was determined to be Dmannitol after hydrolysis and acetylation of a mixture of **299** and **300**, as reported for maculansin A (**299**). Therefore, the inseparable mixture **300** contained two epimers due to the acidity of H-2' and is proposed to be 1,6-diacetyl-2-(2-isocyano-3-methyl-2butenoyl)-5-(2-isocyano-3-methylbutanoyl)-D-mannitol and named maculansin B (**300**).



From the same fraction containing maculansin A (**299**), an inseparable mixture was isolated from a more polar fraction. The presence of doublet methyl groups at δ_H 1.1 and 1.0, a multiplet at δ_H 2.4 (1H), and absence of two methyl groups at δ_H 2.3 and 2.2 as in maculansin A (**299**) indicated that the two 2-isocyano-3-methyl-2-butenoyl moieties of maculansin A (**299**) were reduced to 2-isocyano-3-methylbutanoyl moieties. Upon basic hydrolysis of this mixture, N-formylvaline (**305**) was obtained from organic extracts, and D-mannitol hexaacetate (**302**) was obtained by acetylation of the residue of the aqueous layer of basic hydrolysis. Compound **305**, which was obtained from basic hydrolysis of this mixture of analogues of maculansin A (**299**), was stable enough to be isolated and identified from spectroscopic data. (Gloer et al., 1988). Due to the acidic

nature of the proton at the β position of the 2-isocyano-3-methylbutanoyl moiety, four diastereomers are possible and inseparable, which results in a complex ¹H NMR spectrum (Gloer et al., 1988). Therefore, this sample contained a mixture of structural isomers likely due to the presence of two 2-isocyano-3-methylbutanoyl substituents and absence of an acetyl substituent. Because of the complex ¹H NMR spectrum, the position of these moieties could not be assigned, therefore structures are not proposed.

2.1.3 **Production of metabolites under other stress conditions**

Additional stress conditions were used to test the production of new metabolites that may be potential elicitors or phytotoxins. First, a preliminary experiment in using culture incubation at higher temperature was conducted at 29°C (Table 2.1, entry 13). Under this condition the production of sirodesmin PL (**165**) reached a maximum at around the fourth day, three days earlier than standard conditions, and became barely detectable after seven days. However, no new peaks were detected. Therefore, no further experiments were carried out by varying incubation temperatures when *L. maculans* was grown in MM.

Second, the amount of MgSO₄·7H₂O was adjusted to $1/10 (2.0 \times 10^{-4} \text{ M})$, half $(1.0 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M})$ and two times $(4.0 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M})$ that in standard MM (Table 2.1, entries 14, 15 and 16 respectively). As shown in Figure 2.14, the maximum production of sirodesmin PL (**165**) is related to the amount of sulfur. When MgSO₄·7H₂O was 1/10 and 1/2 of the standard amount the production of sirodesmin PL (**165**) decreased close to 29 fold and two fold, respectively, compared to the control; about 1.4 fold increase of the production of sirodesmin PL was observed when twice the amount of MgSO₄·7H₂O was supplied to the MM culture. However, no new peaks were detected.



Figure 2.14. Production of sirodesmin PL (**165**) in different MM. A, control; B, removal of thiamine but with adding leaves of brown mustard; C, MgSO₄·7H₂O (2.0×10^{-4} M); D, MgSO₄·7H₂O (1.0×10^{-3} M); E, MgSO₄·7H₂O (4.0×10^{-3} M).

Third, the role of thiamine in the production of sirodesmin PL by *L. maculans* in MM was tested. When thiamine was removed from the medium, no sirodesmin PL was detected (Table 2.1, entry 17). When thiamine was removed from the medium but with adding leaves of brown mustard (Table 2.1, entry 18), the production of sirodesmin PL (**165**) was close to that in control samples (Figure 2.14). This is most likely because the leaves contained thiamine. Metabolite **212**, which cannot be detected in MM in standard culture conditions, was detected at the 5th, 6th and 7th day of incubation when leaves were added into the MM culture. This may indicate that some components from leaves can induce the production of compound **212** by *L. maculans*.

Fourth, phytoalexins were added into the culture of *L. maculans* in MM to mimic the stress conditions caused by plants. Spirobrassinin (**122**) or camalexin (**306**) (5×10^{-4} M) were added to three-day-old MM cultures (Table 2.1, entries 19 and 20). A slight decrease in the production of sirodesmin PL (**165**) was observed (Figure 2.15), but no new peaks were detected by HPLC. Based on previous results no higher concentrations of phytoalexins were used because the growth of the fungus was inhibited at higher concentration of phytoalexins (Pedras and Taylor, 1993).



Figure 2.15. Production of sirodesmin PL (165) in MM in presence of the phytoalexins camalexin (306) and spirobrassinin (122).

Fifth, phytoalexins were also added into the culture of *L. maculans* in PDB media (Table 2.1, entries 21 and 22). The production of metabolite **212** was slightly increased when spirobrassinin (**122**) was present, while in the presence of camalexin (**306**) the production of metabolite **212** was increased about two-fold after seven days of incubation (Figure 2. 16). However, no new peaks were detected.



Figure 2.16. Production of metabolite **212** in PDB media in presence of phytoalexins camalexin (**306**) and spirobrassinin (**122**).



At last, V_8 juice was modified and used as a medium to culture *L. maculans* (Table 2.1, entry 23; experimental 4.2.3). Trace amount of sirodesmin PL was detected. A peak at 10.8 minutes was detected to be 6,8-dihydroxy-3-methylisocoumarin (**307**) based on UV and retention time of HPLC-DAD data. The production of total metabolites by *L. maculans* in this medium was very low (ca. 30 mg/ L). Therefore, no further study was conducted with this stress condition.

2.2 BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITY

2.2.1 Elicitor activity

One of the standard methods to determine the elicitor activity of a metabolite is to test if the metabolite is able to induce the production of phytoalexins in plants (Hahn, 1996; Keen, 1975; Montesano et al., 2003). Specific elicitors produced by *L. maculans* are expected to induce the production of phytoalexins in brown mustard (*B. juncea* cv. Cutlass, resistant to *L. maculans*) but not in canola (*B. napus* cv. Westar, susceptible to *L. maculans*). General elicitors produced by *L. maculans* are expected to induce the production of phytoalexins in both resistant and susceptible plants. Elicitor activity assays were carried out as described in the experimental section. Leaves of whole plants were treated with a fraction or a purified metabolite in a solution of MeOH/H₂O (1:1 v/v). After incubating plants for two days, the leaves were excised, extracted and the less-polar fractions of the extracts were analyzed by HPLC-DAD. The results are summarized in Table 2.8. Sirodesmin PL (165) and deacetylsirodesmin PL (166) (at concentrations of 1.0 or 0.5 mM) induced the production of phytoalexins such as brassilexin (118), cyclobrassinin (119), rutalexin (127) and spirobrassinin (122) in

brown mustard and spirobrassinin (122) in canola (Figures 2.17 and 2.18). Therefore, sirodesmin PL (165) and deacetylsirodesmin PL (166) are general elicitors. A mixture of cerebrosides C (14) and D (31) (at concentrations of 1.0 or 0.8 mM) induced the production of the phytoalexin rutalexin (127) only in brown mustard but not in canola (Figure 2.19). Therefore cerebrosides C (14) and D (31) displayed selective elicitor activity.

Compounds	Phytotoxin a	Phytotoxin activity (damage index)			
(mM)	Brown mustard	White mustard	Canola	Brown mustard	Canola
299 (1.0)	4.8±0.5	4.3±1.5	4.6±1.1	N. E. ^c	N. E.
299 (0.2)	2.8±0.8	1.2±0.6	0.3±0.4	N. E.	N. E.
299 (0.1)	2.4±0.7	0	0	N. E.	N. E.
299 (0.02)	1.0±0.5	-	0	N. E.	N. E.
300 (1.0)	Necrosis	-	Necrosis	N. E.	N. E.
14/31 (1.0)	0	-	0	127	N. E.
165 (1.0)	4.7±0.5	3.7±0.8	2.1±0.6	127, 122	122
165 (0.4)	Necrosis	-	-	118 , 119 , 127 ,	-
				122	
165 (0.2)	4.1±0.3 ^b	4.3 ± 0.7^{b}	2.2 ± 0.5^{b}	122	122
166 (0.1)	Necrosis	-	Necrosis	122	122
166 (0.01)	0	-	0	N. E.	N. E.
167 (0.5)	Necrosis	-	Necrosis	N. E.	N. E.
4 & 169 (1.0)	Necrosis	-	Necrosis	N. E.	N. E.
171 (1.1)	0	-	0	N. E.	N. E.
171 (0.9)	0	-	-	10.2 min	-
272 (1.0)	0	-	0	N. E.	11.0 min
274 (1.0)	0	-	0	N. E.	N/E
268 (1.0)	0	-	0	N. E.	11.0 min
267 (1.1)	0	-	0	N. E.	N. E.
293 (0.1)	0	-	0	N. E.	N. E.
294 (0.6)	0	-	0	N. E.	N. E.
212 (6.0)	0	0	0	-	-
212 (0.1)	0	-	0	N. E.	N. E.
288 (0.6)	0	0	0	-	-

Table 2.8. Bioassay results of metabolites isolated from cultures of *Leptosphaeria* maculans

^aElicitor activity was determined by induction of the production of phytoalexins. ^bData were collected when plants were incubated for two days. ^c N. E. = no effect.

Cerebrosides C (14) and D (31) were found previously to be produced by a wide range of phytopathogens and appeared to induce the production of phytoalexins in rice plants as well as disease resistance to the rice blast fungus (Umemura et al., 2004). The only phytoalexin induced by cerebrosides C (14) and D (31) was rutalexin (127) (Figure 2.17). The phytoalexin induced by sirodesmin PL and deacetylsirodesmin PL at all the concentrations and replicates is spirobrassinin (122) (Figures 2.18 and 2.19) although a few other phytoalexins were detected occasionally when plants were treated with sirodesmin PL or deacetylsirodesmin PL.

Metabolites 169, 168, 167, 267, 268, 272, 274, 293, 294, 212, 299, 300, and 171 did not show elicitor activity at the concentrations tested (Table 2.8).



Figure 2.17. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of leaves of brown mustard (*B. juncea* cv. Cutlass resistant to *L. maculans*) treated with toxins. A, maculansin A (**299**) and B, sirodesmin PL (**165**). Numbered peaks identified as: indole-3-acetonitrile (**122**), 1-methoxy-indole-3-acetonitrile (**308**), 1-methoxy-indole-3-methanol (**309**), spirobrassinin (**122**), and cyclobrassinin (**119**).


Figure 2.18. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of leaves of canola (*B. napus* cv. Westar, susceptible to *L. maculans*) treated with toxins. A, maculansin A (**299**); B, sirodesmin PL (**165**). Numbered peaks identified as: indole-3-acetonitrile (**121**), 1-methoxy-indole-3-acetonitrile (**308**), 1-methoxy-indole-3-methanol (**309**), and spirobrassinin (**122**).



Figure 2.19. HPLC chromatograms of extracts of leaves of brown mustard (*B. juncea* cv. Cutlass, resistant to *Leptosphaeria maculans*) treated with a mixture of cerebrosides C (14) and D (31). A control; B, treated with a mixture of cerebroside C (14) and D (31). Numbered peaks identified as: indole-3-acetonitrile (121), 1-methoxy-indole-3-acetonitrile (308), and rutalexin (127).

2.2.2 Phytotoxicity and growth inhibition

Phytotoxicity assays were carried out on resistant (*B. juncea* cv. Cutlass and *S. alba* cv. Ochre) and susceptible (*B. napus* cv. Westar) plants. The phytotoxicity of metabolites isolated from *L. maculans* to each plant species is summarized in Table 2.8. Sirodesmins (**165** to **169**) caused necrosis and chlorosis on leaves of both resistant (*B. juncea* cv. Cutlass and *S. alba* cv. Ochre) and susceptible (*B. napus* cv. Westar) plants, as previously reported (Pedras et al., 1990).



Figure 2.20. Phytotoxicity of maculansin A (**299**) to brown mustard (*B. juncea* cv. Cutlass), canola (*B. napus* cv. Westar) and white mustard (*S. alba* cv. Ochre).

The damage on the leaves was rated using a damage index number (the number is proportional to the size of the lesion, see experimental section). Although maculansin A (**299**) did not elicit the production of phytoalexins in *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass or *B. napus* cv. Westar, it causes leaf damage even at 2×10^{-5} M concentration on *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass (damage index 1, Figures I.2, I.3, and I.4, page xxxii and xxxiii). At high concentration (1×10^{-3} M) maculansin A (**299**) caused similar damage to *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass (resistant to *L. maculans*) and *B. napus* cv. Westar (susceptible to *L. maculans*) and *S. alba* cv. Ochre (resistant to *L. maculans*), about 4.5 damage index (Figure 2.20). At lower concentration maculansin A (**299**) (2×10^{-4} M) caused smaller lesions on *B. napus* cv. Westar than on *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass (damage index close to 3). At a concentration of 1×10^{-4} M, maculansin A (**299**) still caused lesions (damage index 2.2)

on *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass but no lesions on *B. napus* cv. Westar or *S. alba* cv. Ochre (Figure 2.20). That is, maculansin A (**299**) is more toxic to resistant plants, the reverse of the effect caused by *L. maculans*.

The lesions caused by maculansin A (**299**) and sirodesmin PL (**165**) on *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass and *S. alba* cv. Ochre were similar at 1×10^{-3} M, but the lesions caused by sirodesmin PL (**165**) on *B. napus* cv. Westar was about half the size of those caused by maculansin A (**299**) at the same concentration (Figure 2.21). Maculansin A (**299**) causes larger lesions on the susceptible plants than sirodesmin PL (**165**). Moreover, the irregular lesions caused by maculansin A (**299**) are similar to those caused by the pathogen and the toxin depsilairdin (**183**) (Pedras et al., 2004), suggesting that it is able to diffuse in the leaf tissue. On the other hand, the lesion caused by sirodesmin PL (**165**).



Figure 2.21. Damage caused by phytotoxins maculansin A (**299**) and sirodesmin PL (**165**) (1.0 mM) on brown mustard (*B. juncea* cv. Cutlass), canola (*B. napus* cv. Westar) and white mustard (*S. alba* cv. Ochre).

Metabolite **212** has been isolated from *Valsa ambiens* and several other fungi (Ayer et al., 1993; Mitova et al., 2006) and showed root and hypocotyl growth inhibition effect on lettuce (Jiao et al., 1995). Therefore, the root growth inhibition effect of metabolite **212** was tested on host plants. The seeds of *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass and *B. napus* cv. Westar were incubated in PDB media in the presence of metabolite **212** (5 × 10^{-4} M). The inhibition effect is shown in Figure 2.22. The root length of canola treated

with metabolite **212** measured 0.3 ± 0.1 cm, while control roots measured 1.9 ± 0.7 cm. Similarly, the root length of brown mustard treated with metabolite **212** measured 0.2 ± 0.1 cm and 4.9 ± 1.2 cm in control plants. Metabolite **212** showed about 6 fold and 25 fold inhibition effects on canola and brown mustard roots, respectively. This is the first time that the root growth inhibition effect of a metabolite (**212**) of *L. maculans* has been reported. Metabolite **212** was not detected in the infected plants *in vivo*; however, metabolite **212** was produced as the major component in PDB media and in lower amounts in MM.



Figure 2.22. Root length of seedlings of canola and brown mustard treated with metabolite **212** (5×10^{-4} M).

2.3 BIOSYNTHESIS OF SIRODESMIN PL (165)

As mentioned in the Introduction, phomamide was the only intermediate identified in the biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmins (165) (Férézou et al., 1980b), while phomalirazine was a proposed intermediate (Pedras et al., 1989). The isolation of leptomaculins (272 and 274) triggered an interest to find out if they were substrates used by *L. maculans* enzymes for the introduction of sulfur to give sirodesmin PL (165). If the dideuterated precursor 251a was incorporated intact into sirodesmin PL (165), then leptomaculins (272 and 274) could not be the intermediates used for the introduction of

sulfur into sirodesmin PL (**165**). Therefore, $[3,3-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ -(L)-tyrosine and $[5,5-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ phomamide were chosen as useful substrates to clarify this question. Another question to answer is at what stage does the prenylation happen, after or before the formation of the dioxopiperazine **252**. If (*E*)-[3,3,5',5',5',-{}^{2}H_{5}]O-prenyl-(L)-tyrosine was incorporated into sirodesmin PL (**165**) intact, prenylation happens before the formation of the dioxopiperazine. Alternatively, both could be alternative biosynthetic pathways.

Therefore, the study of sirodesmin PL (**165**) biosynthesis was carried out by incubation of deuterated potential precursors with a wild type isolate (BJ125) of *L. maculans*. The potential precursors included commercially available amino acids [3,3- ${}^{2}H_{2}$]-(L)-tyrosine and [2,3,3- ${}^{2}H_{3}$]-(L)-serine as well as [3,3- ${}^{2}H_{2}$]*O*-prenyl-(L)-tyrosine, (*E*)-[3,3,5',5',5'- ${}^{2}H_{3}$]*O*-prenyl-(L)-tyrosine, [5,5- ${}^{2}H_{2}$]cyclo-(L)-tyr-(L)-ser, and [5,5- ${}^{2}H_{2}$]phomamide, which were synthesized as described below (also see experimental section). The incorporation or nonincorporation of deuterium was detected by using ${}^{1}H$ NMR, ${}^{13}C$ NMR, LC-HRMS-ESI and HRMS-EI.

2.3.1 Synthesis of potential biosynthetic precursors

Deuterium labeled potential precursors $[3,3-{}^{2}H_{2}]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312a**), (*E*)- $[3,3,5',5',5'-{}^{2}H_{5}]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312b**), $[5,5-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ cyclo-(L)-tyr-(L)-ser (**319**) and $[5,5-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ phomamide (**171a**) were synthesized using modifications of reported methods.



Scheme 2.9. Synthesis of [3,3-²H₂]*O*-prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312a**). Reagents and conditions: (i) t-Boc-anhydride/NaOH, dioxane, quantitative; (ii) a) NaH/THF, b) **318**, rt, 70%; (iii) 155 °C, 60%.

Compound **311a** was prepared by prenylation of *t*-Boc protected tyrosine **310a** with prenyl bromide (Fraile et al., 1996); **311a** was heated at 155 °C for one hour to give **312a** 42% total yield (Scheme 2.9).

Compound **318a** was not commercially available, therefore its preparation followed reported methods with minor modification (Scheme 2.10, Thulasiram et al., 2006). Benzenethiol was treated with NaOH in EtOH followed by addition of ethyl 2-butynoate to give a mixture of E/Z isomers **314** (68%) and **315** (**17%**). The E isomer **314** was readily separated from Z isomer by FCC. **314** was treated with CuI in THF first, then deuterated methyl Grignard reagent was added to the cuprate of **314** at -15 °C to afford **316** in 80% yield (Christie et al., 1981). Although both reported methods gave similar yield, the method used in this study (Christie et al., 1981) had two advantages: first, the deuterated Grignard reagent was used in lower amount than the method reported by Thulasiram et al. (2006) and second, the reaction temperature was carried out at -15 °C instead of -70 °C. After reduction of **316** with LAH, then bromination with PBr₃, (*E*)-[4,4,4-²H₃]3-methyl-2-butenyl bromide (**318**) was yielded as an oil (yield 35 % in four steps, Scheme 2.10).



Scheme 2.10. Synthesis of (E)-[4,4,4-²H₃]-prenylbromide (**318a**). Reagents and conditions: (i) PhSH/NaOH, EtOH, rt, **314**, 68%; **315**, 17%; (ii) CuI/THF, CD₃MgI/Et₂O, -15 °C, 80%; (iii) LAH, Et₂O, 80%; (iv) PBr₃, Et₂O, 80%.

Compound **312b** was prepared similarly to **312a** by coupling of (E)-[4,4,4-²H₃]3-methyl-2-butenol (**318a**) with [3,3-²H₂]-(L)-tyrosine (**310a**) (Scheme 2.11).



Scheme 2.11. Synthesis of (*E*)- $[3,3,5',5',5'-{}^{2}H_{5}]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312b**). Reagents and conditions: (i) t-Boc-anhydride/NaOH, dioxane, quantitative; (ii) a) NaH/THF b) **318a**, rt, 70%; (iii) 155 °C, 60%.



Scheme 2.12. Synthesis of $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ cyclo-(L)-tyr-(L)-ser (**252a**) and $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ phomamide (**171a**). Reagents and conditions: (i) SOCl₂, MeOH, reflux, quantitative; (ii) t-Boc-anhydride/NaOH, dioxane, rt, quantitative; (iii) TEA / EDCI / CH₂Cl₂ -15°C, 96%; (iv) a) formic acid, rt. 60 min, b) *sec*-butyl-alcohol / toluene, 65°C, 90%; (v) a) NaOH, b) prenyl bromide, 67%.

Compounds 252a and 171a were prepared following a reported procedure (Scheme 2.12, Férézou et al., 1980a). Compound 321a was obtained in 96% yield by coupling *t*-Boc-(L)-serine with methyl ester tyrosine using EDCI. Compound 321a readily cyclized under heating in *sec*-butyl-alcohol/toluene after removal of the protecting group using formic acid to yield a white precipitate (252a). After lyophilization of NaOH treated 252a, the residue was prenylated to afford 171a in 67%

yield. Racemization during the synthesis was ruled out by comparison of the specific optical rotations of the synthetic and naturally occurring phomamide (Férézou et al., 1980a).

2.3.2 Incorporation of potential precursors

Deuterium labeled potential precursors were added to three-day-old cultures of *L. maculans* and cultures were further incubated for two days. Experiments were carried out in triplicates, control experiments were carried out using the corresponding natural abundance (non-deuterium containing) potential precursors. The broth was filtered off and extracted with EtOAc. The EtOAc extracts were separated by PTLC to give sirodesmin PL (**165**) and phomamide (**171**). Incorporation of deuterium into sirodesmin PL (**165**) and phomamide (**171**) was detected using ¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR, HRMS-EI and LC-HRMS-ESI. Results are summarized in Table 2.9.

Entry	Deuterated	Phomamide (171)	Sirodesmin PL (165)
	compound	% of 2 H (analytical method)	% of ² H (analytical method)
1	251a	32±3 (HRMS-EI:	32±2 (HRMS-EI
		monodeuterated = 20 ;	monodeuterated = 19;
		dideuterated = $12)^{a}$	dideuterated = 13) ^a
		30±5 (¹ H NMR:	30±2 (¹ H NMR, H-7) ^b
		monodeuterated = 19 ;	
		dideuterated = 11, H_2 -5a,5b)	
2	312a	41±7 (HRMS-EI:	35±7 (HRMS-EI
		monodeuterated = 24 ;	monodeuterated $= 21;$
		dideuterated = $17)^{a}$	dideuterated = 15) ^a
		39±1 (¹ H NMR:	32±3 (¹ H NMR, H-7) ^b
		monodeuterated = 21 ;	
		dideuterated = 18 , H ₂ - $5a$, $5b$)	
3	233d	3 ± 1 (HRMS-EI) ^a	4±2 (HRMS-EI) ^a
4	171a -		30±10 (HRMS-EI
			monodeuterated $= 4;$
			dideuterated = 26) ^a
			27 (¹ H NMR, H-7) ^b
5	251a	3±1 (HRMS-EI:	2±0 (HRMS-EI:
		monodeuterated = 1;	monodeuterated $= 0;$
		dideuterated = 2) a	dideuterated = 2) a
6	312b	23 (HRMS-ESI:	13 (HRMS-ESI
		tetradeuterated = 16 ;	tetradeuterated = 9 ;
		pentadeuterated = 7) c	pentadeuterated = 4) c
		26 (¹ H NMR, ² H-5 = 19; ² H ₂ -	23 (¹ H NMR, H-7) ^b
		5 = 7)	

Table 2.9. Incorporation^{a,b,c} of deuterated compounds into phomamide (**171**) and sirodesmin PL (**165**) in cultures of *Leptosphaeria maculans*.

^{a.} The percentage of incorporation (I) was determined by HRMS-EI and was calculated using the formula: I = {($[M+n]^+$ - $[M+n]^+_{Ctl}$) / ($[M]^+$ + $[M+1]^+$ + $[M+2]^+$)}×100, (n = 1, 2);

 $[M+n]^+$ = intensity of deuterated molecular ion; $[M+n]^+_{Ctl}$ = intensity of molecular ion of control samples (natural abundance).

^{b.} Resolution of signals was enhanced through a Lorentz-Gaussian line-shape transformation (gb = 0.3, lb = -1).

^{c.} The percentage of incorporation (I) was determined by HRMS-ESI (positive mode) and was calculated using the formula: I = $\{([M+1+n]^+, [M+1+n]^+, ([M+1+n]^+, [M+1+n]^+, [M+1+n]^+, [M+1]^+, [M+1]^$

Initial analysis of HRMS-EI data established that (i) $[3,3^{-2}H_2]$ -(L)-tyrosine (251a), $[3,3^{-2}H_2]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (312b), and $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ phomamide (171a) were incorporated efficiently (> 10%) into sirodesmin PL (165); (ii) $[3,3^{-2}H_2]$ -(L)-tyrosine (251a), $[3,3^{-2}H_2]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (312a), and (*E*)- $[3,3,5^{\circ},5^{\circ},5^{\circ},2^{\circ}H_5]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (312b) were incorporated efficiently (>20%) into phomamide (171); (iii) $[2,3,3^{-2}H_3]$ -(L)-serine (233d) and $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ cyclo-(L)-tyr-(L)-ser (252a) were incorporated poorly (<5%) into phomamide (171) and sirodesmin PL (165).



Figure 2.23. Sections of the ¹H NMR spectrum of phomamide (**171**). A, control, B, fed with $[3,3-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ -(*L*)-tyrosine (**251a**).

In the ¹H NMR spectrum of phomamide (Table 2.10) two methylene protons (H₂-5) were well separated at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.30 (H-5a, dd, J = 14.0, 3.5 Hz) and $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.00 (H-5b, dd, J =14.0, 8.9 Hz), so the integration of H-5a and H-5b could be obtained. The resonances of H-5a and H-5b of phomamide were integrated as ca. 0.7 and 0.9, respectively, when $[3,3-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ -(L)-tyrosine (251a) was used as the feeding material, whereas control samples showed the integration of ca. 1 as expected (Figure 2.23). Therefore, there was incorporation of deuterium and a higher deuterium percentage at H-5a (30%) than at H-5b (10%). The observation of unequal distribution of deuterium indicated the partial exchange of deuterium during the incorporation of $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]-(L)$ -tyrosine (251a) into phomamide. This result was consistent with the result obtained from the HRMS-EI data of phomamide isolated from cultures fed with $[3,3-{}^{2}H_{2}]-(L)$ -tyrosine (251a). The $[M+1]^{+}$ and $[M+2]^+$ ions were ca 20% and 12% higher than those of control samples, respectively, indicating that ca 20% of phomamide was monodeuterated and ca 12% was dideuterated (calculation see note in Table 2.9). That is the result calculated from HRMS-EI suggested that 32% of phomamide was biosynthesized from incorporation of $[3,3-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ -(L)-tyrosine (251a), which was very close to the result calculated from ¹H

NMR using deuterium enrichment at H-5a (30%). Therefore, the deuterium enrichment at H-5a represents both mono- and di- deuterated phomamide. Furthermore, the percentage of deuterium enrichment at H-5b (10%) was almost equal to the percentage of dideuterated phomamide calculated from the HRMS-EI (12%), which indicates that the deuterium enrichment at H-5b represents the dideuterated phomamide. Since both HRMS-EI and ¹H NMR gave consistent results, it is clear that the partial deuterium exchange happened selectively at H-5b position. Similar results were obtained in the experiments when $[3,3-{}^{2}H_{2}]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312a**) was fed to the cultures of *L. maculans* (Table 2.9).

Η#	¹³ C NMR	¹ H NMR
1	166.3	
2	56.3	4.06, 1H, m
3	167.5	
4	56.3	4.22, 1H, m
5	39.5	a. 3.30, 1H, dd, (14.0, 3.5)
		b. 2.99, 1H, dd, (14.0, 8.9)
6	127.0	
7	130.9 (2C)	7.13, 2H, d, (8.4)
8	115.5 (2C)	6.90, 2H, d, (8.4)
9	158.6	
10	65.1	4.51, 2H, d, (6.6)
11	119.7	5.49, 1H, t, (6.6)
12	138.7	
13	18.5	1.76, 3H, s
14	26.1	1.81, 3H, s
15	64.1	a. 3.72, 1H, m
		b. 3.48, 1H, m
NH		6.14, 1H, s; 5.83, 1H, s
ОН		2.30, 1H, bs

Table 2.10. ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125MHz) and ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500MHz) spectral data of phomamide (**171**). Chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (J in Hz)



Η#	¹³ C NMR	¹ H NMR
1	163.1	
2	77.3	
3	165.3	
4	75.5	
5	43.8	3.27, 2H, brABq (17.1)
6	82.4	
7	79.2	5.56, 1H, s
8	89.7	
9	223.5	
10	47.8	
11	80.3	3.95, 1H, q, (6.2)
12	33.9	1.75, 1H, dd, (14.2, 8.2)
		2.77, 1H, dd, (14.2, 8.8)
13	67.3	4.34, 1H, m,
14	61.1	4.35, 1H, m,
		4.31, 1H, m,
15	27.6	3.16, 3H, s
16	20.6	1.04, 3H, s
17	17.5	1.12, 3H, s
18	14.4	1.27, 3H, d, (6.2)
19	170.1	
20	20.7	2.11, 3H, s
OH-6		4.20, 1H, s
OH-14		3.39, 1H, dd, (9.0, 6.4)

Table 2.11. ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 125MHz) and ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500MHz) spectral data of sirodesmin PL (**165**). Chemical shifts (ppm) and multiplicities (*J* in Hz)

The deuterium enrichment in sirodesmin PL (165) from feeding experiments was also analyzed using HRMS-EI, ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR spectral data. In the ¹H NMR spectrum (Table 2.11) of sirodesmin PL (165) the resonance at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 3.27 is H₂-5, where the deuterium is expected to be incorporated. This resonance integrated for ca. 2 in the natural abundance samples of sirodesmin PL (165) and for < 2 (1.4-1.6) in samples resulting from incorporation of $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]$ -(L)-tyrosine. However, the quantification of mono and di deuterated sirodesmin PL cannot be obtained from the integration of H₂-5 because these two methylene protons appeared as a broad AB quartet. Unexpectedly, a shoulder peak of proton H-7 ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.56), that was not present in control samples (Figure 2.24), was displayed in the samples of purified sirodesmin PL (165) from feeding experiments using $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]$ -(L)-tyrosine (**312a**). Integration of these two signals using resolution enhancement (Lorentz-Gaussian line-shape transformations and baseline corrections) resulted in two well separated singlets at δ_H 5.556 and δ_H 5.550 in a 2:1 ratio (Figure 2.24B). The upfielded singlet (H-7, $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.560) was caused by the replacement of protons H-5 with deuterium (this statement is discussed in next paragraph). Therefore, about 33% of sirodesmin PL (165) had deuterium at C-5 position, which was consistent with the HRMS-EI results of sirodesmin PL purified from incorporation of $[3,3^{-2}H_2]$ -(L)-tyrosine (251a). The intensity of $[M]^+$ of sirodesmin PL was very weak, so the base peak $[M-S_2]^+$ was used to calculate the percentage of deuterium incorporation. The intensity of the $[M-S_2+1]^+$ and $[M-S_2+2]^+$ ions were about 19% and 13% higher than those of control samples respectively, suggesting both monodeuterated (19%) and dideuterated (13%) sirodesmin PL were present in the sirodesmin PL isolated from the cultures incubated with $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]-(L)$ -tyrosine (251a). Therefore, the total amount of deuterated sirodesmin PL was about 32% calculated from HRMS-EI.



Figure 2.24. Sections of the ¹H NMR spectrum of sirodesmin PL (**165**). A, H-7 signal of natural abundance; B, ¹H NMR, H-7 signal (peaks 1 at δ 5.556 and 2 at δ 5.550) of **165** due to partial deuteration at C-5.



Figure 2.25. Sections of the ¹³C NMR spectrum of sirodesmin PL (**165**). A, control, peak 1: C-6 signal of natural abundance; B, peak 2: C-6 signal of **165b**, and peak 3: C-6 signal of **165b** due to partial deuteration at C-5.

When considering the isotope effect of 2 H-5 on H-7, one would doubt that it is possible to observe the isotope effect when two nuclei are four bonds away in a nonconjugated system. But it is still possible to observe the isotope effect where two nuclei are five bonds away but close enough in space, termed "intrinsic steric isotope

effect (ISIE)" (Anet and Dekmezian, 1979). When the proton decoupled ¹³C NMR of sirodesmin PL isolated from feeding [3,3-²H₂]-(L)-tyrosine was inspected, the isotope effect of two nuclei through two bonds (β -isotope effect) was observed in both C-4 (δ_C 75.46, 75.40, 75.32) and C-6 (δ_{C} 82.44, 82.38, 82.34, Figure 2.25), which again indicated two types of deuterium containing sirodesmin PL (mono- and di- deuterated) were present in the sirodesmin PL samples because of the presence of the additional two upfield peaks (δ_C 75.40, 75.32 of C-4 and δ_C 82.38, 82.34 of C-6). The α -isotope effect (two nuclei through one bond) was not observed at C-5 because the splitting of C-5 is expected due to spin-spin coupling between ${}^{13}C-5$ and ${}^{2}H-5$, i.e. ${}^{13}C({}^{2}HH)$: triplet, 1:1:1 intensity, and $\frac{13}{C}(^{2}H_{2})$ quintet, 1:2:3:2:1 intensity. This splitting reduced the intensity of each peak and consequently the peaks were buried in the background noise. No isotope effect on C-7 was observed from ²H-5, because the isotope effect decreases as the number of bonds increases. The above results and analysis fit in the theory of isotope effect through bonds (Schneider, 2007). Now considering the isotope effect through space, the direct distance between deuterium ²H₂-5 to H-7 was calculated to be 2.47 Å (H-5a - H-7) and 3.59 Å (H-5b - H-7) based on Molecular Mechanics Calculations (Spartan 06 software package, method MMFF94). It would be expected that only the deuterated molecules having the deuterium close enough (< 3 Å) can show intrinsic steric deuterium isotope effects (Anet and Dekmezian, 1979). Therefore the peak at $\delta_{\rm H}$ 5.550 was the result of the deuterium isotope effect caused by the deuterium located at the H-5a position (pro S hydrogen) through space but not H-5b (pro R hydrogen) (Figure 2.26). This conclusion gives a basis to analyze the deuterium incorporation pattern from [3,3-²H₂]-(L)-tyrosine (**251a**) into sirodesmin PL (**165**).



Figure 2.26. Intrinsic steric deuterium isotope (ISDI) effect detected in sirodesmin PL (165). ISDI of ${}^{2}\text{H}_{s}$ -5 on the ${}^{1}\text{H}$ NMR chemical shift of H-7 detected in 165a and 165b was ca. 3 Hz. (No ISDI was detected in 165c).

It was concluded from HRMS-EI results of sirodesmin PL resulting from incorporation of [3,3-²H₂]-(L)-tyrosine (251a) that 13% was dideuterated and 19% was monodeuterated. However, it is impossible to distinguish where the deuterium is located in the monodeuterated sirodesmin PL, i.e., only at pro R, only at pro S or randomly distributed at both positions from HRMS-EI data. The total enrichment of deuterium is about the same whether calculated from the HRMS-EI data (ca. 32%) or calculated from the isotope effect at H-7 shown in the ¹H NMR spectrum (ca. 33%.). Dideuterated sirodesmin PL contributed only 13% to the isotope effect seen on H-7. Therefore, the remaining 20% (33%-13%) isotope effect on H-7 has to come from the deuterium located at the pro S position. This number is about the same as monodeuterated sirodesmin PL determined from HRMS-EI (19%), which means all the monodeuterated sirodesmin PL has the deuterium located at pro S position. Therefore, a stereo-specific β -deuterium exchange happened during the incorporation of $[3,3-^{2}H_{2}]$ -(L)-tyrosine (251a) into sirodesmin PL (165, Scheme 2.13). The pro R deuterium was preferentially exchanged. Similar results were obtained from feeding experiments with [3,3-2H2]Oprenyl-(L)-tyrosine (312a, Table 2.9). Actually, as discussed before for the incorporation of $[3,3^{-2}H_2]$ -(L)-tyrosine (251a) or $[3,3^{-2}H_2]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (312a) into phomamide (171), the different deuterium enrichment at H-5a and H-5b was also noticed, which indicated selective exchange of the β -deuterium. But the resonances of the pro S and pro R protons cannot be assigned in the ¹H NMR spectrum of phomamide (171) due to rotation of the bond between C-4 and C-5.



Scheme 2.13. Incorporation of $[3,3^{-2}H_2]L$ -tyrosine (**251a**), $[3,3^{-2}H_2]O$ -prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312a**) and $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ phomamide (**171a**) into sirodesmin PL(**165**). Dideuterated (**165a**) and monodeuterated (**165b**) sirodesmin PL were formed when **251a** or **312a** was fed to the cultures of *Leptoshphaeria maculans* but **165b** is not formed; only **165a** not **165b** and **165c** formed from intact incorporation of $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ phomamide (**171a**) by *L*. *maculans*.

Further analysis of the feeding experiment results from incorporation of $[5,5-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ phomamide into sirodesmin PL indicated that this β -deuterium exchange did not happen after the formation of phomamide (**171**, Scheme 2.13). When dideuterated $[5,5-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ phomamide was fed to the culture, about 26% sirodesmin PL was dideuterated, only a small amount, 4%, of sirodesmin PL was monodeuterated. Considering the likely reincorporation of hydrolyzed fragment of $[5,5-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ phomamide, the detection of 4% monodeuterated sirodesmin PL is not surprising. Therefore, the stereospecific deuterium exchange happened before the formation of phomamide (after formation of phomamide no β -deuterium exchange happened). Consequently, the proposed intermediates leptomaculins (**272** and **274**) and deacetylleptomaculins (**273** and **275**) were ruled out as intermediates in the biosynthesis of sirodesmin PL for introduction of the sulfur bridge. If the double bond precursor (272 or 274) was formed to introduce sulfur, when dideuterated phomamide was fed to the culture, only monodeuterated sirodesmin PL would be detected. Similar β -deuterium exchange had been noticed in the study of the biosynthesis of gliotoxin (Bűlock et al., 1972). In that study the *pro* S proton was selectively exchanged.



Scheme 2.14. Incorporation of $[3,3,5',5',5'^2H_5]O$ -prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312b**) into sirodesmin PL (**165**). Pentadeuterated (**165d**) and tetradeuterated (**165e**) as well as dideuterated (**165a**) and monodeuterated (**165b**) sirodesmin PL were formed.

Another question to be answered in this study was at what stage does prenylation happen in the biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL (**165**). The deuterium enrichment obtained from incubation of $[5,5-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ cyclo-(L)-tyr-(L)-ser (**251a**) was very low, i.e., 3% and 2% into phomamide and sirodesmin PL, respectively (Table 2.9). On the other hand, $[5,5-{}^{2}H_{2}]$ phomamide gave 30% deuterium enrichment. It seems that the dioxopiperazine (**252**) is not the likely intermediate in the biosynthesis of sirodesmin PL. Considering the high incorporation of $[3,3-{}^{2}H_{2}]O$ -prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312a**) into phomamide (**171**) and sirodesmin PL (**165**), it is more likely that prenylated tyrosine will first couple to serine to form phomamide (**171**) instead of coupling of tyrosine and serine, then prenylation to form phomamide (**171**). Doubly labeled pentadeuterated (*E*)-[3,3,5',5',5',-{}^{2}H_{5}]O-prenyl(L)-tyrosine (**312b**) were synthesized and incubated with cultures. Both pentadeuterated and tetradeuterated phomamide (7% and 16%) and sirodesmin PL (4% and 9%) were detected using LC-MS-ESI from samples produced in cultures of *L. maculans*, which indicated the intact incorporation of prenylated tyrosine (Scheme 2.14). The results obtained from the incubation of pentadeuterated (*E*)-[3,3,5',5',5'- $^{2}H_{5}$]*O*-prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312b**) strongly supported the proposal that prenylation happens before the coupling of two amino acids in the biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL (**165**). In addition, ¹H NMR spectrum of sirodesmin PL from the incorporation of (*E*)-[3,3,5',5',5'- $^{2}H_{5}$]*O*-prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312b**) clearly showed that CH₃-17 of sirodesmin PL was derived from C²H₃-5' of (*E*)-[3,3,5',5',5'- $^{2}H_{5}$]*O*-prenyl-(L)-tyrosine (**312b**), which agrees with previous data (Férézou et al., 1980a).

The deuterium incorporation into phomamide (**171**) and sirodesmin PL (**165**) obtained from the incubation with $[2,3,3-{}^{2}H_{3}]$ -(L)-serine (**233d**) was very low, i.e., 3% and 4% respectively (Table 2.9). The substantially lower incorporation of serine than tyrosine could be due to the faster incorporation of serine into other primary pathways such as the synthesis of proteins and tryptophan and/or degradation to pyruvate and glycine. A rather low incorporation of both amino acids tyrosine and serine into phomamide and sirodesmin PL was reported previously (Férézou et al., 1980b).

Scheme 2.15 is proposed to summarize the results obtained from both feeding experiments with deuterated potential precursors (this section, section 2.3.2) and isolation of new metabolites from cultures of *L. maculans* in MM under standard conditions (section 2.1.1.1). Considering the β proton exchange when tyrosine or prenyl tyrosine was fed to cultures of *L. maculans* and the isolation of metabolite **288**, although alternative biosynthetic pathways are possible, it is proposed that tyrosine maybe conjugated with pyridoxal phosphate through a reversible α,β -elimination process (Vederas and Floss, 1980) to form an intermediate **322** which is prenylated to intermediate **323**. Hydrolysis of intermediate **323** to remove pyridoxal phosphate yields either compound **312** or α -keto-acid **324** and vise versa. α -Keto-acid **324** then is converted to compound **288** by decarboxylation and oxidation. Because of the reversible α,β -elimination process in the formation of intermediates **322** and **323**, one of the β deuterium is exchanged with medium proton when tyrosine or prenyl tyrosine is

incorporated into phomamide (**171**) and sirodesmin PL (**165**). However, if tyrosine or prenyl tyrosine is directly incorporated into phomamide and sirodesmin, then no β deuterium exchange happens, which yields the intact incorporation of tyrosine and prenyl tyrosine into phomamide and sirodesmin PL. Because both of these two biosynthetic pathways are present, mono- and di-deuterated phomamide and sirodesmin PL are detected in the feeding experiments. After the formation of phomamide, no proton exchange was observed suggesting that new metabolites leptomaculins **272** to **275** were, possibly, the further metabolites of sirodesmin PL, as proposed in Scheme 2.15. The formation of the double bond at C-5,6 position of sirodesmin PL is likely due to the break of the sulfur bridge, which gives intermediate **325**. Completely removal of sulfur atoms from intermediate **325** yields leptomaculins **272** to **275**, which in turn leads to the formation of leptomaculins **269** and **270**. Retention of the sulfur atom and removal of the hydroxyl methylene group of intermediate **325** leads to the formation of leptomaculins A (**267**) and B (**268**) through plausible intermediate **326**, **327** and **328**.



Scheme 2.15. Proposed biosynthesis and catabolism of sirodesmin PL (**165**). (postulated intermediates in brackets, adapted from Pedras and Yu, 2008).

2.4 MACROMOLECULAR ELICITORS AND PHYTOTOXINS PRODUCED BY *LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS*

An increasing number of elicitors and phytotoxins identified, recently, are macromolecules. For example, Nep1-like proteins (NLPs) are protein elicitors isolated from oomycetes, fungi and bacteria (Gijzen and Nurnberger, 2006). The protein Avr1, which was identified as a race specific elicitor from race 1 of fungus F. oxysporum, elicited the defense response of tomato carrying resistance gene *I-1* and resulted in the incompatible interaction between race 1 and tomato carrying resistance gene *I-1* (Houterman et al., 2008). Only a few HSTs were isolated and identified in recent years, for example ABR-toxin, a 27.5 kDa protein, was purified from germinating spores of Alternaria brassicae on leaves of cabbage, the host plant species (Parada et al., 2008). Therefore, isolation and identification of potential macromolecular elicitors and phytotoxins produced by L. maculans is important. The production of elicitor and/or phytotoxin active metabolites by fungi can be very sensitive to fungal growth conditions (Discussed in section 1.2.3.2). For example, the host-selective AB-toxin is produced by germinating spores of Alternaria brassicicola only on leaves of host plant species, but not on nonhost plant species or in culture media (Otani et al., 1998). The specific production of AB-toxin was found to be elicited by an oligosaccharide derived from host plants species (Oka et al., 2005). Therefore, fungal spore germination fluids produced by L. maculans inoculated on leaves of canola are also likely to produce potential elicitors and/or phytotoxins.

Preliminary experiments were carried out to find and optimize conditions from which potential elicitors and/or phytotoxins can be isolated and identified. The age of the plants, the concentration of fungal spores used for inoculation and the time of incubation on excised leaves were studied. The first two leaves of three-week-old plants of *B. napus* cv. Westar were excised and incubated in a Petri dish. Spore suspensions at a concentration of 2.5×10^7 /mL had higher germination rate, while almost no spore germination was observed at ten times higher concentration (2.5×10^8 /mL). After two days of incubation about 70% spores germinated while in another independent experiment 90% spores germinated. Although the time required to observe spore germination varies, two days was adequate as determined by inspection of the spore

suspension droplets on leaves under the microscope (40 μ L spore suspension droplets were used for each inoculation site). The spores were removed from suspensions to yield SGF by centrifugation (3500 rpm, for 15 minutes, twice). Control leaves were treated similarly with sterile water. From the above optimized conditions SGF (ca. 1.5 mg/mL, 18 leaves) and control (ca. 1.0 mg/ mL, 15 leaves) were collected and analyzed by HPLC and ¹H NMR.

The HPLC chromatograms showed that both SGF and control solution had a peak at $R_t = 4$ min. SGF contained more peaks around R_t 2.1 to 3.5 min. Less polar materials were not detected maybe because the concentration was too low. ¹H NMR of SGF showed some typical amino acid signals, such as the multiple resonances at δ_H 2.0-3.0 also several doublets at δ_H 1.5-0.9 could be isopropyl moieties. A few signals were also displayed within the aromatic proton range ($\delta_{\rm H}$ 6.6-7.5). The resonances of ¹H NMR of control showed polyol protons at δ_H 3.5-4.5 range similar to those observed in spectra of SGF but other resonances were too broad to be assigned. The elicitor-toxin bioassays of SGF were conducted using both brown mustard and canola. The phytoalexin erucalexin (329) was detected in the extracts of brown mustard leaves treated with SGF but not in the control. No phytoalexins were detected in the extracts of leaves of canola treated with SGF or controls. The leaves treated with SGF showed yellowing and necrosis on both brown mustard (Figure I.5, page xxxiv) and canola. The cotyledons of brown mustard also showed large yellowish areas when treated with SGF. No damage was observed in the controls, therefore, SGF appeared to contain elicitors and/or phytotoxins.



CHAPTER 3: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

The elicitor-toxin activity bioassay guided isolation of elicitors and phytotoxins produced by *L. maculans* lead to the isolation of general elicitors, sirodesmin PL (**165**) and deacetylsirodesmin PL (**166**) and specific elicitors, cerebrosides C (**14**) and D (**31**) from MM culture under standard conditions (Table 2.1, entry 1). As well, root growth inhibitor **212** and phytotoxins maculansins A (**299**) and B (**300**) were isolated from PDB cultures (Table 2.1, entry 11).

In this work, brown mustard (resistant to *L. maculans*) produced the phytoalexin rutalexin (127) in response to a mixture of cerebrosides C (14) and D (31); canola (susceptible to *L. maculans*) did not appear to respond to the mixture of cerebrosides C (14) and D (31), as no phytoalexins were detected. Cerebroside C (14) was shown to be a sphingolipid elicitor in several plant species (Umemura et al., 2004). Sphingolipids are fungal cell wall components. It was reported that conversion of sphingolipids to glycosphingolipids by glucosyltransferase is essential for spore germination, hyphal growth and cell cycle in *Aspergillus* species (Levery et al., 2002). Therefore, sphingolipids act as general elicitor/microbe associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) in the interaction of pathogens and host plants. However, brown mustard and canola responded to cerebrosides C (14) and D (31) differently, which is consistent with the susceptibility of canola to the pathogen *L. maculans*. Therefore, cerebrosides could be used as potential biologically derived control agents for the screening and selection of disease-resistant plants (Bautista-Banos et al., 2006; Graniti, 1991).

Maculansins A (**299**) and B (**300**) caused significant damage on leaves of both susceptible and resistant plants but did not elicit the production of phytoalexins. Compared to cerebrosides and maculansins, sirodesmins seemed to act as dual agents. They damaged plant leaves and elicited the production of phytoalexins in both resistant and susceptible plants. Which, if any, do these bioactive metabolites play a role in the interaction between *L. maculans* and its host plants? The attempt to identify these

metabolites in leaves of *B. napus* (Westar) infected by *L. maculans* gave results that were not consistent and convincing. Only recently, sirodesmin PL was detected in leaves of canola infected by *L. maculans* (Elliott et al., 2007). Nonetheless, further work related with these bioactive metabolites needs to be carried out to understand their role in the interaction between *L. maculans* and its host plants.

Although eight new metabolites, leptomaculins A-E (267-270 and 272-274), were isolated from elicitor active fractions, purified individual metabolites did not show elicitor or toxin activities when tested on brown mustard (B. juncea cv. Cutlass, resistant) and canola (B. napus cv. Westar, susceptible). This was likely caused by the presence of sirodesmins, which are present in most fractions due to their large range of polarity and interconversion (Pedras et al., 1990). Nonetheless, the biosynthesis of these new metabolites is intriguing. Leptomaculins D (272) and E (274) as well as acetyl leptomaculins D (273) and E (275) were ruled out as intermediates involving the introduction of sulfur into sirodesmins because of the intact incorporation of [5,5- 2 H₂]phomamide (**171a**) into sirodesmin PL (**165**). Instead, they are likely the further catabolism products of sirodesmin PL (165), as proposed in Scheme 2.15. Similarly, leptomaculin C (269) and acetylleptomaculin C (270) were also proposed as the catabolic products of sirodesmin PL (165) (Scheme 2.15). However, leptomaculin A (267) and leptomaculin B (268), the first naturally occurring examples of a 2.3oxopiperazinethione/dioxopiperazine, were biosynthesized through multiple steps with significant structural modification (Scheme 2.15), suggesting a special role of these two metabolites in the metabolism of L. maculans (Pedras and Yu, 2008).

Recently, a large number of orphan pathways were detected in microorganisms, which suggested that it is possible to discover a large number of secondary metabolites from one microorganism species (Gross, 2007). The isolation of bulgarein (**294**) and 8-hydroxynaphthalene-1-sulfate (**293**) from high NaCl MM media conditions and maculans A (**299**) and B (**300**) from PDB media demonstrated that diverse secondary metabolites can be obtained from one fungal species by varying culture conditions (Bode et al., 2002). The composition of culture media and amendments are literally unlimited. Therefore, there is a great potential to discover additional biologically active metabolites from *L. maculans*, which needs to be further explored.

Suggested future work

- 1. Isolation of macromolecular elicitors produced by *L. maculans* from SGF.
- 2. Identification of intermediates in the biosynthetic pathway of sirodesmin PL using genomics-guided strategies.
- Study of melanin biosynthetic pathway using high concentrations of NaCl (Table 2.1, entry 7).

CHAPTER 4: EXPERIMENTAL

4.1 GENERAL METHODS

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd., Oakville, ON; solvents were HPLC grade and used as such. Organic extracts were dried with Na₂SO₄ and solvents removed under reduced pressure in a rotary evaporator. Flash column chromatography (FCC) was carried out using silica gel grade 60, mesh size 230 - 400 Å. Preparative thin layer chromatography (prep TLC) was carried out on silica gel plates, Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄ (20 × 20 cm × 0.25 mm), compounds were visualized under UV light. Specific rotations [α]_D were determined at ambient temperature on a polarimeter using a 1 mL, 10 cm path length cell; the units are 10^{-1} deg cm² g⁻¹ and the concentrations are reported in g/100 mL.

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectra (¹H, ¹³C, HMQC – heteronuclear multiple quantum coherence, HMBC – heteronuclear multiple bond coherence) were recorded on Bruker Avance 500 spectrometers. High resolution (HR) electron impact (EI) mass spectra (MS), were obtained on a VG 70 SE mass spectrometer, employing a solids probe.

HPLC analysis was carried out with Agilent high performance liquid chromatographs equipped with quaternary pump, automatic injector, and diode array detector (DAD, wavelength range 190 - 600 nm), degasser, and a Hypersil ODS column (5 μ m particle size silica, 4.6 i.d. × 200 mm), having an in-line filter. Mobile phase: 75% H₂O - 25% CH₃CN to 100% CH₃CN, for 35 min, linear gradient, and at a flow rate 1.0 mL/min.

Minimal medium (MM) contains the following chemicals:

Solution 1: KNO₃ (3.12 g/L, 30.8 mM), K₂HPO₄ (0.75 g/L, 4.31 mM), KH₂PO₄ (0.75 g/L, 5.51 mM), NaCl (0.10 g/L, 1.71 mM), asparagine (0.28 g/L, 2.12 mM);

Solution 2: CaCl₂·2H₂O (0.10 g/L, 0.68 mM), MgSO₄·7H₂O (0.50 g/L, 2.03 mM); Solution 3: ZnSO₄·7H₂O (0.395 mg/L, 1.37 μ M), CuSO₄·5H₂O (0.079 mg/L, 0.32 μ M), MnSO₄·4H₂O (0.0405 mg/L, 0.18 μ M), MoO₃ (85%, 0.0175 mg/L, 0.12 μ M), ferric citrate (0.535 mg/L, 2.16 μ M), Na₂B₄O₇·10H₂O (0.0375 mg/L, 0.10 μ M); Solution 4: thiamine (0.1 mg/L, 0.38 μ M);

Glucose: (15 g/L, 83.3 mM).

Solutions 1 and 3 and glucose were mixed and the pH of the mixed solution was adjusted to 6.55 and autoclaved. The autoclaved solution was combined with solutions 2 and 4 (solutions 2 and 4 are sterilized, separately). Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was grown in Erlenmeyer flasks (250 mL) containing MM (100 mL) inoculated with fungal spores (10^8) and incubated on a shaker at 120 rpm, at 23 ± 2 °C for 7 days. Cultures were grown in triplicates.

4.2 POTENTIAL ELICITORS FROM LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS

4.2.1 Metabolites produced in minimal media

4.2.1.1 Standard condition

A total of 20 liters of cultures of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was prepared in standard MM (Table 2.1 entry 1, see 4.1 General Methods). Mycelia were separated from broth by vacuum filtration; the broth was extracted with EtOAc. The aqueous layer did not show elicitor activity (direct application of aliquot of aqueous layer on plant leaves), therefore it was autoclaved and discarded. The EtOAc layer was concentrated to yield 7.2 g of residue, which showed elicitor activity. Therefore the EtOAc extracts were fractioned as described in the following section. Mycelia were extracted with MeOH, the MeOH layer was concentrated, and the residue was resuspended in a solution of MeOH/H₂O (1:1 v/v) and then extracted with hexane. The MeOH/H₂O (1:1 v/v) layer was concentrated to give 12.6 g of residue. This residue did not show elicitor activity, and D-mannitol (**301**) was isolated as the major component. The hexane layer was

concentrated to give 3.4 g of residue and the residue (hexane extract) showed elicitor activity. Therefore, the hexane extracts were fractioned as described in experimental.

The EtOAc extract (7.2 g) was subjected to FCC on silica gel and eluted with a gradient of CH₂Cl₂–MeOH to yield 36 fractions (each 50 mL). Fractions F_{1-6} and F_{31-36} did not show elicitor activity, and F_{9-11} contained mainly sirodesmins (**165-169**), whereas $F_{24/25}$ contained mainly phomamide (**171**). Therefore, these fractions were not fractionated further. The remaining fractions showed either elicitor activity or contained new metabolites and were further fractionated as summarized in Schemes 4.1 to 4.3.

 $F_{7/8}$ was subjected to prep. TLC (CH₂Cl₂–MeOH, 95:5) to give phomalairdenone A **193** (0.9 mg). F_{9-11} was applied to reversed phase chromatography, CH₃CN–H₂O, (40:60) to give benzoaldehyde **212** (5.8 mg). F_{12-14} was applied to reversed phase chromatography, CH₃CN–H₂O, (25:75). Leptomaculin A (**267**, 1.5 mg) was obtained by prep. TLC (toluene–EtOAc–HOAc, 50:40:10, multiple developments) of fraction 2. Leptomaculin A (**269**, 1.5 mg) and deacetylleptomaculin C (**270**, 0.3 mg) were obtained by reverse phase column (CH₃CN–H₂O, 15:85) from a nonhomogenous PTLC fraction (toluene–EtOAc–HOAc, 50:40:10, multiple developments) of fraction seven.

 $F_{15/16}$ was applied to reversed phase chromatography, CH₃CN–H₂O, (10:90) 28 fractions were collected. Fractions 11 to 16 were combined and further subjected to prep. TLC (toluene–EtOAc–HOAc, 50:40:10, multiple developments) to yield leptomaculin D (**272**, 4.3 mg) and leptomaculin E (**274**, 4.0 mg). $F_{17/18}$ was applied to reversed phase chromatography, CH₃CN–H₂O, (25:75) to give **172** (6.0 mg). F_{19} to F_{22} were combined and applied to reversed phase chromatography, CH₃CN–H₂O, (20:80) and metabolite **290** was obtained by prep. TLC (MeOH–EtOAc, 10:90, multiple developments) of fraction nine.

 $F_{23/24}$ was applied to reversed phase chromatography, CH₃CN–H₂O, (10:90). Deacetylleptomaculins D (**273**, 3.7 mg) and E (**275**, 2.5 mg) were obtained from prep. TLC (toluene–EtOAc–HOAc, 50:40:10, multiple developments) of fraction three. $F_{25/26}$ was applied to reversed phase chromatography, CH₃CN–H₂O, (10:90). Leptomaculin B (**268**, 4.1 mg) was obtained from prep. TLC (CH₂Cl₂–MeOH, 70:30) of fraction five. F_{27-30} was applied to prep. TLC (CH₂Cl₂–MeOH–AcOH, 80:20:1) and followed by prep. TLC (toluene–EtOAc–HOAc, 80:10:10) to give **288** (3.6 mg).

The hexane extract (3.4 g) was subjected to FCC on silica gel and eluted with a gradient of CH_2Cl_2 –MeOH to yield 20 fractions (each 50 mL). Fractions F_{13} to F_{16} showed elicitor activity. Therefore, F_{13} to F_{16} were combined and subjected to prep. TLC (CHCl₃–MeOH, 70:30) to give 12.9 mg inseparable mixture of cerebroside C (14) and D (31).



Scheme 4.1. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from standard MM culture of BJ125.



Scheme 4.2. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from standard MM culture of BJ125.



Scheme 4.3. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from standard MM cultures of BJ125.

Leptomaculin A (267)

HPLC: $R_t = 4.7$ min.

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR see Table 2.2.

m.p. 252-256 °C decomposed.

HRMS-EI: *m/z* 425.1614, C₁₉H₂₇N₃O₆S, calcd. 425.1621. MS-EI *m/z* 425 (61%), 367 (100%).

FTIR (KBr): 3325, 3090, 2970, 2929, 2871, 1738, 1683, 1652 cm⁻¹.

UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ϵ) 202 (4.07), 274 (3.70), 312 (3.86) nm.

 $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = +56$ (c 0.10, MeOH).

Leptomaculin B (268)

HPLC: $R_t = 3.3$ min. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR see Table 2.2. HRMS-EI: *m/z* 409.1852, C₁₉H₂₇N₃O₇, calcd. 409.1849. MS-EI: *m/z* 409 (5%), 351(100%). FTIR (KBr): 3438, 3290, 2927, 2856, 1740, 1674 cm⁻¹. UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 224 (3.81) nm. [α]_D = - 45 (c 0.10, MeOH).

Leptomaculin C (269)

HPLC: R_t = 7.4 min.
¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR see Table 2.3.
HRMS-EI: *m/z* 423.1767, C₂₀H₂₇N₂O₈, calcd. 423.1767. MS-EI: *m/z* 423(10%), 422(8%), 365(100%), 323(57%).
FTIR (KBr): 3379, 2974, 1751, 1710, 1395, 1236 cm⁻¹.

Deacetylleptomaculin C (270)

HPLC: $R_t = 4.7$ min. ¹H NMR see Table 2.3. HRMS-ESI: $m/z [M+1]^+$ 381.1660, $C_{18}H_{25}N_2O_7$, calcd. 381.1656. FTIR (KBr): 3368, 2927, 2841, 1743, 1674, 1017 cm⁻¹.

Leptomaculin D (272)

HPLC: $R_t = 4.8$ min.

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR see Tables 2.4 and 2.5, respectively.

HRMS-EI: *m/z* 422.1678, C₂₀H₂₆N₂O₈, calcd. 422.1676. MS-EI: *m/z* 422 (4%), 380 (10%), 344 (18%), 223 (74%), 200 (86%), 140 (100%).

FTIR (KBr): 3425, 2972, 2934, 2872, 1751, 1677, 1644, 1446, 1231, 1081, 738 cm⁻¹.

UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 220 (3.92), 254 (3.87) nm. [α]_D = - 47 (c 0.22, CHCl₃).

Deacetylleptomaculin D (273).

HPLC: $R_t = 3.8$ min. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR see Tables 2.4 and 2.5, respectively. HRMS-EI: *m/z* 380.1591, C₁₈H₂₄N₂O₇, calcd. 380.1584. MS-EI: *m/z* 380(66%), 344(22%), 223(90%), 211(73%), 180(100%), 158(84%), 70 (46%). FTIR (KBr): 3375, 2927, 1750, 1675, 1640, 1464, 1405, 1085 cm⁻¹. UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 221 (3.96), 255 (3.94) nm. [α]_D = - 82 (c 0.14, CHCl₃).

Leptomaculin E (274).

HPLC: $R_t = 6.2$ min. ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR see Tables 2.4 and 2.5, respectively. HRMS-EI: *m/z* 422.1675, C₂₀H₂₆N₂O₈, calcd. 422.1689. MS-EI: *m/z* 422 (21%), 223 (57%), 200 (67%), 140 (100%). FTIR (KBr): 3416, 2974, 2935, 1752, 1681, 1645 cm⁻¹. UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 219 (4.01), 254 (3.97) nm. [α]_D = - 66 (c 0.21, CHCl₃).

Deacetylleptomaculin E (275).

HPLC: $R_t = 3.1$ min.

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR see Tables 2.4 and 2.5, respectively.

HRMS-EI: m/z 380.1585, C18H24N2O7, calcd. 380.1584. MS-EI: m/z 380 (10%), 362

(12%), 223 (50%), 180 (43%), 158 (100%), 140 (43%), 70 (21%).

FTIR (KBr): 3414, 2968, 2930, 1750, 1676, 1641, 1466, 1083 cm⁻¹.

UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ϵ) 221 (4.04), 256 (3.99) nm.
$[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -93$ (c 0.13, CHCl₃).

Cerebroside C (14)

¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR see Table 2.6.

HRMS-ESI: $[M+1]^+ m/z$ 754.5827, C₄₃H₈₀NO₉, calcd. 754.5827;

HRMS-ESI-MS²: [M+Na]⁺ *m/z* 776.5686, *m/z* 758, 614, 596, 496, 346, 334.

Metabolite (290)

HPLC: GRADSCR R_t = 9.2 min.

¹H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-d₆): δ 9.37 (bs, 1H), 8.28(bs, 1H), 8.19 (s, 1H), 6.98 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 6.34 (d, J = 2.4 Hz, 1H), 6.31 (d, J = 8.4, 2.4 Hz, 1H,), 5.38 (m, 1H), 5.02 (t, J = 5.7 Hz, 1H), 4.40 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 3.69 (dd, J = 10.9, 5.8 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (dd, J = 10.8, 3.3 Hz, 1H), 3.39 (dd, J = 5.8, 3.3 Hz, 1H), 3.27 (d, J = 13.9 Hz, 1H), 2.97 (d, J = 13.8 Hz, 1H), 2.17 (s, 3H), 1.72 (s, 3H), 1.67 (s, 3H).

¹³C NMR (125 MHz, DMSO-d₆): δ 165.6 (2C), 158.6, 156.3, 136.8, 132.1, 120.0,

113.8, 105.5, 102.0, 67.0, 64.1, 62.0, 57.2, 39.0, 25.4, 18.0, 12.9. HRMS-ESI *m*/*z* [M+Na]⁺ 403.1298, C₁₈H₂₄N₂O₅NaS, calcd. 403.1298;

4.2.1.2 High NaCl

Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was grown in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks (100 mL minimal medium) inoculated with fungal spores (1×10^8). The cultures were incubated on a shaker at 120 rpm and 23 ± 2 °C. Different amounts of NaCl (1.0 g / 100 mL, 2.0 g / 100 mL or 4.0 g / 100 mL) were added at different incubation times (0, 3, 4, or 5 day) (Table 2.1, entries 2 to 8). Cultures (10 mL) were collected on the 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, 9th and 11th days, extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 3) and extracts were analyzed by HPLC (triplicate cultures).

Isolation of metabolites (Table 2.1, entry 7): Isolate BJ 125 culture was grown in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks (100 mL minimal medium) inoculated with BJ 125 spores

 (1×10^8) . The cultures were incubated on a shaker (150 rpm) at 23 ± 2 °C for 4 days, and then NaCl (4 g / 100 mL) was added. On the 7th day the cultures were harvested. The broth was separated from mycelia by vacuum filtration. A total of 12 liters of broth was collected and extracted with EtOAc. The EtOAc extracts (1.4 g) was applied to Rp-18 reverse phase FCC (CH₃CN-H₂O, gradient elution). F_{4.7} (66 mg) was further purified with Rp-18 reverse phase FCC (CH₃CN-H₂O, 5:95) to give 35.2 mg of compound **293** (Scheme 4.4). Mycelia were washed with distilled water twice and extracted with MeOH (200 mL× 3). The MeOH extract was concentrated to 50 mL and filtered. The filtrate was concentrated to dryness to give 2.5g residue. The residue was subjected to FCC and eluted with MeOH-CH₂Cl₂ (5 % MeOH to 25 % MeOH gradient). The elute from 20 % MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (50 mg) was subjected to Rp-18 reverse phase chromatography, 10% MeOH-H₂O to 50% MeOH-H₂O gradient elution, F₁₂ to F₁₈ gave 4.7 mg of blue color pigment bulgarein **294** (Scheme 4.4).



MM (NaCl) culture of BJ 125

Scheme 4.4. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from high NaCl MM cultures of BJ125.

8-hydroxyl-naphthalenylsulfate (293)

m. p. 223-225 °C decomposed.

HPLC: GRADSCR R_t = 2.3 min.

- ¹H NMR (500 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.79 (dd, *J* = 4.9, 4.4 Hz, 1H), 7.51 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.47 (bd, *J* = 5.1 Hz, 2H), 7.42 (dd, *J* = 8.0, 7.8 Hz, 1H); 6.99 (d, *J* = 7.7 Hz, 1H);
- ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, D₂O): δ 151.3, 146.7, 136.8, 127.4, 126.5, 126.0, 120.3, 118.0, 117.4, 111.5.
- HRMS-ESI: m/z [M-1] 239.0024, C₁₀H₇O₅S, Calcd. 239.0019; MS-EI: m/z 160 (100%);

FTIR (KBr): 3329, 1628, 1602, 1583, 1235 cm⁻¹;

UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ϵ): 225 (4.55), 302 (3.77), 316 (3.69), 330 (3.61) nm.

Bulgarein (294)

HPLC: GRADSCR R_t = 4.1 (broad) min.

- ¹H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-d₆): δ 13.48 (bs, 2H), 12.66 (bs, 1H), 8.27 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 1H), 7.96 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.57 (bs, 1H), 7.38 (bs, 1H), 6.67 (bs, 1H), 6.59 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (d, *J* = 9.0 Hz, 1H);
- ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, DMSO-d₆): δ 183.1 (2C), 160.6 (3C), 137.2 (C-6), 137.1, 134.5 (C-12), 134.1, 127.9 (C-18), 123.6, 122.3, 119.9, 119.7, 116.7 (C-7), 115.4, 114.7, 112.3, 109.3, 109.1;

HRMS-ESI *m*/*z* [M-1] 329.0441, C₂₀H₉O₅, calcd. 329.0455;

FTIR (KBr): 3397, 2938, 1619, 1585, 1465, 1213 cm⁻¹;

UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ϵ) 631 (4.04), 376 (3.79), 252 (4.32) nm.

4.2.2 Metabolites produced in potato dextrose medium

HPLC analysis of metabolites in PDB cultures (Table 2.1, entries 9 to 12): Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was grown in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing PDB medium (100 mL) inoculated with fungal spores (10^8) and incubated on a shaker at 120 rpm, at 23, 25, 27, and 29 °C. Cultures (20 mL), 4-day-old or 7-day-old, were filtered to separate the broth from mycelia. The broth was extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 3) and the EtOAc layer was dried with Na₂SO₄, and then concentrated. The residue was dissolved in CH₃CN (1 mL) and analyzed by HPLC.

Isolation of metabolites (Table 2.1, entry 11): A total of 5 L PDB media culture of *L. maculans* was prepared as reported above. After 4 days the culture was filtered, and the broth was extracted with EtOAc. The EtOAc extract was concentrated to give 360 mg of residue. The residue was separated by FCC (RP-18, CH₃CN–H₂O, 10:90 to 40:60, gradient elution) to yield 30 fractions (15 ml per fraction). F₈₋₁₀ was further purified by FCC (MeOH-CH₂Cl₂ 0:100 to 5:95, gradient elution) to give compound **212** (10.5 mg). F₁₅₋₁₈ (45.1 mg) was further purified by prep TLC (MeOH-CH₂Cl₂, 5:95) to yield maculansin A (**299**, 9.7 mg) and an inseparable mixture (21 mg) with R_t = 14.7 min. F₂₂₋₂₅ contained a mixture of maculansin type metabolites that were further separated by prep TLC to yield an epimeric mixture of maculansin B (**300**, 1.6 mg) (Scheme 4.5).



Scheme 4.5. Flow chart for separation of metabolites from PDB cultures of BJ125.

HPLC: $R_t = 16.4$ min.

- ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 5.13 (m, 2H), 4.64 (dd, J = 12.5, 2.5 Hz, 2H), 4.41 (dd, J = 12.5, 4.2 Hz, 2H), 3.89 (t, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 3.00 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 2H, D₂O exchangeable), 2.31 (s, 6H), 2.18 (s, 6H), 2.11 (s, 6H).
- ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 171.6, 168.0, 160.5, 158.3, 115.0, 72.8, 67.4, 62.3, 25.1, 21.5, 21.1.
- HRMS-EI: *m/z* 480.1749, C₂₂H₂₈N₂O₁₀, calcd. 480.1744. MS-EI: *m/z* 480 (3%), 465 (22%), 115 (100%).

FTIR (KBr): 3460, 2960, 2923, 2116, 1740, 1732, 1222 cm⁻¹.

UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 231 (4.2) nm;

 $[\alpha]_{\rm D} = -71$ (c 0.10, CHCl₃)

Maculansin B (300)

HPLC $R_t = 18.3$ min.

- ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 5.2 (m, 1H), 5.1 (m, 1H), 4.6 (m, 2H), 4.4 (m, 2H), 4.28 (d, *J* = 4.2 Hz, 1H), 3.8 (m, 2H), 3.07 (d, *J* = 7.4 Hz, 1H, OH), 2.93 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 1H, OH), 2.4 (m, 1H), 2.32 (s, 3H), 2.19 (s, 3H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 1.14 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H), 1.04 (d, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H).
- ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 171.5 (2C), 158.8, 116.6, 115.0, 74.0, 72.5, 67.6 (2C), 62.8, 61.9 (2C), 24.8, 21.3 (2C), 20.8 (2C), 19.5, 16.6, (C-1', -6', and -1'' were not detected).
 ¹³C NMR spectral data were obtained from analysis of HMQC and HMBC correlations.

HRMS-ESI: $[M+Na]^+ m/z$ 505.1807, $C_{22}H_{28}N_2O_{10}Na$, calcd. 505.1792. HRMS-ESI-MS/MS: m/z 505 (100%), 380 (40%), 378 (70%), 253 (27%).

4.2.3 **Production of metabolites in other stress conditions**

Minimal medium cultures incubated at 29°C (Table 2.1, entry 13)

The minimal medium culture was prepared the same as in the general method (Table 2.1, entry 1), except the incubation temperature was at 29°C. Culture broth (10 mL) was extracted with EtOAc (25 mL \times 2) on the 4th and 7th days after inoculation of spores and the extracts were analyzed by HPLC (triplicates).

Minimal medium cultures amended with different amount of MgSO₄·7H₂O (Table 2.1, entries 14, 15 and 16)

The condition in Table 2.1 entry 14 was prepared as follows: MgSO₄·7H₂O (15.0 mg, 0.060 mmol) and CaCl₂·2H₂O (30.0 mg, 0.20 mmol) were added to distilled water (30 mL) and the solution was autoclaved. Ten mL of the latter solution was added to an autoclaved solution (90 mL) of a mixture of solution 1 (10 mL), solution 3 (0.1 mL), distilled water (80 mL) and glucose (1.5 g). The spores (10⁸) of Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was grown in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing this prepared minimal medium (100 mL). The remaining conditions were the same as that in the general method (triplicates). The conditions in Table 2.1 entries 15 and 16 were prepared similarly with MgSO₄·7H₂O at 75.0 mg (0.30 mmol) and 300.0 mg (1.20 mmol), respectively. Culture broth (10 mL) was collected on the 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th, 8th and 10th days, extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 3) and the extracts were analyzed by HPLC.

Minimal medium cultures amended without thiamine (Table 2.1, entry 17)

Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was grown in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing MM (100 mL) without addition of thiamine, inoculated with fungal spores (10^8). The cultures were incubated on a shaker at 120 rpm, 23 ± 2 °C. Culture broth (10 mL) was collected on the 4th, 5th, 6th, and 7th days, extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 3) and the extracts were analyzed by HPLC (duplicates).

Minimal medium cultures amended with leaves of brown mustard without thiamine (Table 2.1, entry 18)

Fresh leaves (four leaves, ca 0.40 g wt) of brown mustard were added into a 250 mL Erlenmeyer flask containing minimal medium (100 mL) without addition of thiamine. Then spores (10^8) of Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was inoculated in thus made media. Cultures were incubated on a shaker at 120 rpm, 23 ± 2 °C. Culture broth (10 mL) was collected on the 4th, 5th, 6th, and 7th days, extracted with EtOAc ($20 \text{ mL} \times 3$) and the extracts were analyzed by HPLC (triplicates).

Minimal medium cultures amended with phytoalexins (Table 2.1, entries 19and 20)

Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was grown in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing minimal medium (100 mL) inoculated with fungal spores (1×10^8) . Cultures were incubated on a shaker at 120 rpm, at 23 ± 2 °C for 3 days and solutions of camalexin (final concentration 1×10^{-4} M in MM) or spirobrassinin (final concentration 1×10^{-4} M in MM) or spirobrassinin (final concentration 1×10^{-4} M in MM) were collected on the 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th and 9th days, extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 3) and the extracts were analyzed by HPLC. Controls (0.2 mL DMSO) were treated similarly.

PDB medium cultures amended with phytoalexins (Table 2.1, entry 21 and 22)

Isolate BJ 125 was grown in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing PDB media (100 mL) inoculated with fungal spores (1×10^8) . The cultures were incubated on a shaker at 120 rpm, at 23 ± 2 °C for 3 days and the 0.2 mL DMSO solution of camalexin $(1 \times 10^{-4} \text{ M})$ or spirobrassinin $(1 \times 10^{-4} \text{ M})$ were added into the cultures. From the 4th to 7th day, cultures (10 ml) were extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 3) every 24 hours and the extracts were analyzed by HPLC. Controls with 0.2 mL DMSO were treated similarly.

V₈ juice medium culture (Table 2.1, entry 23)

Glucose (6.0 g) was added into a mixture of V₈ juice (60 mL) diluted with H₂O (540 mL). The mixture was stirred for 5 minutes, transferred into falcon tubes (40 mL/ tube) and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3500 rpm. The supernatant was filtered through a nylon cloth. The filtrate was collected and autoclaved. After cooling to room temperature, the medium was transferred to Erlenmeyer flasks (100 mL / flask). The spores (10^8) of Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) were inoculated into the above prepared medium and incubated on a shaker at 120 rpm. Culture broth (10 mL) was collected on the 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th and 9th days, extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 3) and the extracts were analyzed by HPLC (triplicates).

4.2.4 Synthesis and chemical derivatization of metabolites

Acetylleptomaculin C (271)

Pyridine (0.1 mL) and acetic anhydride (0.1 mL) were added to compound **10** (1.0 mg) at room temperature and stirred overnight. The solvents were removed to yield compound **12** (1.1 mg). HPLC: $R_t = 12.4$ min. ¹H NMR see Table 2.3. HRMS-EI: m/z 464.1799, $C_{22}H_{28}N_2O_9$, calcd. 464.1795. MS-EI: m/z 464 (22%), 407 (100%), 365 (54%). FTIR (KBr): 3401, 2959, 1755, 1712, 1232 cm⁻¹.

Compound 276

Acetic anhydride (5 mL) was added to sirodesmin H (**169**, 589 mg, 1.30 mmol) and the reaction solution was heated at 110 °C, overnight. The reaction mixture was concentrated and the residue was fractionated using FCC, EtOAc-CH₂Cl₂ (1:4) to give compound **276** (581 mg, yield 77%). HPLC: $t_{\rm R} = 20.1$ min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.49 (s, 1H), 5.40 (s, 1H), 5.03 (dd, J = 8.9, 4.9 Hz, 1H), 4.61 (d, J = 11.2 Hz, 1H), 4.37 (d, J = 11.2 Hz, 1H), 3.74 (q, J = 6.3 Hz, 1H), 3.07 (s, 3H), 2.54 (dd, J = 14.5, 8.9 Hz, 1H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 2.08 (s, 3H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.01 (s, 3H), 1.94 (dd, J = 14.5, 4.8 Hz,

1H), 1.21 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 3H), 1.00 (s, 3H), 0.97 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 218.0, 191.8, 169.9, 169.3, 168.8, 159.3, 156.6, 135.6, 115.9, 90.8, 86.9, 79.9, 79.6, 77.0, 65.9, 63.4, 47.5, 34.8, 31.0, 30.1, 21.2, 20.7, 20.5, 20.1, 17.5, 14.2. HRMS-EI: m/z580.1717, C₂₆H₃₂N₂O₁₁S, calcd. 580.1727. MS-EI: m/z 580 (6%), 505 (24%), 385 (49%), 287 (60%), 245 (100%), 205 (67%); FTIR (KBr): 2971, 2928, 1752, 1691, 1443, 1363, 1236, 1044 cm⁻¹; UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 223 (4.09), 267 (4.15) nm; [α]_D= +43 (*c* 0.11, MeOH), [α]_D= +26 (c 0.20, CHCl₃).

Compounds 280a and 280b

Compound 276 (12.8 mg, 0.022 mmol) was dissolved in 1% HCl in MeOH (10 mL) at room temperature and kept overnight. After concentration, Raney nickel (1.5 mL) in MeOH (5 mL) was added to the residue and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 1 h. The reaction mixture was filtered and the solids washed with MeOH (5 mL \times 4), the combined methanolic phase was filtered through a celite pad, and the filtrate was concentrated and applied to a RP-C₁₈ FCC, CH₃CN-H₂O (20:80). Further chromatography of polar fraction (prep TLC, MeOH-CH₂Cl₂, 5:95) yielded compound **280b** (0.9 mg, 9% yield). HPLC: $t_{\rm R} = 8.9$ min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.48 (s, 1H), 5.49 (d, J = 1.0 Hz, 1H), 4.92 (dd, J = 8.0, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 4.08 (brd, J = 11.5 Hz, 1H), 4.02 (dd, J = 3.0, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 3.94 (dd, J = 11.5, 3.0 Hz, 1H), 3.77 (q, J = 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.08 (s, 3H), 2.47 (dd, J = 15.0, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 2.35 (bs, 1H, OH), 2.24 (bd, J = 15.0Hz, 1H), 2.05 (bs, 6H), 1.20 (d, J = 6.0 Hz, 3H), 0.98 (s, 3H), 0.97 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 216.9, 169.2, 168.8, 161.6, 156.7, 137.0, 114.6, 93.3, 87.5, 80.9, 79.8, 67.1, 66.2, 62.3, 47.5, 35.6, 32.3, 21.3, 20.8 (2C), 17.8, 15.3. HRMS-EI: m/z 464.1785, C₂₂H₂₈N₂O₉, calcd. 464.1795. MS-EI: m/z 464 (8%), 422 (38%), 404 (44%), 380 (54%), 362 (100%), 314 (52%), 223 (78%); FTIR (KBr): 3471, 2971, 2939, 1755, 1674, 1642, 1448, 1378, 1233, 1034 cm⁻¹. UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 220 (4.05), 259 (4.06) nm; $[\alpha]_D = +77$ (c 0.10, MeOH). Further chromatography of less polar fraction (prep TLC MeOH-CH₂Cl₂, 5:95) yielded compound **280a** (2.9 mg, 28% yield). HPLC: $t_{\rm R} = 9.5 \text{ min.}^{1} \text{H NMR}$ (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.29 (s, 1H), 5.18 (s, 1H), 5.00 (dd, J = 8.5, 6.5 Hz, 1H), 4.14 (brd, J = 12.0 Hz, 1H), 4.03 (brd, J = 3.5 Hz, 1H), 3.93 (dd, J = 12.0,

4.0 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (q, J = 6.0 Hz, 1H), 3.07 (s, 3H), 2.76 (bs, 1H, D₂O exchangeable), 2.62 (dd, J = 14.0, 8.5 Hz, 1H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 2.03 (s, 3H), 1.74 (dd, J = 14.0, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 1.22 (d, J = 6.0 Hz, 3H), 1.02 (s, 3H), 1.01 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 217.6, 169.9, 169.5, 162.9, 157.5, 137.4, 114.2, 90.5, 86.7, 80.4, 79.6, 66.4, 63.8, 61.9, 47.5, 36.1, 32.2, 21.5, 20.6 (2C), 17.4, 14.8. HRMS-EI: m/z 464.1807, C₂₂H₂₈N₂O₉, calcd. 464.1795. MS-EI: *m*/z 464 (5%), 422 (26%), 380 (29%), 362 (42%), 314 (100%), 223 (58%); FTIR (KBr): 3428, 2971, 2928, 1752, 1682, 1647, 1438, 1373, 1233, 1039 cm⁻¹; UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 221 (3.91), 257 (3.94) nm; [α]_D = + 4.6 (c 0.10, MeOH).

Compound 281b

Pyridine (100 mL) and acetic anhydride (200 mL) were added to compound **280b** (2.1 mg, 0.005 mmol) at room temperature. After standing overnight, the solution was concentrated to yield compound **281b** (2.3 mg, quantitative). HPLC: $R_t = 14.6$ min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.48 (s, 1H), 5.46 (s, 1H), 4.97 (dd, J = 9.0, 3.5 Hz, 1H), 4.73 (dd, J = 11.5, 3.5 Hz, 1H), 4.33 (dd, J = 11.5, 3.0 Hz, 1H), 4.20 (dd, J = 3.5, 3.0 Hz, 1H), 3.79 (q, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 3.07 (s, 3H), 2.64 (dd, J = 14.9, 9.0 Hz, 1H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.05 (s, 3H), 2.03 (s, 3H), 1.92 (dd, J = 14.9, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 1.23 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 3H), 1.01 (s, 3H), 1.00 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 217.3, 170.1, 169.1 (2C), 160.1, 156.1, 136.1, 115.3, 92.2, 87.2, 80.8, 79.6, 66.2, 63.3, 62.7, 47.5, 36.7, 32.7, 21.5, 21.1, 20.7 (2C), 17.7, 15.6. HRMS-EI: m/z 506.1882, C₂₄H₃₀N₂O₁₀, calcd. 506.1900. MS-EI: m/z 506 (2%), 464 (10%), 422 (21%), 404 (100%), 344 (38%), 205 (45%); FTIR (KBr): 2970, 2928, 2874, 1750, 1688, 1647, 1375, 1236, 1044 cm⁻¹; UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 220 (3.99), 260 (4.00) nm; [α]_D = + 104 (*c* 0.10, MeOH); [α]_D = + 136 (*c* 0.19, CHCl₃).

Compound 281a

Compound **281a** was obtained similarly to compound **281b** from acetylation of compound **280a**. HPLC: $R_t = 14.2 \text{ min.}$ ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.44 (s, 1H), 5.44 (s, 1H), 4.95 (dd, J = 9.0, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 4.69 (dd, J = 11.5, 3.0 Hz, 1H), 4.37 (dd, J = 11.5, 2.0 Hz, 1H), 4.18 (dd, J = 3.0, 2.0 Hz, 1H), 3.75 (q, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 3.06 (s, 3H),

2.57 (dd, J = 14.5, 9.0 Hz, 1H), 2.07 (s, 3H), 2.02 (s, 3H), 2.01 (s, 3H), 1.92 (dd, J = 14.5, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 1.20 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 3H), 1.00 (s, 3H), 0.98 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 217.3, 170.2, 169.0, 168.9, 161.0, 156.6, 136.4, 115.0, 92.2, 87.1, 80.3, 79.6, 65.7, 63.7, 62.0, 47.5, 36.7, 32.4, 21.0, 20.8, 20.7, 20.6, 17.7, 15.0. HRMS-EI: m/z 506.1899, C₂₄H₃₀N₂O₁₀, calcd. 506.1900. MS-EI: *m*/*z* 506 (13%), 464 (70%), 422 (43%), 404 (100%), 344 (39%), 265 (47%); FTIR (KBr): 2960, 2925, 2854, 1746, 1690, 1649, 1377, 1242, 1048 cm⁻¹; UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 221 (4.02), 257 (4.04) nm; [α]_D = + 10 (c 0.10, MeOH); [α]_D = + 25 (c 0.15, CHCl₃).

Compound 277

Raney nickel (2 mL) in MeOH (5 mL) was added to compound **276** (34.2 mg, 0.059 mmol) in MeOH (5 mL) and heated at 55 °C for 6 h. After cooling to room temperature, the reaction mixture was filtered and the solids washed with MeOH (5 mL × 4), the combined methanolic phase was filtered through a celite pad, the filtrate was concentrated and the residue was separated using prep TLC (EtOAc-CH₂Cl₂, 2:3) to yield **277** (10.5 mg, 40% yield). HPLC: R_t = 13.7 min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.46 (s, 1H), 5.52 (d, *J* = 1.0 Hz, 1H), 4.90 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.02 (q, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 3.67 (q, *J* = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 3.05 (s, 3H), 2.40 (dd, *J* = 15.0, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 2.18 (brd, *J* = 15.0, 1H), 2.05 (brs, 6H), 1.53 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 3H), 1.17 (d, *J* = 6.5 Hz, 3H), 0.97 (s, 3H), 0.95 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 217.3, 169.2, 168.9, 154.0 (2C), 137.8, 136.2, 116.2, 103.7, 92.6, 87.2, 80.3, 79.6, 66.7, 47.5, 36.3, 30.0, 21.0, 20.7 (2C), 17.7, 15.0. HRMS-EI: *m/z* 448.1848, C₂₂H₂₈N₂O₈, calcd. 448.1846. MS-EI: *m/z* 448 (21%), 404 (64%), 344 (76%), 205 (100); FTIR (KBr): 2978, 1757, 1687, 1648, 1454, 1431, 1372, 1237 cm⁻¹; UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 258 (3.97), 220 (4.00) nm; [α]_D = + 57 (c 0.11, MeOH).

Compound 279

Raney nickel (1 mL) in MeOH (5 mL) was added to compound **276** (28 mg, 0.048 mmol) in MeOH (5 mL) at room temperature and stirred for 1 h. The reaction

mixture was filtered and the solids washed with MeOH (5 mL × 4), the combined methanolic layer was filtered through a celite pad, the filtrate was concentrated and separated using prep TLC (EtOAc-CH₂Cl₂, 2:3) to yield **279** (12 mg, 56% yield): HPLC: R_t = 17.5 min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 6.54 (s, 1H), 5.88 (d, J = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 5.53 (d, J = 1.0 Hz, 1H), 5.02 (d, J = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 5.00 (dd, J = 9.0, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (q, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 3.30 (s, 3H), 2.55 (dd, J = 15.0, 9.0 Hz, 1H), 2.08 (dd, J = 15.0, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 2.06 (s, 3H), 2.04 (s, 3H), 1.17 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 3H), 0.99 (s, 3H), 0.96 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 217.3, 169.4, 168.9, 163.5, 155.7, 137.0, 114.5, 93.6, 87.8, 80.3, 80.0, 67.3, 60.3, 47.7, 35.3, 32.4, 21.1, 20.9, 20.5, 19.9, 17.9, 15.1. HRMS-EI: m/z 446.1694, C₂₂H₂₆N₂O₈, calcd. 446.1689. MS-EI: m/z 446 (21%), 404 (64%), 344 (76%), 205 (100); FTIR (KBr): 2970, 2928, 1755, 1689, 1609, 1432, 1233 cm⁻¹; UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 286 (4.27) nm; [α]_D= + 48 (*c* 0.11, MeOH).

Methanolysis of sphingolipids (14 and 31)

Sphingolipids (14 and 31, 5.0 mg) were refluxed with a solution of MeOH (2 mL) and HCl (1N, 0.5 mL) for overnight. The reaction mixture was cooled and extracted with hexane (4 mL × 3). The hexane layer was concentrated and the residue was applied to a pipet column FCC (CH₂Cl₂ / MeOH, 98: 2) to give a mixture of fatty acid methyl esters 285 (77%) and 286 (23%). Compound 285: HRMS-EI: *m/z* 312.2664, C₁₉H₃₆NO₃, calcd. 312.2664. MS-EI: *m/z* 312 (1.2%), 253 (100%), 149 (16%), 109 (27%), 95 (45%), 81 (35%). ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): δ 5.89(dt, *J* = 15.3, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 5.50(dd, *J* = 15.3, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 4.62 (bs, 1H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 2.84 (d, *J* = 5.3, Hz, 1H, D₂O exchangeable), 2.06 (dt, *J* = 7.2, 7.1 Hz, 2H) 1.39 (m, 2H), 1.27 (bs, 24H), 0.89 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H). Compound 286: HRMS-EI: *m/z* 314.2815, C₁₉H₃₈NO₃, calcd. 314.2821. MS-EI: *m/z* 314 (17%), 253 (100%), 111 (17%), 97 (36%), 83 (50%).¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): δ 4.19 (m, 1H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 2.67 (d, *J* = 4.9, Hz, 1H, D₂O exchangeable), 1.78 (m, 1H), 1.63 (m, 1H), 1.26 (bs, 28H), 0.89 (t, *J* = 6.8 Hz, 3H).

4-Prenyl-benzeneacetic acid (288)

NaH (60% in mineral oil, 28 mg, 0.39 mmol) was washed with hexane (2 mL × 2) then added 4-hydroxyphenylacetic acid (**287**) (20 mg, 0.13 mmol) in anhydrous THF (2 mL) at 30 °C. After 60 minutes dimethylallyl bromide (33 µL, 0.39 mmol) was added and stirred for 36 hours. The reaction mixture was concentrated, diluted with aq NaOH (0.1 M, 10 mL) and extracted with diethyl ether (15 mL × 2). The aqueous solution was then acidified to pH 2 and re-extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 3), the EtOAc layer was dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated to yield the product **288** (27 mg, 94% yield) HPLC: $t_{\rm R} = 7.0$ min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.15 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 6.84 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 5.49 (bt, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 4.47 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.54 (bs, 2H), 1.79 (s, 3H), 1.73 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 158.3, 138.3, 130.6, 126.0, 119.9, 115.0, 65.0, 26.0, 18.4.

Methyl-4-Prenyl-benzeneacetate (289)

Excess CH₂N₂ in Et₂O was added to an Et₂O (15 mL) solution of **288** (13 mg, 0.059 mmol), after 30 minutes 0.1M acetic acid was added until the solution became colorless. The reaction solution was concentrated to give **289** (13.7 mg, 99% yield) HPLC: $t_{\rm R} = 26.0$ min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.19 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 6.87 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 5.50 (m, 1H), 4.50 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 2H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 3.57 (bs, 2H), 1.80 (s, 3H), 1.74 (s, 3H). FTIR (KBr): 2923, 1738, 1511, 1236 cm⁻¹.

1,8-Dihydroxynaphthalene (292)

1,8-Naphthosultone (**291**, 240.0 mg, 1.20 mmol) and KOH (1.2 g, 21.4 mmol) were heated together in a reaction vial at 300 °C in a sand bath for about 20 minutes until the mixture became a homogeneous black liquid. The reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature and hydrochloric acid (concentrated HCl-H₂O, 1:2) was added with stirring until neutral pH was obtained. H₂O (10 mL) was added into the mixture and the mixture was extracted with EtOAc (25 mL×3). EtOAc layers were dried with Na₂SO₄ and concentrated. The concentrated residue was applied to FCC (EtOAc/hexane, 20: 80)

to give compound **292** as a white solid (120 mg, yield 63%). All spectroscopic data are identical to the reported data (Ragot et al., 1999).

8-hydroxyl-naphthalenylsulfate (293)

HSO₃Cl (25µL, 0.38 mmol) was added slowly into a solution of diethyl ether (156 µL) and N,N-dimethylaniline (156 µL, 1.25 mmol) at -10 °C. After 1,8-dihydroxynaphthalene **292** (20.0 mg, 0.125 mmol) was added, the reaction mixture was warmed to 0 °C and stirred for 1 hour. 60% NaOH (1 mL) was added into the reaction mixture with vigorous stirring then the reaction mixture was adjusted to pH = 8 with 1 M H₂SO₄ and extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 4). EtOAc layer was concentrated to gave a white residue, which was purified by reverse phase FCC (CH₃CN/H₂O, 10 : 90) to give compound **293** as a gray solid (14.1 mg, yield 47%).

D-mannitol-hexaacetate (302)

Maculansin A (**299**, 8.0 mg, 0.017 mmol) was dissolved in MeOH (4.0 mL) then excess Na₂CO₃ (10.0 mg) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred for 4 hours at room temperature and concentrated. The residue was dissolved in 5 mL water. The pH of the solution was adjusted to 2 and extracted with CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL×3). The aqueous layer was concentrated to dryness. Pyridine (500 µL) and acetic anhydride (500 µL) were added to the residue and stirred for 5 hours at room temperature. After removal of reagents the residue was applied to PTLC (MeOH-CH₂Cl₂, 4:96) to give compound **302** (6.7 mg, 93 %). The ¹H NMR spectrum of compound **302** was identical to that of authentic D-mannitol hexaacetate, and optical rotation ($[\alpha]_D = 13$ (c 0.51, CHCl₃)) was close to authentic D-mannitol hexaacetate ($[\alpha]_D = 12$ (c 0.26, CHCl₃)). CH₂Cl₂ layer was concentrated to give a mixture of components which could not be identified.

The mixture of metabolites with $R_t = 14.7 \text{ min } (9.5 \text{ mg})$ was dissolved in MeOH (5 mL) then Na₂CO₃ (2 mg) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred overnight then concentrated. The residue was dissolved in 10 mL water. The pH of the solution was adjusted to 2 with 1.0 M HCl and extracted with EtOAc. The EtOAc layer was

concentrated to give 2.4 mg N-formylvaline (**305**). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) 8.30 (s, 1H), 6.14 (bd, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 4.71 (dd, J = 8.7, 4.5 Hz, 1H), 2.31 (m, 1H), 1.02 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H), 0.98 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H). HRMS-ESI: m/z [M-1]⁻ 144.0650, C₆H₁₀NO₃, calcd. 144.0655. MS-EI: m/z 128 (6%), 100 (100%), 85 (87%), 72 (25%). The aqueous layer was concentrated to dryness then pyridine (1 mL) and acetic anhydride (2 mL) were added to the residue and stirred overnight. After removal of reagents the residue was applied to PTLC (MeOH-CH₂Cl₂ 4: 96) to give compound **302** (4.4 mg). The ¹H NMR spectra and optical rotation data ([α]_D = 5 (c 0.2, CHCl₃)) of compound **302** were similar to commercial D-mannitol hexaacetate.

Compound 295

An excess amount of diazomethane was added to a suspension of methanol containing 4.6 mg compound **294**, and kept overnight. After concentration, the residue was applied to PTLC (EtOAc/hexane 1:1, two developments) to give 1.3 mg of compound **295**. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 8.37 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.11 (d, *J* = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.44 (m, 2H), 7.03 (m, 3H), 4.14, (s, 3H), 4.11 (s, 3H), 3.91 (s, 3H), 3.49 (bd *J* = 13.9 Hz, 1H), 3.44 (bd *J* = 13.9 Hz, 1H), 3.05 (bd *J* = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 2.90 (bd *J* = 6.8 Hz, 1H), HRMS-EI: *m*/*z* 400.1312, C₂₅H₂₀O₅, calcd. 400.1311. MS-EI: *m*/*z* 400 (100%), 371 (72%).

Compound 296

 K_2CO_3 (482 mg, 3.50 mmol) and dimethyl sulfate (120 μL, 0.88 mmol) were added into a mixture of acetone (10 mL) and bulgarein **294** (40 mg of a fraction containing bulgarein **294**). The reaction mixture was refluxed for 3 hours and the solution was concentrated to give an oily residue. The residue was applied to PTLC (EtOAc/hexane, 1:1) to yield compound **296** (3.8 mg), $R_f = 0.4$; HPLC: GRADSCR M. $R_t = 34.7$ min; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 8.36 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.26 (bd, J = 8.0Hz, 2H), 7.44 (t, J = 8.0, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.00 (bd, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.99 (bd, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.86 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 4.20 (s, 3H), 4.11 (s, 6H), 4.07 (s, 3H), 4.01 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 158.7, 157.8, 157.1, 148.0, 147.8, 135.5, 131.8, 130.4, 130.1, 130.0, 127.7, 126.3, 126.0, 125.6, 120.7, 117.1, 114.4, 107.2, 106.9, 105.2, 62.3, 60.9, 56.7 (2C), 56.3. HRMS-EI: m/z 402.1464, C₂₅H₂₂O₅, calcd. 402.1467. MS-EI: m/z 402(100%), 388(20%), 387(71%); FTIR (KBr): 2958, 2927, 2854, 1602, 1576, 1459, 1425, 1263 cm⁻¹; UV (MeOH): λ_{max} (log ε) 406 (4.34), 345 (4.63), 331 (4.52), 251 (4.84), 226 (4.66) nm.

4.3 BIOASSAY OF METABOLITES FROM LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS

4.3.1 Elicitor activity bioassay

Plants (*B. napus* cv. Westar and *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass) were grown in a growth chamber with 16 h illumination (fluorescent and incandescent, 450-530 μ mol s⁻¹ m⁻²)/8 h dark, at 24 ±2° C. After two weeks, purified compounds or factions of extracts dissolved in MeOH-H₂O (1:1 v/v) solutions were sprayed to the leaves. After two days, the leaf tissues were frozen in liquid N₂, crushed with a glass rod and extracted with EtOAc (50 mL). EtOAc extract was dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated in a rotary evaporator. The residue was dissolved in 1% MeOH/CH₂Cl₂, applied to a mini silica gel column (Pasteur pipet) and eluted with 1% MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (5 mL), this 5 ml solution was concentrated, the residue was dissolved in CH₃CN (80 µL) and analyzed by HPLC (20 µL injection volume). Control leaves were treated similarly employing a MeOH-H₂O 1:1 solution.

4.3.2 Phytotoxicity bioassay

Plants were grown in the same conditions as described above. After the third leaf was half developed (about two weeks), purified compounds or factions of extracts dissolved in MeOH-H₂O (1:1, v/v) solution were applied to leaves by pipetting droplets (5 μ L) to puncture sites of leaves (6 sites each leaf). After two days, the damaged areas were measured using a stencil having cut out circles with different diameters, and the

measured diameters were converted to the damage index as Table 4.1. All bioassays were carried out in triplicates.

Lesion diameter	<1.5	1.6-2.3	2.4-3.1	3.2-3.9	4.0-4.7	4.8-5.5	5.6-6.3	6.4-7.0
(mm)								
Damage index	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Table 4.1. Scale for conversion of damaged area to damage index.

4.3.3 Growth inhibition bioassay

Seeds of brown mustard (20) and canola (20) were sterilized by soaking in Javex (10 %/ v/v) for 10 minutes, washed with water, air dried and incubated in PDB medium (0.9 g in 100 ml) amended with compound **212** (0.5 mM). The dishes were sealed with Parafilm and kept in darkness at room temperature. After 7 days the root length of seedlings was measured with a ruler.

4.4 BIOSYNTHESIS OF SIRODESMIN PL (165)

4.4.1 Synthesis of potential biosynthetic precursors

4.4.1.1 Synthesis of O-prenyl-L-tyrosine (312)

t-Boc-O-prenyl-L-tyrosine (311)

NaH (60% in mineral oil, 69.6 mg, 2.90 mmol) was washed with hexane (2 mL \times 2) and added to a stirred solution of *t*-Boc-L-tyrosine (**310**) (281 mg, 1.00 mmol) in dry

THF (8 mL) at room temperature. After 10 minutes dimethylallyl bromide (162 μ L, 1.20 mmol) was added and the reaction mixture was stirred overnight. The reaction mixture was then concentrated, diluted with aq NaOH (0.5 M, 15 mL) and extracted with diethyl ether (15 mL × 2). The remaining aqueous solution was acidified to pH 2 and was extracted with EtOAc (20 mL × 4). The combined EtOAc extract was dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated to yield the product **311** (285 mg, 82% yield). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 7.09 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.86 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 5.49 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.91 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.55 (m, 1H), 4.49 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H) 3.13 (dd, *J* = 5.0, 14.0 Hz, 1H) 3.05 (dd, *J* = 5.5, 14 Hz, 1H), 1.80 (s, 3H), 1.74 (s, 3H), 1.43 (bs, 9H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 176.7, 158.1, 156.0, 138.3, 130.5 (2C), 128.4, 119.9, 114.9 (2C), 80.4, 64.9, 55.4, 37.1, 28.5, 26.0, 18.4. HRMS-EI: *m/z* 349.1895, C₁₉H₂₇NO₅, calcd. 349.1889. MS-EI: *m/z* 349 (1%), 225 (19%), 207 (15%), 164 (31%), 107 (100%).

O-prenyl-L-tyrosine (312)

t-Boc-*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**311**) (52 mg, 0.15 mmol) was heated at 155 \pm 2°C under atmosphere of argon for 60 min, and the resulting yellowish solid was washed with MeOH to yield *O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312**) as a white solid (20 mg, 54% yield). HPLC t_R 7.2 min. M.p. 204-206 °C. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, D₂O, very low solubility) δ : 7.28 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.03 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 5.54 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.64 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 3.97 (bt, *J* = 7 Hz, 1H) 3.24 (dd, *J* = 5.0, 14.5 Hz, 1H), 3.09 (dd, *J* = 8.0, 14.5 Hz, 1H), 1.82 (s, 3H), 1.78 (s, 3H). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, 0.5% NaOH in D₂O, good solubility) δ : 7.22 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.98 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 5.52 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.61 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 3.47 (bt, *J* = 6.0 Hz, 1H), 2.94 (dd, *J* = 13.5, 5.5, 1H), 2.81 (dd, *J* = 13.5, 7.0 Hz, 1H), 1.80 (s, 3H), 1.76 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, 0.5% NaOH D₂O) δ : 183.2, 157.1, 142.0, 131.7, 131.2 (2C), 118.9, 115.7 (2C), 65.8, 58.1, 40.5, 25.6, 17.9. HRMS-EI: *m*/z 249.1367, C₁₄H₁₉NO₃, calcd. 249.1366. MS-EI: *m*/z 249 (4%), 175 (24%), 107 (100%).

FTIR (KBr): 2958, 2928, 2868, 1611, 1561, 1512, 1246, 1016 cm⁻¹.

4.4.1.2 Synthesis of $[3,3^{-2}H_2]O$ -prenyl-L-tyrosine (312a)

 $[3,3^{-2}H_2]$ -*t*-Boc-*O*-preny-L-tyrosine (**311a**) (170 mg, 0.48 mmol) was heated as reported above for **311** and the product obtained was crystallized from MeOH-H₂O to yield **312a** (58.2 mg, 48% yield) as white crystals. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, D₂O) δ : 7.28 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.03 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 5.54 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.64 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 3.94 (s, 1H), 1.82 (s, 3H), 1.78 (s, 3H). HRMS-EI: *m/z* 251.1492, C₁₄H₁₇D₂NO₃, calcd. 251.1490. MS-EI: *m/z* 251 (2%), 183 (10%), 177 (10%), 109 (100%). FTIR (KBr): 2960, 2928, 2868, 1614, 1560, 1512, 1248, 1012 cm⁻¹.

4.4.1.3 Synthesis of E-[4,4,4-² H_3]-3-methyl-2-butenyl bromide (318a)

(E)-ethyl-3-phenylsulfanyl-2-butenoate (314) and (Z) isomer (315):

NaOH (189 mg, 4.7 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of phenylthiol (436 μ L, 4.3 mmol) in EtOH (3.6 mL). After stirring for 30 min at room temperature, a solution of ethyl 2-butynoate (**313**) (500 μ L, 4.3 mmol) was added. After 2 h the reaction mixture was quenched with aq. acetic acid (295 μ L in 20.0 mL of water), the mixture was extracted with ethyl ether, the combined organic extract was washed with 4% aq. NaOH and water, dried over MgSO₄, filtered, and concentrated on a rotary evaporator. The residue was chromatographed over silica gel (10% ether/hexane) to give *E* isomer (**314**) (649 mg, 68% yield) and *Z* isomer (**315**) (162 mg, 17% yield). The spectroscopic data were identical to that reported in literature (Thulasiram et al., 2006).

Ethyl- $[5,5,5-^{2}H_{3}]$ -3-methyl-2-butenoate (**316**)

 C^2H_3I (836 µL, 13.1 mmol) was added to Mg (319 mg, 13.1 mmol) in dry diethyl ether (10 mL) at room temperature under argon and the reaction mixture was stirred for 40 min (most Mg dissolved). CuI (1.37 g, 7.21 mmol) was added to a solution of *E*-ethyl-3-phenylsulfanyl-2-butenoate (**314**) (1.46 g, 6.56 mmol) in dry THF (10 mL) at - 15°C and stirred for 10 minutes. C^2H_3MgI in Et₂O was cooled to 0 °C and added drop-wise to the cuprate mixture over 30 min. The mixture was stirred for 2 h after which

saturated NH₄Cl (20 mL) was poured into the reaction mixture, the resulting mixture was stirred at rt for 60 min and extracted with diethyl ether (20 mL \times 4). The organic layer was dried over MgSO₄ and concentrated to yield ethyl [4,4,4-²H₃]3-methyl-2-butenoate (**316**) as an oil (805 mg, crude yield 94%), which was used in the next step without further purification. The spectral data were identical to that reported for this compound (Thulasiram et al., 2006).

<u>*E*-[5,5,5- 2 H₃]-3-methyl-2-butenol (**317**)</u>

LAH (358 mg, 9.43 mmol) was added to a solution of ethyl $[4,4,4-^{2}H_{3}]$ 3-methyl-2-butenoate (**316**) (805 mg, 6.15 mmol) in diethyl ether (20 mL) at -5 °C under argon. The reaction mixture was stirred at 0 °C for 30 min, was cooled to -5 °C and 15% aq. NaOH (0.96 mL) and H₂O (1 mL) were added sequentially. After excess MgSO₄ was added to the mixture the white slurry was stirred at 0 °C for 1 hour, filtered, and washed with diethyl ether. The combined organic extract was concentrated to yield *E*-[4,4,4-²H₃]3-methyl-2-butenol (**317**) as an oil (521 mg, crude yield 95%), which was used in the next step without further purification.

$E-[4,4,4-^{2}H_{3}]$ -3-methyl-2-butenyl bromide (**318a**)

PBr₃ (278 µL, 2.93 mmol) was added to a solution of (E)-[4,4,4-²H₃]3-methyl-2butenol (**317**) (521 mg, 5.85 mmol) in dry diethyl ether (20 mL) at -5 °C under argon. After allowing the reaction mixture to stir for 30 minutes, H₂O (1 mL) and 10% NaHCO₃ (10 mL) were added to quench the reaction and the organic layer was separated. The organic layer was washed with 10% NaHCO₃, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated to 2 mL (if concentrated long enough, it gave 706 mg oily residue with crude yield of 80%). The crude product (2 mL) was passed through a basic Al₂O₃ minicolumn. After concentration of the fraction, E-[4,4,4-²H₃]3-methyl-2-butenyl bromide (**318a**) was obtained as an oil (406 mg, yield 46%), which was used in the preparation of [3,3,5',5',5'-²H₅]*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312b**) without further purification.

$[3,3,5',5',5'-{}^{2}H_{5}]$ -*t*-Boc-*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**311b**)

[3,3,5',5',5'-²H₅]-*t*-Boc-*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**311b**) was prepared as reported above for *t*-Boc-*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**311a**). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.09 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.86 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 5.49 (t, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.92 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.55 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (d, *J* = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 1.74 (s, 3H), 1.43 (bs, 9H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 175.9, 158.3, 155.8, 138.4, 130.5 (2C), 127.7, 119.8, 115.0 (2C), 80.6, 64.9, 54.5, 28.5, 18.4; HRMS-EI: *m*/*z* 354.2199, C₁₉H₂₂D₅NO₅, calcd.354.2203. MS-EI: *m*/*z* 354 (1%), 227 (7%), 209 (9%), 109 (100%).72 (76%).

$[3,3,5',5',5'-{}^{2}H_{5}]O$ -prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312b**)

The preparation of $[3,3,5',5',5'-{}^{2}H_{5}]O$ -prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312b**) is similar to that of *O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312a**). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, D₂O) δ : 7.28 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.04 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 5.54 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.64 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 3.97 (s, 1H), 1.78 (s, 3H). ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CD₃OD) δ : 7.20 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 6.88 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 5.44 (t, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 4.52 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 3.70 (s, 1H), 1.74 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CD₃OD) δ : 174.2 (from HMBC), 159.8, 138.6, 131.6 (2C), 129.1 (from HMBC), 121.4, 116.3 (2C), 65.9, 57.7, 36.9 (from HMBC), 25.0 (from HMBC, HMQC), 18.3. HRMS-EI: m/z 254.1674, C₁₄H₁₄D₅NO₃, calcd. 254.1679. MS-EI: m/z 254 (2%), 110 (57%), 109 (100%), 72 (32%).

4.4.1.5 Synthesis of methyl-L-Tyr-t-Boc-L-Ser (**321**) and methyl $[5,5-^{2}H_{2}]$ -L-Tyr-t-Boc-L-Ser (**321a**)

L-Tyrosine methyl ester (**319**) (117 mg, 0.45 mmol) was added to a solution of *t*-Boc-L-serine (**320**) (93 mg, 0.45 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (1.5 ml). The reaction mixture was cooled to -15 °C and triethylamine (69µl, 0.5 mmol) and EDCI (87 mg, 0.45 mmol) were added -15°C. After 20 hours the reaction mixture was transferred into a separatory funnel with ethyl acetate (10 mL) and NaHCO₃ (1M, 10 mL). After removal of the ethyl

acetate layer the aqueous layer was adjusted to pH 4 with 1M H₂SO₄, and was extracted with ethyl acetate (10 mL × 5). The combined ethyl acetate extract was dried over Na₂SO₄ and was concentrated with a rotary evaporator to give compound **321** (159 mg, yield 92%). ¹H NMR (500MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.07 (d, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 1H), 6.96 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 6.73 (d, *J* = 8.3 Hz, 2H), 6.56 (bs, 1H), 5.59 (m, 1H), 4.83 (m, 1H), 4.16 (s, 1H), 3.95 (m, 1H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 3.60 (s, 1H), 3.24 (s, 1H), 3.13 (dd, *J* = 4.9 Hz, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 2.99 (dd, *J* = 14.1 Hz, 6.6 Hz, 1H), 1.46 (s, 9H). Methyl [5,5-²H₂]*t*-Boc-L-Tyr-L-Ser (**321a**) was synthesized similarly.

4.4.1.6 Synthesis of [5,5-²H₂]cyclo-L-tyr-L-ser (**251a**)

Methyl $[5,5^{-2}H_2]t$ -Boc-L-Tyr-L-Ser (**321a**) (53 mg, 0.14 mmol) in formic acid (5 mL) was allowed to stand at room temperature for 60 min, the solvent was removed under vacuum (water bath temp. < 30 °C) and *sec*-butyl-alcohol (5 mL) in toluene (1.4 mL) was added. After heating at 65 °C for 6 h, the solvent was evaporated under vacuum to give a white solid **251a** (32 mg, 90% yield). HPLC R_t = 2.7 min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, D₂O): δ 7.13 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.91 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 4.40 (s, 1H), 4.01 (dd, *J* = 3.5, 6.5, 1H), 3.42 (dd, *J* = 3.5, 11.5 Hz, 1H), 2.65 (dd, *J* = 6.5, 11.5 Hz, 1H). HRMS-EI: *m*/*z* 252.1074, C₁₂H₁₂D₂N₂O₄, calcd. 252.1079. MS-EI: *m*/*z* 252 (5%), 234 (9%), 109 (100%); FTIR (KBr): 3188, 3047, 2920, 1685, 1664, 1519, 1462 cm⁻¹.

4.4.1.7 Synthesis of [5,5-²H₂]phomamide (**171a**)

 $[5,5^{-2}H_2]$ Cyclo-L-Tyr-L-Ser (**251a**, 20 mg, 0.079 mmol) in aqueous KOH (8 × 10⁻³ M, 15 mL) at 0 °C, was allowed to stir for 2 h and then freeze-dried. Dry DMF (1 mL) was added to the freeze-dried residue followed by addition of prenyl bromide (**318a**) (30 µL, 0.24 mmol) and stirring at 35 °C. After 6 h the solvent was removed under vacuum (water-bath temperature was < 40 °C), the residue was diluted with distilled water (15 mL) and was sequentially extracted with hexane (5 mL × 2) and ethyl acetate (20 mL × 3); the ethyl acetate extract was dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under vacuum to yield [5,5⁻²H₂]phomamide (**171a**, 17 mg, 67% yield). HPLC R_t = 8.2

min. ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.13 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.90 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 6.16 (s, 1H, NH), 5.84 (s, 1H, NH), 5.49 (t, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 4.51 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 4.21 (s, 1H), 4.06 (t, J = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (m, 1H), 3.49 (m, 1H), 2.33 (bs, 1H, OH), 1.81 (s, 3H), 1.76 (s, 3H).

HRMS-EI: m/z 320.1708, C₁₇H₂₀D₂N₂O₄, calcd. 320.1705. MS-EI: m/z 320 (3%), 252 (31%), 144 (72%), 109 (100%), 69 (44%); FTIR (KBr): 3196, 3038, 2962, 1674, 1666, 1511, 1463 cm⁻¹. [α]_D = - 137 (c 0.11, MeOH).

4.4.2 Incorporation of potential precursors

Minimal medium (MM) was prepared as described in the experimental section (General methods). Canadian virulent isolate of *L. maculans* IBCN 57 (BJ 125) was grown in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing MM (100 mL) inoculated with fungal spores (10⁹) and incubated on a shaker at 130 rpm, at 23 ± 2 °C for 3 days. Deuterium labeled compounds [3,3-²H₂]-L-tyrosine (**251a**), [3,3-²H₂]*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312a**), (Z)-[3,3,5',5',5'-²H₅]*O*-prenyl-L-tyrosine (**312b**), [5,5-²H₂]cyclo-L-tyr-L-ser (**251a**), [5,5-²H₂]phomamide (**171a**) or [2,3,3-²H₃]-L-serine (**233d**) were dissolved in sterile distilled water and added to the cultures of *L. maculans* in three flasks (0.50 mmoles/ 100 mL). Non-labeled compounds were added to the culture in another three flasks and the cultures thus prepared were used as controls. On the 5th day the broth of each flask was extracted with EtOAc (100 mL × 3) and combined extracts were concentrated to dryness. The residue was separated by prep. TLC (MeOH-CH₂Cl₂, 10: 90) to give sirodesmin PL (**165**) (R_f = 0.75, ca. 90 mg/L) and phomamide (**171**) (R_f = 0.25, ca. 10 mg/L).

4.5 MACROMOLECULAR ELICITORS PRODUCED BY *LEPTOSPHAERIA MACULANS*

4.5.1 Preparation of spore germination fluids (SGF)

A total of 20 leaves (the first two leaves) of 21-day-old *B. napus* cv. Westar were cut from the base of petioles. The lower (or back) sides of leaves were scratched with a surgical blade (about 20 sites) and spore suspension (30μ L, 2.5×10^7 spores / mL) was applied on each scratched site. The leaves were kept upside down in moisturized Petri dishes. The Petri dishes were sealed by using Parafilm and kept in darkness at 23 ± 1 °C for two days. The control was treated similarly using sterile distilled water (15 mL). After two days about 67% spores germinated (from the inspection of the germinating spore suspension under the microscope). The spore germination suspension droplets from treated sites were collected into a falcon tube and centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 15 minutes. The supernatant was inspected under a microscope to ensure that no spores remained (normally centrifuged two times to remove all the spores and germinating spores). The total supernatant (SGF) was 10 mL. The control solution was 8 mL. The SGF and control solution were kept at 4 °C.

4.5.2 Bioassay of spore germination fluids (SGF)

The upper side of leaves of two-week-old *B. napus* cv. Westar and *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass were scratched with a surgical blade (about 15 sites). SGF (40 μ L) was applied on each scratched site. After two days the leaves were collected and HPLC samples of leaf extracts were prepared similarly as described in Section 4.3.1. The control was treated similarly to the solution obtained from control leaves during the preparation of SGF.

The cotyledons and leaves of two-week-old *B. napus* cv. Westar and *B. juncea* cv. Cutlass were cut from the base of petioles. The upper side of cotyledons and lower (or back) sides of leaves were scratched with a surgical blade, 2 and 6 sites,

respectively. SGF (40 μ L) was applied on each scratched site. The cotyledons and leaves were kept in moisturized Petri dishes. The Petri dishes were sealed with Parafilm and kept at 23 ± 1 °C for two days under constant light. Toxicity was compared with the control by visual inspection of damage on the leaves.

CHAPTER 5: REFERENCES

- Agrawal, G. K., Rakwal, R., Tamogami, S., Yonekura, M., Kubo, A., Saji, H., 2002. Chitosan activates defense/stress response(s) in the leaves of *Oryza sativa* seedlings. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 40, 1061-1069.
- Ahmed, F. R., Przybylska, M., 1977. Tetrasulfide derivative of hyalodendrin. Acta Crystallographica Section B: Structural Science 33, 168-170.
- Allen, E. H., Thomas, C. A., 1971. Trans-trans-3,11-tridecadiene-5,7,9-triyne-1,2-diol, an antifungal polyacetylene from diseased safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius*). Phytochemistry 10, 1579-1581.
- Anet, F. A. L., Dekmezian, A. H., 1979. Intrinsic steric deuterium isotope effects on proton and C-13 chemical shifts. Journal of the American Chemical Society 101, 5449-5451.
- Atkinson, P., Blakeman, J. P., 1982. Seasonal occurrence of an antimicrobial flavanone, sakuranetin, associated with glands on leaves of *Ribes nigrum*. New Phytologist 92, 63-74.
- Aver'yanov, A. A., Lapikova, V. P., Lebrun, M. H., 2007. Tenuazonic acid, toxin of rice blast fungus, induces disease resistance and reactive oxygen production in plants. Russian Journal of Plant Physiology 54, 749-754.
- Awad, G., Mathieu, F., Coppel, Y., Lebrihi, A., 2005. Characterization and regulation of new secondary metabolites from *Aspergillus ochraceus* M18 obtained by UV mutagenesis. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 51, 59-67.
- Ayer, W. A., Gokdemir, T., Miao, S. C., Trifonov, L. S., 1993. Leptosphaerone A and leptosphaerone B, new cyclohexenones from *Leptosphaeria herpotrichoides*. Journal of Natural Products 56, 1647-1650.

- Bailey, B. A., 1995. Purification of a protein from culture filtrates of *Fusarium oxysporum* that induces ethylene and necrosis in leaves of *Erythroxylum coca*. Phytopathology 85, 1250-1255.
- Bailey, J. A., Mansfield, J. W. Eds., in Phytoalexins. Blackie and Son, Glasgow, U.K., 1982, p. 334.
- Barber, M. S., Bertram, R. E., Ride, J. P., 1989. Chitin oligosaccharides elicit lignification in wounded wheat leaves. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 34, 3-12.
- Bautista-Banos, S., Hernandez-Lauzardo, A. N., Velazquez-del Valle, M. G., Hernandez-Lopez, M., Barka, E. A., Bosquez-Molina, E., Wilson, C. L., 2006. Chitosan as a potential natural compound to control pre and postharvest diseases of horticultural commodities. Crop Protection 25, 108-118.
- Bloch, C. B., Dewit, P., Kuc, J., 1984. Elicitation of phytoalexins by arachidonic and eicosapentaenoic acids: a host survey. Physiological Plant Pathology 25, 199-208.
- Bode, H. B., Bethe, B., Hofs, R., Zeeck, A., 2002. Big effects from small changes: Possible ways to explore nature's chemical diversity. Chembiochem 3, 619-627.
- Bode, H. B., Muller, R., 2005. The impact of bacterial genomics on natural product research. Angewandte Chemie: International Edition 44, 6828-6846.
- Bode, H. B., Walker, M., Zeeck, A., 2000a. Secondary metabolites by chemical screening. 41. Structure and biosynthesis of mutolide, a novel macrolide from a UV mutant of the fungus F-24'707. European Journal of Organic Chemistry, 1451-1456.
- Bode, H. B., Walker, M., Zeeck, A., 2000b. Secondary metabolites by chemical screening. 42. Cladospirones B to I from *Sphaeropsidales* sp F-24'707 by variation of culture conditions. European Journal of Organic Chemistry, 3185-3193.

- Bode, H. B., Zeeck, A., 2000. Sphaerolone and dihydrosphaerolone, two bisnaphthyl pigments from the fungus *Sphaeropsidales* sp F-24'707. Phytochemistry 54, 597-601.
- Boente, M. I. P., Kirby, G. W., Patrick, G. L., Robins, D. J., 1991. Biosynthesis of hyalodendrin and didethiobis(methylthio)hyalodendrin, sulfur-containing 2,5dioxopiperazines of the 3*S*,6*S* series. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 1283-1290.
- Boente, M. I. P., Kirby, G. W., Robins, D. J., 1981. Biosynthetic incorporation of cyclo-(L-phenylalanyl-L-phenylalanyl) into bisdethiobis(methylthio)acetylaranotin in *Aspergillus terreus*. Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 619-621.
- Bohlmann, H., Vignutelli, A., Hilpert, B., Miersch, O., Wasternack, C., Apel, K., 1998.
 Wounding and chemicals induce expression of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* gene Thi2.1, encoding a fungal defense thionin, via the octadecanoid pathway. Febs Letters 437, 281-286.
- Bose, A. K., Das, K. G., Funke, P. T., Kugajevs.I, Shukla, O. P., Khanchan.Ks, Suhadoln.Rj, 1968. Biosynthetic studies on gliotoxin using stable isotopes and mass spectral methods. Journal of the American Chemical Society 90, 1038-1039.
- Bostock, R. M., Kuc, J. A., Laine, R. A., 1981. Eicosapentaenoic and arachidonic acids from *Phytophthora infestans* elicit fungi toxic sesquiterpenes in the potato. Science 212, 67-69.
- Brindle, P. A., Kuhn, P. J., Threlfall, D. R., 1988. Biosynthesis and metabolism of sesquiterpenoid phytoalexins and triterpenoids in potato cell suspension cultures. Phytochemistry 27, 133-150.
- Brunner, F., Rosahl, S., Lee, J., Rudd, J. J., Geiler, C., Kauppinen, S., Rasmussen, G., Scheel, D., Nurnberger, T., 2002. Pep-13, a plant defense-inducing pathogenassociated pattern from *Phytophthora transglutaminases*. Embo Journal 21, 6681-6688.

- Bűlock, J. D., Clough, L. E., 1992. Sirodesmin biosynthesis. Australian Journal of Chemistry 45, 39-45.
- Bűlock, J. D., Leigh, C., 1975. Biosynthesis of gliotoxin. Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 628-629.
- Bűlock, J. D., Ryles, A. P., 1970. Biosynthesis of fungal toxin gliotoxin origin of extra hydrogens as established by heavy-isotope labeling and mass spectrometry. Journal of the Chemical Society D, Chemical Communications, 1404-1406.
- Bűlock, J. D., Ryles, A. P., Johns, N., Kirby, G. W., 1972. Stereospecific exchangereaction at beta-CH₂ of phenylalanine, competing with gliotoxin biosynthesis. Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 100-101.
- Burkhardt, G. N., Lapworth, A., 1926. XCV. Arylsulphuric acids. Journal of the Chemical Society, 684-690.
- Chen, Y., Fernando, W. G. D., 2006. Prevalence of pathogenicity groups of *Leptosphaeria maculans* in western Canada and north dakota, USA. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 28, 533-539.
- Chen, Y. M., Strange, R. N., 1991. Synthesis of the solanapyrone phytotoxins by Ascochyta rabiei in response to metal cations and development of a defined medium for toxin production. Plant Pathology 40, 401-407.
- Cheong, J. J., Birberg, W., Fugedi, P., Pilotti, A., Garegg, P. J., Hong, N., Ogawa, T., Hahn, M. G., 1991. Structure-activity-relationships of oligo-beta-glucoside elicitors of phytoalexin accumulation in soybean. Plant Cell 3, 127-136.
- Christian, O. E., Compton, J., Christian, K. R., Mooberry, S. L., Valeriote, F. A., Crews, P., 2005. Using jasplakinolide to turn on pathways that enable the isolation of new chaetoglobosins from *Phomospis asparagi*. Journal of Natural Products 68, 1592-1597.
- Christie, R. M., Gill, M., Rickards, R. W., 1981. Cyclopentanoids from phenol .4. 3substituted 4-hydroxy-cyclopent-2-enones. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 593-598.

- Collmer, A., Gold, S., 2007. Noel T. Keen: Pioneer leader in molecular plant pathology. Annual Review of Phytopathology 45, 25-42.
- Conrath, U., Domard, A., Kauss, H., 1989. Chitosan-elicited synthesis of callose and of coumarin derivatives in parsley cell suspension cultures. Plant Cell Reports 8, 152-155.
- Cosio, E. G., Feger, M., Miller, C. J., Antelo, L., Ebel, J., 1996. High affinity binding of fungal β-glucan elicitors to cell membranes of species of the plant family Fabaceae. Planta 200, 92-99.
- Costantino, V., de Rosa, C., Fattorusso, E., Imperatore, C., Mangoni, A., Irace, C., Maffettone, C., Capasso, D., Malorni, L., Palumbo, R., Pedone, C., 2007.
 Oreacerebrosides: bioactive cerebrosides with a triunsaturated sphingoid base from the sea star *Oreaster reticulatus*. European Journal of Organic Chemistry, 5277-5283.
- Crombie, W. M. L., Crombie, L., 1986. Distribution of avenacins A-1, A-2, B-1 and B-2 in oat roots: their fungicidal activity towards take-all fungus. Phytochemistry 25, 2069-2073.
- Cueto, M., Jensen, P. R., Kauffman, C., Fenical, W., Lobkovsky, E., Clardy, J., 2001. Pestalone, a new antibiotic produced by a marine fungus in response to bacterial challenge. Journal of Natural Products 64, 1444-1446.
- Curtis, P. J., Greatbanks, D., Hesp, B., Cameron, A. F., Freer, A. A., 1977. Sirodesmins A, B, C, and G, antiviral epipolythiopiperazine-2,5-diones of fungal origin: X-ray analysis of sirodesmin A diacetate. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 180-189.
- Dahiya, J. S., Rimmer, S. R., 1988. Accumulation of flaviolin, 4-hydroxyscytalone and 2-hydroxyjuglone in tricyclazole-treated cultures of *Leptosphaeria maculans*. Phytochemistry 27, 3481-3482.
- Desjardins, A. E., Manandhar, H. K., Plattner, R. D., Manandhar, G. G., Poling, S. M., Maragos, C. M., 2000. *Fusarium* species from Nepalese rice and production of

mycotoxins and gibberellic acid by selected species. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66, 1020-1025.

- Dickinson, J. M., 1993. Microbial pyran-2-ones and dihydropyran-2-ones. Natural Product Reports 10, 71-98.
- Dickson, R. C., Lester, R. L., 1999. Yeast sphingolipids. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, General Subjects 1426, 347-357.
- Dickson, R. C., Lester, R. L., 2002. Sphingolipid functions in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.
 Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids 1583, 13-25.
- Edwards, R. L., Lockett, H. J., 1976. Constituents of higher fungi 16. Bulgarhodin and bulgarein, novel benzofluoranthenequinones from fungus *Bulgaria inquinans* (fries). Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 2149-2155.
- Eistert, B., Wollheim, R., Fink, G., Minas, H., Klein, L., 1968. Additional interactions of phenanthrene quinones with aliphatic diazo compounds. Chemische Berichte Recueil 101, 84-91.
- Elliott, C. E., Gardiner, D. M., Thomas, G., Cozijnsen, A., De Wouw, A. V., Howlett, B. J., 2007. Production of the toxin sirodesmin PL by *Leptosphaeria maculans* during infection of *Brassica napus*. Molecular Plant Pathology 8, 791-802.
- Engelmeier, D., Hadacek, F., 2006. Antifungal natural products: assays and applications.
 In: Rai, M., Carpinella, M. C. (Eds.), Advances in Phytomedicine volume 3, Naturally occurring bioactive compounds, Elsevier, The Netherlands, pp. 423-467.
- Enkerli, J., Felix, G., Boller, T., 1999. The enzymatic activity of fungal xylanase is not necessary for its elicitor activity. Plant Physiology 121, 391-397.
- Evidente, A., Andolfi, A., Cimmino, A., Vurro, M., Fracchiolla, M., Charudattan, R.,
 2006a. Herbicidal potential of ophiobolins produced by *Drechslera gigantea*.
 Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 54, 1779-1783.

- Evidente, A., Andolfi, A., Cimmino, A., Vurro, M., Fracchiolla, M., Charudattan, R., Motta, A., 2006b. Ophiobolin E and 8-epi-ophiobolin J produced by *Drechslera gigantea*, a potential mycoherbicide of weedy grasses. Phytochemistry 67, 2281-2287.
- Evidente, A., Cimmino, A., Andolfi, A., Vurro, M., Zonno, M. C., Cantrell, C. L., Motta, A., 2008a. Phyllostictines A-D, oxazatricycloalkenones produced by *Phyllosticta cirsii*, a potential mycoherbicide for *Cirsium arvense* biocontrol. Tetrahedron 64, 1612-1619.
- Evidente, A., Cimmino, A., Andolfi, A., Vurro, M., Zonno, M. C., Mottao, A., 2008b. Phyllostoxin and phyllostin, bioactive metabolites produced by *phyllosticta cirsii*, a potential mycoherbicide for *Cirsium arvense* Biocontrol. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 56, 884-888.
- Fahey, J. W., Zalcmann, A. T., Talalay, P., 2001. The chemical diversity and distribution of glucosinolates and isothiocyanates among plants. Phytochemistry 56, 5-51.
- Felix, G., Regenass, M., Boller, T., 1993. Specific perception of subnanomolar concentrations of chitin fragments by tomato cells: induction of extracellular alkalinization, changes in protein-phosphorylation, and establishment of a refractory state. Plant Journal 4, 307-316.
- Fellbrich, G., Romanski, A., Varet, A., Blume, B., Brunner, F., Engelhardt, S., Felix, G., Kemmerling, B., Krzymowska, M., Nurnberger, T., 2002. NPP1, a *Phytophthora* associated trigger of plant defense in parsley and *Arabidopsis*. Plant Journal 32, 375-390.
- Férézou, J. P., Quesneau-Thierry, A., Barbier, M., Kollmann, A., Bousquet, J. F., 1980a. Structure and synthesis of phomamide a new piperazine-2,5-dione related to the sirodesmins isolated from the culture medium of *Phoma lingam*. Journal of the Chemical Society Perkin Transactions I, 113-115.
- Férézou, J. P., Quesneau-Thierry, A., Servy, C., Zissmann, E., Barbier, M., 1980b. Sirodesmin PL biosynthesis in *Phoma lingam* tode. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 1739-1746.

- Férézou, J. P., Riche, C., Quesneau-Thierry, A., Pascard-Billy, C., Barbier, M., Bousquet, J. F., Boudart, G., 1977. Structures of two toxins isolated from cultures of the fungus *Phoma lingam* Tode: sirodesmin PL and deacetylsirodesmin PL. Nouveau Journal de Chimie 1, 327-333.
- Ferreira, R. B., Monteiro, S., Freitas, R., Santos, C. N., Chen, Z. J., Batista, L. M., Duarte, J., Borges, A., Teixeira, A. R., 2006. Fungal pathogens: The battle for plant infection. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 25, 505-524.
- Feys, B. J. F., Benedetti, C. E., Penfold, C. N., Turner, J. G., 1994. Arabidopsis mutants selected for resistance to the phytotoxin coronatine are male-sterile, insensitive to methyl jasmonate, and resistant to a bacterial pathogen. Plant Cell 6, 751-759.
- Firn, R. D., Jones, C. G., 2003. Natural products: a simple model to explain chemical diversity. Natural Product Reports 20, 382-391.
- Fisch, M. H., Flick, B. H., Arditti, J., 1973. Orchid phytoalexins 1. Structure and antifungal activity of hircinol, loroglossol and orchinol. Phytochemistry 12, 437-441.
- Flor, H. H., 1955. Host-parasite interaction in flax rust: its genetics and other implications. Phytopathology 45, 680-685.
- Fraile, J. M., Garcia, J. I., Mayoral, J. A., Royo, A. J., 1996. Chiral Lewis acids supported on silica gel and alumina, and their use as catalysts in Diels-Alder reactions of methacrolein and bromoacrolein. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 7, 2263-2276.
- Friesen, T. L., Faris, J. D., Solomon, P. S., Oliver, R. P., 2008. Host-specific toxins: effectors of necrotrophic pathogenicity. Cellular Microbiology 10, 1421-1428.
- Fry, W.E., Myers, D.F., 1981. Hydrogen cyanide metabolism by fungal pathogens of cyanogenic plants. In: Vennesland, B., Knowles, C.J., Conn, E.E., Westley, J., Wissing, F. (Eds.), Cyanide in Biology. Academic express, London, pp. 321-334.
- Fujimoto, H., Sumino, M., Okuyama, E., Ishibashi, M., 2004. Immunomodulatory constituents from an ascomycete, *Chaetomium seminudum*. Journal of Natural Products 67, 98-102.

- Furuya, T., Syono, K., Ikuta, A., 1972. Studies in plant tissue cultures 15. Alkaloids from callus tissue of *Papaver somniferum*. Phytochemistry 11, 3041-3044.
- Garcia-Pineda, E., Lozoya-Gloria, E., 1999. Induced gene expression of 1aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC oxidase) in pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) by arachidonic acid. Plant Science 145, 11-21.
- Gardiner, D. M., Waring, P., Howlett, B. J., 2005. The epipolythiodioxopiperazine (ETP) class of fungal toxins: distribution, mode of action, functions and biosynthesis. Microbiology 151, 1021-1032.
- Gijzen, M., Nurnberger, T., 2006. Nep1-like proteins from plant pathogens: Recruitment and diversification of the NPP1 domain across taxa. Phytochemistry 67, 1800-1807.
- Glazebrook, J., 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. Annual Review of Phytopathology 43, 205-227.
- Gloer, J. B., Poch, G. K., Short, D. M., McCloskey, D. V., 1988. Structure of brassicicolin A: a novel isocyanide antibiotic from the phylloplane fungus *Alternaria brassicicola*. Journal of Organic Chemistry 53, 3758-3761.
- Gopalakrishnan, S., Beale, M. H., Ward, J. L., Strange, R. N., 2005. Chickpea wilt: identification and toxicity of 8-O-methyl-fusarubin from *Fusarium acutatum*. Phytochemistry 66, 1536-1539.
- Gout, L., Fudal, I., Kuhn, M. L., Blaise, F., Eckert, M., Cattolico, L., Balesdent, M. H., Rouxel, T., 2006. Lost in the middle of nowhere: the *AvrLm1* avirulence gene of the Dothideomycete *Leptosphaeria maculans*. Molecular Microbiology 60, 67-80.
- Granado, J., Felix, G., Boller, T., 1995. Perception of fungal sterols in plants: subnanomolar concentrations of ergosterol elicit extracellular alkalinization in tomato cells. Plant Physiology 107, 485-490.
- Graniti, A., 1991. Phytotoxins and their involvement in plant diseases: introduction. Experientia 47, 751-755.

- Grayer, R. J., Harborne, J. B., 1994. A survey of antifungal compounds from higher plants, 1982-1993. Phytochemistry 37, 19-42.
- Grayer, R. J., Kokubun, T., 2001. Plant-fungal interactions: the search for phytoalexins and other antifungal compounds from higher plants. Phytochemistry 56, 253-263.
- Griffiths, K. M., Bacic, A., Howlett, B. J., 2003. Sterol composition of mycelia of the plant pathogenic ascomycete *Leptosphaeria maculans*. Phytochemistry 62, 147-153.
- Gross, H., 2007. Strategies to unravel the function of orphan biosynthesis pathways: recent examples and future prospects. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 75, 267-277.
- Grubb, C. D., Abel, S., 2006. Glucosinolate metabolism and its control. Trends in Plant Science 11, 89-100.
- Hadwiger, L. A., Beckman, J. M., 1980. Chitosan as a component of pea-Fusarium solani interactions. Plant Physiology 66, 205-211.
- Hahn, M. G., 1996. Microbial elicitors and their receptors in plants. Annual Review of Phytopathology 34, 387-412.
- Halkier, B.A., 1999. Glucosinolates. In: Ikan, R. (Eds.), Naturally Occurring Glycosides. Wiley, Chichester, UK, pp. 193-223.
- Hammerschmidt, R., 1999. Phytoalexins: What have we learned after 60 years? Annual Review of Phytopathology 37, 285-306.
- Harborne, J. B., 1999. The comparative biochemistry of phytoalexin induction in plants. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 27, 335-367.
- Hashimoto, T., Tajima, M., 1978. Structures and synthesis of growth inhibitors batatasin IV and batatsin V and their physiological activities. Phytochemistry 17, 1179-1184.
- Hoagland, R. E., 2001. Microbial allelochemicals and pathogens as bioherbicidal agents. Weed Technology 15, 835-857.
- Hoagland, R. E., Boyette, C. D., Weaver, M. A., Abbas, H. K., 2007. Bioherbicides: Research and risks. Toxin Reviews 26, 313-342.
- Hoagland, R. E., Williams, R. D., 2004. Bioassays Useful tools for the Study of allelopathy. In: Macias, F. A., Galindo, J. C. G., Molinillo, J. M. G., Cutler, H. G. (Eds.), Allelopathy chemistry and mode of action of allelochemicals. CRC press, United States of America, pp. 315-351.
- Hoshino, T., Chida, M., Yamaura, T., Yoshizawa, Y., Mizutani, J., 1994. Phytoalexin induction in green pepper cell cultures treated with arachidonic acid. Phytochemistry 36, 1417-1419.
- Houterman, P. M., Cornelissen, B. J. C., Rep, M., 2008. Suppression of plant resistance gene based immunity by a fungal effector. Plos Pathogens 4, 1-6.
- Howlett, B. J., 2004. Current knowledge of the interaction between *Brassica napus* and *Leptosphaeria maculans*. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 26, 245-252.
- Howlett, B. J., Idnurm, A., Pedras, M. S. C., 2001. *Leptosphaeria maculans*, the causal agent of blackleg disease of Brassicas. Fungal Genetics and Biology 33, 1-14.
- Hurne, A. M., Chai, C. L. L., Moerman, K., Waring, P., 2002. Influx of calcium through a redox-sensitive plasma membrane channel in thymocytes causes early necrotic cell death induced by the epipolythiodioxopiperazine toxins. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277, 31631-31638.
- Hurne, A. M., Chai, C. L. L., Waring, P., 2000. Inactivation of rabbit muscle creatine kinase by reversible formation of an internal disulfide bond induced by the fungal toxin gliotoxin. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275, 25202-25206.
- Ichihara, A., Shiraishi, K., Sato, H., Sakamura, S., Nishiyama, K., Sakai, R., Furusaki, A., Matsumoto, T., 1977. Structure of coronatine. Journal of the American Chemical Society 99, 636-637.
- Iwasaki, S., Nozoe, S., Okuda, S., Sato, Z., Kozaka, T., 1969. Isolation and structural elucidation of a phytotoxic substance produced by *Pyricularia oryzae* cavara. Tetrahedron Letters, 45, 3977.

- Jabs, T., Tschope, M., Colling, C., Hahlbrock, K., Scheel, D., 1997. Elicitor-stimulated ion fluxes and O₂ from the oxidative burst are essential components in triggering defense gene activation and phytoalexin synthesis in parsley. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94, 4800-4805.
- Ji, C., Boyd, C., Slaymaker, D., Okinaka, Y., Takeuchi, Y., Midland, S. L., Sims, J. J., Herman, E., Keen, N., 1998. Characterization of a 34-kDa soybean binding protein for the syringolide elicitors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 3306-3311.
- Jiao, Y., Yoshihara, T., Akimoto, M., Ichihara, A., 1994. 2 Phenolic compounds from Valsa ambiens. Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry 58, 784-785.
- Jiao, Y., Yoshihara, T., Akimoto, M., Ichihara, A., 1995. A new hydroxytetradecatrienoic acid and its glyceryl esters from Valsa ambiens. Phytochemistry 38, 419-422.
- Johns, N., Kirby, G. W., 1971. Biosynthesis of gliotoxin: possible involvement of a phenylalanine epoxide. Journal of the Chemical Society D, Chemical Communications, 163-164.
- Johns, N., Kirby, G. W., 1985. The biosynthetic incorporation of [phenyl-³H]phenylalanine into gliotoxin. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 1487-1490.
- Jones, D. A., Takemoto, D., 2004. Plant innate immunity: direct and indirect recognition of general and specific pathogen associated molecules. Current Opinion in Immunology 16, 48-62.
- Jones, J. D. G., Dangl, J. L., 2006. The plant immune system. Nature 444, 323-329.
- Karuso, P., Poiner, A., Scheuer, P. J., 1989. Isocyanoneopupukeanane, a new tricyclic sesquiterpene from a sponge. Journal of Organic Chemistry 54, 2095-2097.
- Kasparovsky, T., Milat, M. L., Humbert, C., Blein, J. P., Havel, L., Mikes, V., 2003. Elicitation of tobacco cells with ergosterol activates a signal pathway including mobilization of internal calcium. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 41, 495-501.

- Kauss, H., Jeblick, W., Domard, A., 1989. The degrees of polymerization and Nacetylation of chitosan determine its ability to elicit callose formation in suspension cells and protoplasts of *Catharanthus roseus*. Planta 178, 385-392.
- Keen, N. T., 1975. Specific elicitors of plant phytoalexin production: determinants of race specificity in pathogens. Science 187, 74-75.
- Kim, J. C., Min, J. Y., Kim, H. T., Cho, K. Y., Yu, S. H., 1998. Pyricuol, a new phytotoxin from *Magnaporthe grisea*. Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry 62, 173-174.
- Kimura, M., Anzai, H., Yamaguchi, I., 2001. Microbial toxins in plant-pathogen interactions: Biosynthesis, resistance mechanisms, and significance. Journal of General and Applied Microbiology 47, 149-160.
- Kirby, G. W., Patrick, G. L., Robins, D. J., 1978. Cyclo-(L-phenylalanyl-L-seryl) as an intermediate in biosynthesis of gliotoxin. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 1336-1338.
- Kirby, G. W., Robins, D. J., 1976. Analog biosynthesis in *Trichoderma viride*: formation of 3a-deoxygliotoxin. Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 354-355.
- Kirby, G. W., Robins, D. J., Sefton, M. A., Talekar, R. R., 1980. Biosynthesis of bisdethiobis(methylthio)gliotoxin, a new metabolite of *Gliocladium deliquescens*. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 119-121.
- Kirby, G. W., Robins, D. J., Stark, W. M., 1983. Structure and synthesis of cis-3,6dibenzyl-3,6-bis(methylthio)-piperazine-2,5-dione, a new metabolite of *Aspergillus terreus*. Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 812-813.
- Kirby, G. W., Varley, M. J., 1974. Synthesis of tryptophan stereoselectively labeled with tritium and deuterium in β-methylene group: steric course of hydroxylation in sporidesmin biosynthesis. Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 833-834.

- Klarzynski, O., Plesse, B., Joubert, J. M., Yvin, J. C., Kopp, M., Kloareg, B., Fritig, B., 2000. Linear β-1,3 glucans are elicitors of defense responses in tobacco. Plant Physiology 124, 1027-1037.
- Kloek, A. P., Verbsky, M. L., Sharma, S. B., Schoelz, J. E., Vogel, J., Klessig, D. F., Kunkel, B. N., 2001. Resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* conferred by an *Arabidopsis thaliana* coronatine-insensitive (coi1) mutation occurs through two distinct mechanisms. Plant Journal 26, 509-522.
- Koch, E., Song, K., Osborn, T. C., Williams, P. H., 1991. Relationship between pathogenicity and phylogeny based on restriction-fragment-length-polymorphism in *Leptosphaeria maculans*. Molecular Plant Microbe Interactions 4, 341-349.
- Kodama, O., Miyakawa, J., Akatsuka, T., Kiyosawa, S., 1992. Sakuranetin, a flavanone phytoalexin from ultraviolet irradiated rice leaves. Phytochemistry 31, 3807-3809.
- Koga, J., Yamauchi, T., Shimura, M., Ogawa, N., Oshima, K., Umemura, K., Kikuchi, M., Ogasawara, N., 1998. Cerebrosides A and C, sphingolipid elicitors of hypersensitive cell death and phytoalexin accumulation in rice plants. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273, 31985-31991.
- Kokubun, T., Harborne, J. B., 1995. Phytoalexin induction in the sapwood of plants of the *Maloideae* (Rosaceae): biphenyls or dibenzofurans. Phytochemistry 40, 1649-1654.
- KuC, J., 1992. Antifungal compounds in plants. In: Nigg, H.N., Seigler, D., (Eds.), Phytochemical Resources for Medicine and Agriculture. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 159-184.
- KuC, J., 1995. Phytoalexins, stress metabolism, and disease resistance in plants. Annual Review of Phytopathology 33, 275-297.
- Kuchitsu, K., Kosaka, H., Shiga, T., Shibuya, N., 1995. EPR evidence for generation of hydroxyl radical triggered by N-acetylchitooligosaccharide elicitor and a protein phosphatase inhibitor in suspension cultured rice cells. Protoplasma 188, 138-142.

- Kutcher, H. R., Keri, M., McLaren, D. L., Rimmer, S. R., 2007. Pathogenic variability of *Leptosphaeria maculans* in western Canada. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 29, 388-393.
- Laquitaine, L., Gomes, E., Francois, J., Marchive, C., Pascal, S., Hamdi, S., Atanassova, R., Delrot, S., Coutos-Thevenot, P., 2006. Molecular basis of ergosterol induced protection of grape against *Botrytis cinerea*: Induction of type I LTP promoter activity, WRKY, and stilbene synthase gene expression. Molecular Plant Microbe Interactions 19, 1103-1112.
- Larsen, T. O., Perry, N. B., Andersen, B., 2003. Infectopyrone, a potential mycotoxin from *Alternaria infectoria*. Tetrahedron Letters 44, 4511-4513.
- Levery, S. B., Momany, M., Lindsey, R., Toledo, M. S., Shayman, J. A., Fuller, M., Brooks, K., Doong, R. L., Straus, A. H., Takahashi, H. K., 2002. Disruption of the glucosylceramide biosynthetic pathway in *Aspergillus nidulans* and *Aspergillus fumigatus* by inhibitors of UDP-Glc: ceramide glucosyltransferase strongly affects spore germination, cell cycle, and hyphal growth. Febs Letters 525, 59.
- Lyne, R. L., Mulheirn, L. J., Leworthy, D. P., 1976. New pterocarpinoid phytoalexins of soybean. Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications 13, 497-498.
- Macdonald, J. C., Slater, G. P., 1975. Biosynthesis of gliotoxin and mycelianamide. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry 53, 475-478.
- Madar, Z., Gottlieb, H. E., Cojocaru, M., Riov, J., Solel, Z., Sztejnberg, A., 1995. Antifungal terpenoids produced by cypress after infection by *Diplodia pinea* f. sp cupressi. Phytochemistry 38, 351-354.
- Mann, J. 1994. Chemical aspects of biosynthesis. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, pp. 2 4.
- Markham, J. E., Hille, J., 2001. Host selective toxins as agents of cell death in plant fungus interactions. Molecular Plant Pathology 2, 229-239.

- Martinez-Luis, S., Rodriguez, R., Acevedo, L., Gonzalez, M. C., Lira-Rocha, A., Mata,
 R., 2006. Malbrancheamide, a new calmodulin inhibitor from the fungus
 Malbranchea aurantiaca. Tetrahedron 62, 1817-1822.
- Masuda, T., Takasugi, M., Anetai, M., 1998. Psoralen and other linear furanocoumarins as phytoalexins in *Glehnia littoralis*. Phytochemistry 47, 13-16.
- McAlpine, J. B., Bachmann, B. O., Piraee, M., Tremblay, S., Alarco, A. M., Zazopoulos,
 E., Farnet, C. M., 2005. Microbial Genomics as a guide to drug discovery and structural elucidation: ECO-02301, a novel antifungal agent, as an example. Journal of Natural Products 68, 493-496.
- McGee, D. C., Petrie, G. A., 1978. Variability of *Leptosphaeria maculans* in relation to blackleg of oilseed rape. Phytopathology 68, 625-630.
- Mengistu, A., Rimmer, S. R., Koch, E., Williams, P. H., 1991. Pathogenicity grouping of isolates of *Leptosphaeria maculans* on *Brassica napus* cultivars and their disease reaction profiles on rapid cycling Brassicas. Plant Disease 75, 1279-1282.
- Midland, S. L., Keen, N. T., Sims, J. J., Midland, M. M., Stayton, M. M., Burton, V., Smith, M. J., Mazzola, E. P., Graham, K. J., Clardy, J., 1993. The structures of syringolide 1 and syringolide 2, novel C-glycosidic elicitors from *Pseudomonas* syringae pv tomato. Journal of Organic Chemistry 58, 2940-2945.
- Mims, C. W., Richardson, E. A., Holt, B. F., III, Dangl, J. L., 2004. Ultrastructure of the host pathogen interface in *Arabidopsis thaliana* leaves infected by the downy mildew *Hyaloperonospora parasitica*. Canadian Journal of Botany 82, 1001-1008.
- Mitova, M. I., Stuart, B. G., Cao, G. H., Blunt, J. W., Cole, A. L. J., Munro, M. H. G., 2006. Chrysosporide, a cyclic pentapeptide from a New Zealand sample of the fungus *Sepedonium chrysospermum*. Journal of Natural Products 69, 1481-1484.
- Monde, K., Kishimoto, M., Takasugi, M., 1992. Studies on stress metabolites 17. Yurinelide, a novel 3-benzylidene-1,4-benzodioxin-2(3H)-one phytoalexin from *Lilium maximowiczii*. Tetrahedron Letters 33, 5395-5398.

- Montesano, M., Brader, G., Palva, E. T., 2003. Pathogen derived elicitors: searching for receptors in plants. Molecular Plant Pathology 4, 73-79.
- Morant, A. V., Jorgensen, K., Jorgensen, C., Paquette, S. M., Sanchez-Perez, R., Moller,
 B. L., Bak, S., 2008. β-glucosidases as detonators of plant chemical defense.
 Phytochemistry 69, 1795-1813.
- Moreno-Escobar, J., Puc-Carrillo, A., Caceres-Farfan, M., Pena-Rodriguez, L. M., Gamboa-Angulo, M. M., 2005. Two new zinniol-related phytotoxins from *Alternaria solani*. Natural Product Research 19, 603-607.
- Müller, K.O. 1958. Studies on phytoalexins. I. The formation and the immunological significance of phytoalexin produced by *Phaseolus vulgaris* in response to infections with *Sclerotinia fructicola* and *Phytophfhora infestans*. Australia Journal of Biological Sciences 11, 275-300.
- Müller, K.O., Borger, H. 1940. Experimentelle untersuchungen über die *Phytophthoraresistem* der *kartoffel*. Arb. Biol. Reichsasnstalt. Landw. Forstw. Berlin 23, 189-231.
- Nagaraja, R., Huckstep, L. L., Lively, D. H., Delong, D. C., Marsh, M. M., Neuss, N., 1968. Aranotin and related metabolites from *Arachniotus aureus*. I. Determination of structure. Journal of the American Chemical Society 90, 2980-2982.
- Nakamura, Y., Kiyota, H., Ueda, R., Kuwahara, S., 2005. Synthesis to determine the absolute configuration of (-)-pyricuol, a phytotoxin isolated from rice blast disease fungus *Magnaporthe grisea*. Tetrahedron Letters 46, 7107-7109.
- Neuss, N., Nagaraja., R, Molloy, B. B., Huckstep, L. L., 1968. Aranotin and related metabolites. 2. Isolation characterization and structures of 2 new metabolites. Tetrahedron Letters, 4467.
- Newman, D. J., Cragg, G. M., Snader, K. M., 2003. Natural products as sources of new drugs over the period 1981-2002. Journal of Natural Products 66, 1022-1037.

- Nothnagel, E. A., McNeil, M., Albersheim, P., Dell, A., 1983. Host-pathogen interactions. 22. A galacturonic acid oligosaccharide from plant cell walls elicits phytoalexins. Plant Physiology 71, 916-926.
- Nurnberger, T., Brunner, F., Kemmerling, B., Piater, L., 2004. Innate immunity in plants and animals: striking similarities and obvious differences. Immunological Reviews 198, 249-266.
- Oka, K., Akamatsu, H., Kodama, M., Nakajima, H., Kawada, T., Otani, H., 2005. Hostspecific AB-toxin production by germinating spores of *Alternaria brassicicola* is induced by a host-derived oligosaccharide. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 66, 12-19.
- Osbourn, A. E., 1996. Preformed antimicrobial compounds and plant defense against fungal attack. Plant Cell 8, 1821-1831.
- Otani, H., Kohnobe, A., Kodama, M., Kohmoto, K., 1998. Production of a host-specific toxin by germinating spores of *Alternaria brassicicola*. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 52, 285-295.
- Papadopoulou, K., Melton, R. E., Leggett, M., Daniels, M. J., Osbourn, A. E., 1999. Compromised disease resistance in saponin-deficient plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96, 12923-12928.
- Parada, R. Y., Sakuno, E., Mori, N., Oka, K., Egusa, M., Kodama, M., Otani, H., 2008. *Alternaria brassicae* produces a host-specific protein toxin from germinating spores on host leaves. Phytopathology 98, 458-463.
- Pardeshi, S. G., Ward, D. E., 2008. Enantiospecific total synthesis of lairdinol A. Journal of Organic Chemistry 73, 1071-1076.
- Paxton, J. D., 1981. Phytoalexins: a working re-definition. Phytopathologische Zeitschrift-Journal of Phytopathology 101, 106-109.
- Pedras, M. S. C., 1996. The chemistry of cyclohexenediones produced by the blackleg fungus. Canadian Journal of Chemistry 74, 1597-1601.

- Pedras, M. S. C., 2001. Phytotoxins from fungi causing blackleg disease on crucifers: isolation, structure determination, detection, and phytotoxic activity. Recent Research Developments in Phytochemistry 5, 109-117.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Ahiahonu, P. W. K., 2005. Metabolism and detoxification of phytoalexins and analogs by phytopathogenic fungi. Phytochemistry 66, 391-411.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Abrams, S. R., Seguinswartz, G., 1988. Isolation of the 1st naturallyoccurring epimonothiodioxopiperazine, a fungal toxin produced by *Phoma lingam*. Tetrahedron Letters 29, 3471-3474.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Abrams, S. R., Seguinswartz, G., Quail, J. W., Jia, Z. C., 1989. Phomalirazine, a novel toxin from the phytopathogenic fungus *Phoma lingam*. Journal of the American Chemical Society 111, 1904-1905.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Biesenthal, C. J., 1998. Production of the host-selective phytotoxin phomalide by isolates of *Leptosphaeria maculans* and its correlation with sirodesmin PL production. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 44, 547-553.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Biesenthal, C. J., 2001. Isolation, structure determination, and phytotoxicity of unusual dioxopiperazines from the phytopathogenic fungus *Phoma lingam*. Phytochemistry 58, 905-909.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Chumala, P. B., 2005a. Phomapyrones from blackleg causing phytopathogenic fungi: isolation, structure determination, biosyntheses and biological activity. Phytochemistry 66, 81-87.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Chumala, P. B., Venkatesham, U., 2005b. New sesquiterpenic phytotoxins establish unprecedented relationship between different groups of blackleg fungal isolates. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry 13, 2469-2475.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Chumala, P. B., Yu, Y., 2007a. The phytopathogenic fungi Leptosphaeria maculans and Leptosphaeria biglobosa: chemotaxonomical characterization of isolates and metabolite production in different culture media. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 53, 364-371.

- Pedras, M. S. C., Erosa-Lopez, C. C., Quail, J. W., Taylor, J. L., 1999. Phomalairdenone: A new host-selective phytotoxin from a virulent type of the blackleg fungus *Phoma lingam*. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters 9, 3291-3294.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Jha, M., Ahiahonu, P. W. K., 2003. The synthesis and biosynthesis of phytoalexins produced by cruciferous plants. Current Organic Chemistry 7, 1635-1647.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Morales, V. M., Taylor, J. L., 1993a. Phomaligols and phomaligadiones: new metabolites from the blackleg fungus. Tetrahedron 49, 8317-8322.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Seguinswartz, G., Abrams, S. R., 1990. Minor phytotoxins from the blackleg fungus *Phoma lingam*. Phytochemistry 29, 777-782.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Taylor, J. L., Morales, V. M., 1995. Phomaligin A and other yellow pigments in *Phoma lingam* and *P. wasabiae*. Phytochemistry 38, 1215-1222.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Taylor, J. L., Nakashima, T. T., 1993b. A novel chemical signal from the blackleg fungus: beyond phytotoxins and phytoalexins. Journal of Organic Chemistry 58, 4778-4780.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Yu Y., 2008. Stress-driven discovery of metabolites from the phytopathogenic fungus *Leptosphaeria maculans*: structure and activity of leptomaculins A-E. Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry, 16, 8063-8071.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Zaharia, I. L., Gai, Y., Zhou, Y., Ward, D. E., 2001. In planta sequential hydroxylation and glycosylation of a fungal phytotoxin: Avoiding cell death and overcoming the fungal invader. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98, 747-752.
- Pedras, M. S. C., Zaharia, L. I., Ward, D. E., 2002. The destruxins: Synthesis, biosynthesis, biotransformation, and biological activity. Phytochemistry (Oxford) 59, 579-596.

- Pedras, M. S. C., Zheng, Q. A., Sarma-Mamillapalle, V. K., 2007b. The phytoalexins from Brassicaceae: Structure, biological activity, synthesis and biosynthesis. Natural Product Communications 2, 319-330.
- Perrin, D. R., Bottomley, W., 1961. Pisatin: antifungal substance from *Pisum sativum* L. Nature 191, 76-77.
- Pringle, R. B., Scheffer, R. P., 1964. Host-specific plant toxins. Annual Reviews of Phytopathology 2, 133-156.
- Ragot, J. P., Steeneck, C., Alcaraz, M. L., Taylor, R. J. K., 1999. The synthesis of 1,8dihydroxynaphthalene-derived natural products: palmarumycin CP1, palmarumycin CP2, palmarumycin C-11, CJ-12,371, deoxypreussomerin A and novel analogues. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 1073-1082.
- Ramonell, K., Berrocal-Lobo, M., Koh, S., Wan, J. R., Edwards, H., Stacey, G., Somerville, S., 2005. Loss-of-function mutations in chitin responsive genes show increased susceptibility to the powdery mildew pathogen *Erysiphe cichoracearum*. Plant Physiology 138, 1027-1036.
- Ren, Y. Y., West, C. A., 1992. Elicitation of diterpene biosynthesis in rice (*Oryza-sativa* L.) by chitin. Plant Physiology 99, 1169-1178.
- Rezanka, T., Sobotka, M., Spizek, J., Sigler, K., 2006. Pharmacologically active sulfurcontaining compounds. Anti-Infective Agents in Medicinal Chemistry 5, 187-224.
- Rivero-Cruz, J. F., Garcia-Aguirre, G., Cerda-Garcia-Rojas, C. M., Mata, R., 2000. Conformational behavior and absolute stereostructure of two phytotoxic nonenolides from the fungus *Phoma herbarum*. Tetrahedron 56, 5337-5344.
- Rivero-Cruz, J. F., Macias, M., Cerda-Garcia-Rojas, C. M., Mata, R., 2003. A new phytotoxic nonenolide from *Phoma herbarum*. Journal of Natural Products 66, 511-514.

- Roby, D., Gadelle, A., Toppan, A., 1987. Chitin oligosaccharides as elicitors of chitinase activity in melon plants. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 143, 885-892.
- Roddick, J. G., 1974. Steroidal glycoalkaloid α-tomatine. Phytochemistry 13, 9-25.
- Schneider, B., 2007. Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy in biosynthetic studies. Progress in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy 51, 155-198.
- Schonbeck, F., Schlosser, E. 1976. Preformed substances as potential protectants. In: Heitefuss, R., Williams, P.H., (Eds.) Physiological Plant Pathology. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 653-678.
- Schouten, A., van Baarlen, P., van Kan, J. A. L., 2008. Phytotoxic Nep1-like proteins from the necrotrophic fungus *Botrytis cinerea* associate with membranes and the nucleus of plant cells. New Phytologist 177, 493-505.
- Schultz, T. P., Boldin, W. D., Fisher, T. H., Nicholas, D. D., McMurtrey, K. D., Pobanz,
 K., 1992. Structure fungicidal properties of some 3-hydroxylated and 4hydroxylated stilbenes and bibenzyl analogs. Phytochemistry 31, 3801-3806.
- Sharp, J. K., Albersheim, P., Ossowski, P., Pilotti, A., Garegg, P., Lindberg, B., 1984a. Comparison of the structures and elicitor activities of a synthetic and a mycelialwall-derived hexa(β-D-glucopyranosyl)-D-glucitol. Journal of Biological Chemistry 259, 11341-11345.
- Sharp, J. K., McNeil, M., Albersheim, P., 1984b. The primary structures of one elicitoractive and 7 elicitor-inactive hexa(β-D-glucopyranosyl)-D-glucitols isolated from the mycelial walls of *Phytophthora megasperma* f. sp. *glycinea*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 259, 11321-11336.
- Sharp, J. K., Valent, B., Albersheim, P., 1984c. Purification and partial characterization of a β-glucan fragment that elicits phytoalexin accumulation in soybean. Journal of Biological Chemistry 259, 11312-11320.
- Shibuya, N., Minami, E., 2001. Oligosaccharide signalling for defence responses in plant. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 59, 223-233.

- Singh, H. P., Batish, D. R., Kohli, R. K., 2003. Allelopathic interactions and allelochemicals: New possibilities for sustainable weed management. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 22, 239-311.
- Sitrin, R. D., Chan, G., Dingerdissen, J., Debrosse, C., Mehta, R., Roberts, G., Rottschaefer, S., Staiger, D., Valenta, J., Snader, K. M., Stedman, R. J., Hoover, J. R. E., 1988. Isolation and structure determination of *pachybasium* cerebrosides which potentiate the antifungal activity of aculeacin. Journal of Antibiotics 41, 469-480.
- Stone, J. M., Heard, J. E., Asai, T., Ausubel, F. M., 2000. Simulation of fungal-mediated cell death by fumonisin B1 and selection of fumonisin B1-resistant (fbr) *Arabidopsis* mutants. Plant Cell 12, 1811-1822.
- Strange, R. N., 2007. Phytotoxins produced by microbial plant pathogens. Natural Product Reports 24, 127-144.
- Suhadolnik, R. J., Chenoweth, R. G., 1958. Biosynthesis of gliotoxin. 1. Incorporation of phenylalanine-1-¹⁴C and phenylalanine-2-¹⁴C. Journal of the American Chemical Society 80, 4391-4392.
- Suzuki, M., Sugiyama, T., Watanabe, M., Murayama, T., Yamashita, K., 1987. Syntheses of all 4 stereoisomers of pyriculol. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry 51, 2161-2166.
- Suzuki, Y., Esumi, Y., Hyakutake, H., Kono, Y., Sakurai, A., 1996. Isolation of 5-(8'Zheptadecenyl)-resorcinol from etiolated rice seedlings as an antifungal agent. Phytochemistry 41, 1485-1489.
- Takahashi, C., Numata, A., Ito, Y., Matsumura, E., Araki, H., Iwaki, H., Kushida, K., 1994. Leptosins, antitumor metabolites of a fungus isolated from a marine alga. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 1859-1864.
- Takanami, T., Tokoro, H., Kato, D., Nishiyama, S., Sugai, T., 2005. Chemo-enzymatic short-step total synthesis of symbioramide. Tetrahedron Letters 46, 3291-3295.
- Takasugi, M., Katsui, N., Shirata, A., 1986. Isolation of 3 novel sulfur-containing phytoalexins from the chinese-cabbage *Brassica campestris* L. ssp. *pekinensis*

(Cruciferae). Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 1077-1078.

- Takasugi, M., Munoz, L., Masamune, T., Shirata, A., Takahashi, K., 1978. Studies on phytoalexins of Moraceae. 3. Stilbene phytoalexins from diseased mulberry. Chemistry Letters, 1241-1242.
- Tamogami, S., Kodama, O., 2000. Coronatine elicits phytoalexin production in rice leaves (*Oryza sativa* L.) in the same manner as jasmonic acid. Phytochemistry 54, 689-694.
- Thiergardt, R., Rihs, G., Hug, P., Peter, H. H., 1995. Cladospirone bisepoxide: definite structure assignment including absolute configuration and selective chemical transformations. Tetrahedron 51, 733-742.
- Thordal-Christensen, H., 2003. Fresh insights into processes of nonhost resistance. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 6, 351-357.
- Thulasiram, H. V., Phan, R. M., Rivera, S. B., Poulter, C. D., 2006. Synthesis of deuterium-labeled derivatives of dimethylallyl diphosphate. Journal of Organic Chemistry 71, 1739-1741.
- Trojanowska, M. R., Osbourn, A. E., Daniels, M. J., Threlfall, D. R., 2000. Biosynthesis of avenacins and phytosterols in roots of *Avena sativa* cv. *Image*. Phytochemistry 54, 153-164.
- Tschesch.R, Tauscher, M., Fehlhabe.Hw, Wulff, G., 1969. Steroid saponins with more than one sugar chain. 4. Avenacoside-a a bis-desmoside steroid saponin from *Avena sativa*. Chemische Berichte-Recueil 102, 2072.
- Tverskoy, L., Dmitriev, A., Kozlovsky, A., Grodzinsky, D., 1991. 2 Phytoalexins from Allium cepa bulbs. Phytochemistry 30, 799-800.
- Umemura, K., Tanino, S., Nagatsuka, T., Koga, J., Iwata, M., Nagashima, K., Amemiya, Y., 2004. Cerebroside elicitor confers resistance to Fusarium disease in various plant species. Phytopathology 94, 813-818.

- Urban, M., Bhargava, T., Hamer, J. E., 1999. An ATP-driven efflux pump is a novel pathogenicity factor in rice blast disease. Embo Journal 18, 512-521.
- Van Lanen, S. G., Shen, B., 2006. Microbial genomics for the improvement of natural product discovery. Current Opinion in Microbiology 9, 252-260.
- Vanetten, H., Temporini, E., Wasmann, C., 2001. Phytoalexin (and phytoanticipin) tolerance as a virulence trait: why is it not required by all pathogens? Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 59, 83-93.
- Vanetten, H. D., Mansfield, J. W., Bailey, J. A., Farmer, E. E., 1994. 2 Classes of plant antibiotics: phytoalexins versus phytoanticipins. Plant Cell 6, 1191-1192.
- Vanetten, H. D., Sandrock, R. W., Wasmann, C. C., Soby, S. D., McCluskey, K., Wang, P., 1995. Detoxification of phytoanticipins and phytoalexins by phytopathogenic fungi. Canadian Journal of Botany 73, S518-S525.
- Vederas, J. C., Floss, H. G., 1980. Stereochemistry of pyridoxal phosphate catalyzed enzyme reactions. Accounts of Chemical Research 13, 455-463.
- Walton, J. D., 1996. Host-selective toxins: Agents of compatibility. Plant Cell 8, 1723-1733.
- Walton, J. D., 2006. HC-toxin. Phytochemistry 67, 1406-1413.
- Walton, J. D., Panaccione, D. G., 1993. Host-selective toxins and disease specificity: perspectives and progress. Annual Review of Phytopathology 31, 275-303.
- Ward, D. E., Vazquez, A., Pedras, M. S. C., 1999. Probing host-selective phytotoxicity: Synthesis and biological activity of phomalide, isophomalide, and dihydrophomalide. Journal of Organic Chemistry 64, 1657-1666.
- Weinstein, L. I., Hahn, M. G., Albersheim, P., 1981. Host-pathogen interactions. 18. Isolation and biological activity of glycinol, a pterocarpan phytoalexin synthesized by soybeans. Plant Physiology 68, 358-363.
- Wheeler, H., Luke, H. H., 1963. Microbial toxins in plant disease. Annual Review of Microbiology 17, 223-242.

- Williams, P. H., Fitt, B. D., 1999. Differentiating A and B groups of *Leptosphaeria* maculans, causal agent of stem canker (blackleg) of oilseed rape. Plant Pathology 48, 161-175.
- Wilson, L. M., Idnurm, A., Howlett, B. J., 2003. Secreted proteins from the blackleg fungus, induce defense responses in canola leaves. Thirteen Biennial Australian Research Assembly on Brassicas. Proceedings of a conference, Tamworth, New South Wales, Australia, 8-12 September 2003, 136-139.
- Winstead, J. A., Suhadolnik, R. J., 1960. Biosynthesis of gliotoxin. 2. Further studies on the incorporation of carbon-14 and tritium-labeled precursors. Journal of the American Chemical Society 82, 1644-1647.
- Wolpert, T. J., Dunkle, L. D., Ciuffetti, L. M., 2002. Host-selective toxins and avirulence determinants: What's in a name? Annual Review of Phytopathology 40, 251-285.
- Yamada, A., Shibuya, N., Kodama, O., Akatsuka, T., 1993. Induction of phytoalexin formation in suspension-cultured rice cells by N-acetyl-chitooligosaccharides. Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry 57, 405-409.
- Yamada, T., Iwamoto, C., Yamagaki, N., Yamanouchi, T., Minoura, K., Yamori, T., Uehara, Y., Andoh, T., Umemura, K., Numata, A., 2002. Leptosins M-N₁, cytotoxic metabolites from a *Leptosphaeria* species separated from a marine alga. Structure determination and biological activities. Tetrahedron 58, 479-487.
- Yamaguchi, T., Yamada, A., Hong, N., Ogawa, T., Ishii, T., Shibuya, N., 2000. Differences in the recognition of glucan elicitor signals between rice and soybean: β-glucan fragments from the rice blast disease fungus Pyricularia oryzae that elicit phytoalexin biosynthesis in suspension-cultured rice cells. Plant Cell 12, 817-826.
- Yuzikhin, O., Mitina, G., Berestetskiy, A., 2007. Herbicidal potential of stagonolide, a new phytotoxic nonenolide from *Stagonospora cirsii*. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 55, 7707-7711.